## MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF ADAR2 LOCALIZATION

### AND SUBSTRATE SPECIFICITY

By

Ming Xu

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Pharmacology

May, 2006

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Professor Ronald B. Emeson

Professor Alfred L. George, Jr.

Professor Randy D. Blakely

Professor P. Jeffrey Conn

Professor David W. Piston

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I can still smell the excitement and nervousness when the airplane was landing at Detroit Metro Airport on June, 28<sup>th</sup> 2001. Since then I have devoted myself to the hard work for this degree, Doctor of Philosophy, in the United States. I think the naming of this degree makes perfect sense because after a few successes and many failures during these five years, I need to move on and work on a brand new scientific field and the only thing left for me is this document and better understanding of philosophy.

I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Ronald Emeson, for taking me into his laboratory and allowing me to choose the projects I am interested in to work on. He is very patient to me when the initial projects did not work; he is also very supportive when the projects are working. He teaches me how to think and work as a scientist, as well as how to speak and write like a scientist. I enjoy my staying in his laboratory very much.

I have an extremely busy but absolutely intelligent committee. I want to thank all my committee members, Dr. Alfred George, Dr. Randy Blakely, Dr. Jeff Conn and Dr. Dave Piston. They have given me a lot of great suggestions and directions on my thesis projects and future career. Without their enormous help, it is impossible for me to finish the degree in five years.

My labmates are simply fantastic and I enjoy every minute working with them. I will remember all the fun we had during these years. They are Dr. Minati Singh, Dr. Jongho Lee, Dr. Renee Dawson, Dr. Chris Sansam, Dr. Brent Thompson, Dr.

ii

Yi Feng, Linda Hutchinson, Mike Morabito, Michelle Jacobs, Elizabeth Rula, Jennifer Veale and Usha Kurre. I wish the best for all of them.

I am the only child of my family so I consider myself selfish to leave my parents on the other side of the planet and only visit them twice during the five years. I remember seeing them crying every time I leave China. My parents support every decision I made and care about me in any conditions. I can not thank my parents enough and I wish them health and happiness. I would also like to thank my girlfriend for the happy time she brings to my life during the last two years. I want to be with her forever.

At last, I want to thank you for spending your precious time to read this document.

iii

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	Х
Chapter	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
dsRNA binding motif and dsRNA binding protein Double-stranded RNA binding motif (dsRBM) Recognition of an A-form RNA helix by the dsRBM Recognition of specific structured RNA by the dsRBM Interactions of dsRBMs with non-dsRNA binding partners Double-stranded RNA binding proteins (dsRBPs) PKR Staufen NFAR RNase III family ADAR A-to-I RNA editing and ADARs Functional domains of ADARs The N-terminal region The dsRBMs The deaminase domain Substrate specificity of ADARs Functional consequences of specific A-to-I editing events RNA editing on Q/R site of GluR transcripts RNA editing of F/G site in GluR transcripts RNA editing of 5-HT <sub>2C</sub> R transcripts. RNA editing on -1 site of ADARs Drosophila dADAR	1 2 2 5 6 8 8 11 13 13 15 15 20 20 20 22 23 23 28 30 33 33 35 36 36 38
C.elegans ADRs.	

Regulation of ADAR function......40 Transcriptional regulation......40

Alternative splicing	41
ADAR autoediting	43
Dimerization	44
Sumoylation	47
Nucleolar sequestration	48
The compartmentalization of the nucleus	49
Functional sequestration of ADARs by the nucleolus	51
Molecular mechanisms for ADARs nucleolar localization	53
Summary and specific aims	53
II. IDENTIFICATION OF C-TERMINAL LOCALIZATION SIGNAL IN ADAR2	55
Introduction	55
Materials and Methods	57
Plasmids	57
Cell culture and transfection	57
Fluorescence microscopy	58
In vitro editing assay	58
Results	59
Altered localization by C-terminal region deletion	59
Insufficiency of C-terminal region for nucleolar localization	61
Altered localization by deleting the deaminase domain	61
Lack of dissectible localization signal in the C-terminal region	61
The sufficiency of the dsRBMs for nucleolar localization	64
Loss of enzymatic activity by mutations in the C-terminal region	64
Discussion	65
The highly structured C-terminal region	67
The IP <sub>6</sub> and dsRBM-mediated nucleolar localization	68
III. STRUCTURE AND SPECIFIC RNA BINDING OF ADAR2 DSRBMS	70
Introduction	70
Materials and Methods	72
Plasmids	72
Recombinant protein expression and purification	72
Cell culture and protein preparation for in vitro editing assay	73
RNA preparation for in vitro RNA editing assay	73
In vitro editing assay and quantification of R/G site editing	74
More materials and methods	74
Results	75
ADAR2 dsRBMs are independent domains	75
ADAR2 dsRBMs structures are not identical	77
Mapping of RNA-binding surface on the ADAR2 dsRBMs	77
Mapping of protein-binding surface on the R/G stem-loop	81
NMR model of ADAR2 dsRBM1/2 in complex with R/G stem-loop	. 82
Both dsRBMs are important for efficient editing of the R/G site	84

Functional importance of R/G stem-loop secondary structure	86 88
Structure of ADAR2 dsRBMs.	88
ADAR2 dsRBMs specifically recognized the R/G stem-loop	88
Implication for ADAR editing	91
F <b>3</b>	-
IV. DIFFERENTIAL ROLES OF DSRBMS IN REGULATING	
ADAR2 FUNCTION	93
Introduction	93
Materials and Methods	95
Plasmids	95
Cell culture and transfection	96
Quantitative fluorescence microscopy	97
Quantitative analysis of editing on transfected ADAR substrates	98
Western blotting analysis	99
In vitro editing assay	99
Quantitative analysis of in vitro RNA editing activitiy	101
Results	102
Differential roles of dsRBMs in nucleolar localization	102
Differential roles for dsRBM in the site-selective editing	.108
Substrate-specific contributions from each dsRBM	111
Substrate-specific contributions from K <sup>281</sup>	116
Function-dependent interchangeability of ADAR2 dsRBMs	119
Discussion	123
dsRBMs and ADAR2 substrate specificity	124
dsRBMs and nucleolar localization	127
The inequality of dsRBMs	128
V. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	130
Potential rRNA editing by ADARs	132
Proposed model for ADAR substrate recognition	134
Appendix	
SEQUENCE OF PRIMERS USED IN THE STUDY	141
REERENOED	4.40
	143

# LIST OF TABLES

Та	ble	Page
1.	Features and functions of dsRBP family members	10
2.	A summary of characterized A-to-I RNA editing events	19
3.	Summary of experimental conditions for in vitro RNA editing and primer extension analysis	100

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Sequences alignment of double-stranded RNA-binding motifs (dsRBM)	3
2. Structures of complexes formed by dsRBM and dsRNA	4
3. Schematic diagram of dsRBP domain structures	9
4. Functional domains of ADARs from different species	21
5. The conserved mechanism for deamination	24
6. Predicted secondary structures for pre-mRNA substrates modified by A-to-I editing	25
7. Specific interaction of ADAR2 dsRBM1 and GluR-2 RNA (Q/R site)	29
8. The functional consequences of A-to-I RNA editing	32
9. Model of ADAR2 autoregulation	45
10. Dynamic association of ADAR2 with the nucleolus	52
11. Loss of nucleolar localization by deleting C-terminal region	60
12. A summary of subcellular localization and enzymatic activity of C-terminal mutants	62
13. Subcellular localization of C-terminal mutants	63
14. Loss of enzymatic activity by C-terminal deletions	66
15. Purification of His-dsRBM1 and His-dsRBM2 protein to homogenerity.	76
16. ADAR2 dsRBM protein structure	78
17. The structure and protein binding surface of R/G stem-loop	80
18. Model for interaction between ADAR2 dsRBMs and R/G RNA duplex.	83
19. The importance of dsRBMs for R/G site editing	85

20.	The importance of the pentaloop structure	.87
21.	eGFP-ADAR2 fusion constructs for analysis of subnuclear localization and site-specific RNA editing	103
22.	Differential contributions of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 to ADAR2 nucleolar localization	105
23.	Ability of ADAR2 dsRBMs to localize eYFP to the nucleolus	107
24.	Differential roles of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 on editing of transfeted ADAR substrates	110
25.	Quantification of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 protein levels in HEK293 nuclear extracts	112
26.	In vitro time course analysis of site-specific editing for the wile-type eGFP-ADAR2 protein	114
27.	Differential contributions of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 to site-specific editing activity	115
28.	Quantitative analysis of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 contributions to site-specific editing activity	117
29.	Quantitative analysis of K <sup>127</sup> and K <sup>281</sup> contributions to site-specific editing activity	118
30.	Lack of interchangeability between ADAR2 dsRBMs for editing activity	120
31.	Analysis of eGFP-dsRBM2/1 function	121
32.	Proposed model for ADAR2 site-selective targeting	136

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-HT <sub>2C</sub> R	2C subtype serotonin receptor
Α	adenosine
аа	amino acid
ACF	APOBEC-1 complementation factor
ADAR	vertebrate adenosine deaminase that act on RNA
ADAT	adenosine deaminase that acts on RNA
ADR	C. elegans adenosine deaminase acts on RNA
AMP	adenosine 5'-monophophate
AMPA	alpha-amino-3-hvdroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ApoB	apolipoprotein B
APOBEC-1	ApoB editing catalytic subunit 1
A-to-I	adenosine to inosine
bp	base pairs
Ċ	cvtidine
CDA	cvtidine deaminase
cDNA	complementary DNA
CNS	central nervous system
CTD	C-terminal domain
C-6	carbon number 6 of the purine ring
C-terminal	carboxyl-terminal
C-to-U	citidine to uridine
dADAR	Drosophila ADAR
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dsDNA	double-stranded DNA
dsRBM	double-stranded RNA binding motif
dsRBP	dsRNA binding protein
dsRNA	double-stranded RNA
elF	eukarvotic initiation factor
Fn	average nucleolar fluorescence intensity
Fo	average nucleoplasmic fluorescence intensity
G	quarnosine
GluR	glutamate receptor subunit
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
HDV	hepatitis delta virus
IFN	interferon
IMP	inosine 5'-monophosphate
IPe	inositol hexaphosphate
kD	kilo Dalton
LDL	low density lipoprotein
mRNA	messenger RNA
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NES	nuclear export signal

NFAR	nuclear factor associated with RNA
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NMDA	N-methyl-D-asparate
nt	nucleotide
N-terminal	amino-terminal
OH	hydroxyl group
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PKR	RNA-dependent protein kinase
PACT	protein activator
pre-mRNA	precursor messenger RNA
pre-rRNA	precursor ribosomal RNA
pre-miRNA	precursor microRNA
pri-miRNA	primary microRNA
Q/R site	glutamine/arginine editing site
RDE-4	RNAi-deficient 4
RHA	RNA helicase A
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
rRNA	ribosomal RNA
RT	reverse transcription
R/G site	arginine/glycine editing site
snoRNA	small nucleolar RNA
snRNA	small nuclear RNA
SUMO	small ubiquitinlike modifier
TENR	testis nuclear RNA binding protein
TRBP	TAR-RNA binding protein
tRNA	transfer RNA
XIrbpa	Xenopus laevis RNA binding protein A
U	uridine
UTR	untranslated region

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

### dsRNA binding motif and dsRNA binding protein

RNA (mRNA, tRNA and rRNA) represents the messenger and a component of the machinery necessary to convey the genetic information from DNA into variety of functional proteins in the cells (Crick, 1958). However, many viruses use RNA as their genomes and perform RNA-dependent RNA synthesis for replication or transcription (Lawton *et al.*, 2000; Patton and Spencer, 2000) and the presence of double-stranded (ds) RNA used to be considered as a sign of viral invasion (Jacobs and Langland, 1996). Recent discoveries of RNA interference (RNAi) and microRNA signaling pathways have illustrated the importance of cellular dsRNA in regulating gene expression (Lee et al., 1993; Napoli et al., 1990; van der Krol et al., 1990). Therefore, the comprehensive understanding of dsRNA biology is of great interest.

Double-stranded RNAs (dsRNAs) interact with dsRNA-binding proteins (dsRBPs), the great majority of which contain a sequence called the dsRNA-binding motif (dsRBM). The interaction between dsRNA with different dsRBPs may cause diverse biological outcomes, including cleavage or covalent modification of dsRNA, the phosphorylation of translational machinery and the transcriptional activation of specific genes (Fierro-Monti and Mathews, 2000).

### Double-stranded RNA binding motif (dsRBM)

All dsRBMs are ~70 amino acids in length and the alignment of their primary sequences revealed a high level of sequence homology (Fierro-Monti and Mathews, 2000) (Figure 1). The structures of the dsRBMs present in several proteins from different organisms have been solved by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and X-ray crystallography, with a conserved fold comprising an overall  $\alpha$ -helix 1,  $\beta$ -strand 1,  $\beta$ -strand 2,  $\beta$ -strand 3 and  $\alpha$ -helix 2 topology. The two  $\alpha$ -helices are packed along the face of a three-stranded antiparallel  $\beta$  sheet (Bycroft *et al.*, 1995; Kharrat *et al.*, 1995; Nanduri *et al.*, 1998) (Figure 2). There are three regions that are highly conserved,  $\alpha$ 1, loop2 (between  $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 2) and loop 4 (between  $\beta$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 2); all three regions are exposed on one side of the motif and form the potential RNA-binding surface.

### Recognition of an A-form RNA helix by the dsRBM

The dsRBM was initially named for its ability to recognize dsRNA, yet this ability is not universal to all dsRBMs. For instance, dsRBM1, dsRBM3 and dsRBM4, but not dsRBM2 and dsRBM5, of *Drosophila* Staufen bind to dsRNA in vitro (Micklem *et al.*, 2000). To date, no good correlation between the dsRNA binding affinity and the sequence of dsRBM has been established (Chang and Ramos, 2005).

The structure of dsRBM2 from *Xenopus laevis* RNA-binding protein A (XlrbpA) bound to a non-physiological dsRNA molecule provided the first molecular insights into dsRBM-dsRNA recognition (Ryter and Schultz, 1998) (Figure 2A). The dsRNA forms a nearly ideal A-form helix, whose major groove is deep and

CbRNaseIII/154-220	AKSL <mark>LQE</mark> WL <mark>Q</mark> ARRLPL-PTY	EVKI-T <mark>G</mark>	EA <mark>H</mark> AQTI	- TVNC - Y - VK <mark>G</mark> LPH -	KTEGV-NTI	RRRAEQIAAKRFLELL
EcRNaseIII/156-223	PKTRLQEYLQGRHLPL-PTY	LVVQVRG	EAHDQEI	-TIHC-Q-VSGLSE-	PVVGT-GSS	RRKAEQAAAEQALKKL
HiRNaseIII/155-221	AKTRLOEYLOGKHLPL-PTY	EVVNIO	EAHDQE	-TVKC-K-VKSAEKI	-DRTFVAK-GS	RRKAEQAAANS-VKRL
RcRNaseIII/158-224	PKTALQEWAQARGLPP-PRY	ETLGRDG	PDHAPQF	RIAVV-L-ASGE	TEEAQ-AG	KRNAEQAAAKALLERL
HpRNaseIII/170-236	YKTALQELTQAQFCVI - PTY	QLLKEK <mark>G</mark>	PDHHKEI	-EMAL-Y-IQDKM	YATAK- <mark>G</mark> KS	KKEAEQQCAYQALQKL
MtRNaseIII/162-227	WKTSLOELTAARGLGA-PSY	LVTS-TG	PDHDKEI	-TAVV-V-VMDSE	YGSGV-GRS	KKEAEQKAAAAAWKAL
SpRNaseIII/1/6-242 SpRNaseIII/170-238	YKTELOEFI.OAGDART-LEY	KLIKESC	PAHNREI	-EAIV-S-LKGEP	UGVGN-GR	HKEAEOLAARDALOKI
HsPACT/127-192	PIGSLOELAIHHGWRL-PEY	TLSOEG	PAHKREY	-TTIC-R-LESF	METGK-GAS	KKOAKRNAAEKFLAKF
MmPDRBP/159-224	PVGALQELVVQKGWRL-PEY	MVTQES <mark>G</mark>	PAHRKEI	-TMTC-R-VERF	IEI <mark>G</mark> S- <mark>G</mark> TS	KKLAKRNAAAKMLLRV
HsTRBP/160-225	PVGALQELVVQKGWRL-PEY	TVTQES	PAHRKEI	-TMTC-R-VERF	IEIGS-GTS	KKLAKRNAAAKMLLRV
XIRBPA/113-178	PVGSLQELAVQKGWRL-PEY	TVAQESC	PPHKREI	-TITC-R-VETF	VEIGS-GIS	KQVAKRVAAEKLLTKF
RnRED/127-190	PKNALVOLHE LKPG-LOY	RMVSOTG	PVHAPVF	-AVAV-E-VNGL	TFEGT-GP	KKKAKMRAAEMALKSE
HsRED/ 79-142	PKNALMQLNE IKPG-LQY	TLLSQTG	PVHAPLI	-VMSV-E-VNGQ	VFEGS-GPI	KKAKLHAAEKALRSF
RnRED/ 79-142	PKNALMQLNEIKPG-LQY	MLLSQT <mark>G</mark>	PV <mark>H</mark> APLF	-VMS <mark>V</mark> -E-VN <mark>G</mark> Q	VFE <mark>G</mark> S- <mark>G</mark> PI	KKKAKLHAAEKALRSF
HsNF90/403-466	AMNALMRLNQ LKPG - LQY	KLVSQTG	PVHAPII	-TMSV-E-VDGN	SFEAS-GPS	KKTAKLHVAVKVLQDM
X1411/403-466 X1452/305-368	VMNALMRLNQ LKPG - LQY	KLISQTG	PVHAPV	-TMSV-E-VDDK	TFEAS-GPS	KKTAKLHVAVKVLQDM
MnSPNR/388-451	LMNALMRLNOIRPG-LOY	KLLSOSC	PVHAPVI	-TMSV-D-VDGT	TYEAS-GP	KKTAKLHVAVKVLOAM
RnRED/285-346	PVVVLNELRSGLRY-VCL	SETA-EK	PRVKSF	-VMAV-C-VD <mark>G</mark> R	TFE <mark>G</mark> S- <mark>G</mark> R	KKLAKGQAAQAALQAL
HsRED/236-296	PVMILNELRPG-LKY	DFLSES	ES <mark>H</mark> AKSI	-VMS <mark>V</mark> -V-VD <mark>G</mark> Q	FFE <mark>G</mark> S- <mark>G</mark> RI	IKKLAKARAAQSALAAI
RnRED/236-296	PVMILNELRPG-LKY	DFLSESG	ESHAKSI	-VMSV-V-VDGQ	FFEGS-GRN	KKLAKARAAQSALATV
MnSPNR/511-574	GKNPVMELNEKRRGLKY	ELISETC	GSHDKRF	-VMEV-E-VDGQ	KFRGA-GPN	IKKVAKASAALAALEKL
X14f1/522-585	GKNPVMELNEKRRGLKY	EMISET	GSHDKRF	-VMEV-E-VDGV	KFQGS-GSI	IKKVAKAYAALSALEKL
X14f2/424-487	GKNPVMELNEKRRGLKY	ELISET <mark>G</mark>	GS <mark>H</mark> DKRF	- IME <mark>V</mark> - E - VD <mark>G</mark> V	KFQ <mark>G</mark> N- <mark>G</mark> SN	I <mark>KKVAK</mark> AY <mark>AA</mark> LS <mark>AL</mark> EKL
Cef39e9.7/35-100	PVAQLNEYAQKFYKKY-PTF	EFVKEQA	VGKHRV	-IIQA-T-FEDK	TLEGR-GPS	KMIAKRAAAEAILESI
Cef55a4/129-194	PVAQLNEYAQKFYKKY - PTF	EFVKEQA	VGKHRE	-VIQA-T-FENK	TLEGR-GPS	KIISKRAAABAILESI
DmSTAU/712-779	PITKLIOLOOTRKEKE-PIF	ELIAKNG	NETARRE	-VMEV-S-ASGS	TARGT-GNS	KKLAKRNAAOALFELL
HsPACT/35-99	PIQVLHEYGM-KTKNI-PVY	ECER-SE	VQI <mark>H</mark> VPTF	-TFRV-T-VGDI	TCTGE-GTS	KKLAKHRAAEAAINIL
MmP1RBP/31-95	PISLLQEYGT-RIGKT-PVY	DLLKEE	QA <mark>H</mark> QPNF	-TFR <mark>V</mark> -T-VGDT	SCTGT-GPS	KKAAKHKAAEVALKHL
HSTRBP/31-95	PISLLQEYGT-RIGKT-PVY	DLLKAEG	QAHQPN	-TFRV-T-VGDT	SCIGQ-GPS	KKAAKHKAAEVALKHL
DmSTAU/579-643	PISOVHEIGI-KRNMT-VHE	KVLREEG	PAHNPS	-IFRL-V-IGDI	VTEGE-GN	KKVSKKRAAEKMLVEL
DmSTAU/312-376	PMCLVNELAR-YNKIT-HQY	RLTEERG	PAHCKTI	-TVTL-M-LGDE	EYSAD-GFH	(IKKAQHLAASKAIEET
CeSTAU/79-144	AMCRVAEIAR-FNKLR-HVY	NLQDES <mark>G</mark>	PA <mark>H</mark> KKLF	-TVKL-V-LTEAE	TFE <mark>G</mark> S- <mark>G</mark> TS	IKRAQQASAEAALKGT
Cef55a4/29-99	VISIIHEKAQ-QLKLK-INF	EVLEEGG	DQHNRQYAV	/-RYTL-V-ADDNVVK	AKAMGK - GKN	IKKSAQQEACTQLLATV
CesTAU/293-363	VISDINEKAY-QLKVN-VVF		PPHDRQ	-VVRCAF-VTSGNVV	-KAEAVGK-GKI	KKVAKODAAMKAMTIL
RnADAR/454-519	PVSGLLEYAO-FTSOT-CDF	NLIEOSC	PSHEPRI	-KFOV-V-INGRE	FPPAE-AG	KKVAKODAAVKAMAIL
X1ADAR/575-640	PVSGLLEFTH-YCSQQ-CDF	ALLNQS	PS <mark>H</mark> DPRF	-KIQA-V-IDGRR	FPVAE-AN	KKTAKKDAAALALRIL
HsADAR/727-792	PVGGLLEYAR-SHGFA-AEF	KLVDQSC	PPHEPK	-VYQA-K-VGGRW	FPAVC-AH	KKQGKQEAADAALRVL
X1ADAR/6/3-/38 X1ADAR/797-862	PVGGLLEIAR-SHGFA-AEF PVSGLLEYAR-AKGFA-AEF	KLIDQSG	PPHEPK	-VIQA-K-VGGRW	FPAVC-AH	KKOAKAEAADAALRVL
HsADAR/615-680	PVTTLLECMH-KLGNS-CEF	RLLSKEG	PAHEPKI	-QYCV-A-VGAQT	FPSVS-AP	KKVAKQMAAEEAMKAL
RnADAR/565-630	PVTTLLECMH-KLGNS-CEF	RLLSKEG	PAHDPKI	-QYC <mark>V</mark> -A-VGAQT	FPSVS-AP	KKVAKQMAAEEAMKAL
X1ADAR/680 - 745 H=PKR/10-75	PISLLMEHGQ-KSGNM-CEF FMEELNTYRO-KOGVV-LKY	QLVSQEG	PPHDPKI	-TYTV-K-IGNQT	FPPVV-ANN	KKMAKHLAAEAAVREL
MmPKR/9-74	YMDKLNKYRO-MHGVA-ITY	KELSTS	PPHDRRF	-TFOV-L-IDEKE	FPEAK-GR	KOEARNAAAKLAVDIL
RnPKR/9-74	YVDKLNKYSQ-IHKVK-IIY	KEISVT <mark>G</mark>	PPHDRRI	-TFQV-I-IEERE	FPE <mark>G</mark> E- <mark>G</mark> RS	KÕE <mark>aknnaa</mark> klaveil
VARVE3/120-184	PVTIINEYCQ-ITKRD-WSF	RIES-VG	PSNSPTI	-YACV-D-IDGRV	FDKAD-GKS	KRDAKNNAAKLAVDKL
VACVE3/118-182	PVTIINEYCQ-ITKRD-WSF	RIES-VG	PSNSPTI	-YACV-D-IDGRV	FDKAD-GKS	
DmRHA / 3 - 68	IKSELVOFCA-KSOIE-PKE	RIES-VG	PKNRORF	-LCEV-R-VEPNTY-	IGVGN-STI	KKDAEKNACRDEVNYL
HsRHA/4-69	VKNFLYAWCG-KRKMT-PSY	EIRA-VG	NKNRQKF	-MCEV-Q-VEGYNY-	TGMGN-STN	IKKDAQSNAARDFVNYL
BtRHA/4-69	VKNF <mark>L</mark> YAWCG-KRKMT-PS <mark>Y</mark>	EIRA-V <mark>G</mark>	NKNRQK	-MCEV-R-VEGYNY-	TGM <mark>G</mark> N-STN	ikkdaqsnaardfvnyl
CeRHA/106-172	VKEFLYAWLGKNKYGN-PTY	DTKS-ET	RSGRQR	-KCEL-R-ITGFGY-	TAFGN-STN	KKDAATNAAQDFCQYL
HaRHA/181-250	AKARLNOYFO-KEKTO-GEY	KYTO-VG	PDHNRSF	- LAEL - S - I YVPALN	RIVIARES-GSI	IKKLAAOSCALSLVROL
BtRHA/178-247	AKARLNQYFQ-KEKIQ-GEY	KYTQ-VG	PDHNRSF	-IAEM-T-IYIKQIG	RRIFAREH-GSN	KKLAAQSCALSLVRQL
CeRHA/273-343	SKKALNEFLQKMRLPQ-VNY	GTKIRESNI	VKTMET	- TAQI - F - VPQINKN	LVGK <mark>G</mark> T- <mark>G</mark> SN	IKKVSEAACAMNIVRQM
HsPKR/101-165	YIGLINRIAQ-KKRLT-VNY	EQCA-S	VHGPEGI	-HYKC-K-MGQKE	YSIGT-GST	KQEAKQLAAKLAYLQI
MmPKR/96-160 RnPKR/96-160	TIGLVNSFAQ-KKKLS-VNY TGLVNSFAQ-KENLD-VNE	EQCE-PN	ISELPQR	-ICKC-K-IGQTM	YGIGS-GVI	KEAKQLAAKEAYQKL
Full consensus (>50%)	PL-EO		PH	VG	GGG-	SKK-AKAAALL
(+) (>70%)	PL-E	G	PH		G-8	KAAAL
	ard 6	) 1		20	0.2	-
	α1 [	<u> </u>		p2	p3	α2
				1		
	Posion 1		Pogion 2	1	Pogion	2
	Region i	R	legion ∠		Region	5





residues interacting with the RNA minor groove in regions 1 and 2 are colored green, and side chains interacting with the RNA major groove in region 3 are colored gray. Also displayed in gray are the side chains of Y131 and F145, which serve to position K167 and K163, respectively. Oxygen atoms are lines. (B) Overview of the lowest energy structure of Rnt1p dsRBM-snR47h RNA. The RNA is shown in ines with the helical backbone indicated by thin blue cylinder and the protein in ribbons with amino Figure 2. Structures of complexes formed by dsRBM and dsRNA (A) Overview of the A-form dsRNA-XIrbpa-dsRBM2 interactions. Protein is shown as an carbon trace in purple. Side chain acids at the protein-RNA interface shown as ball and sticks, (adapted from Ryter and Schultz, 1998 shown in red, nitrogen atoms in blue and phosphorus in yellow. Hydrogen bonds are indicated as black and Wu et al., 2004) inaccessible while the minor groove is shallow. The dsRBM binds across 16 RNA base pairs (bp) and interacts with successive minor, major, minor grooves. The α1 and loop2 regions interact with two minor grooves and the loop 4 region binds to the intervening major groove. Almost all the interactions to dsRNA are made by direct or water-mediated contacts to 2'-OH and phosphate group. These interactions explain dsRBM specificity for dsRNA (over ssRNA or dsDNA) and the apparent lack of sequence specificity. Structures of two other dsRBM-dsRNA complexes, one with *Drosophila* Staufen dsRBM3, one with the dsRBM from *E. Coli* RNase III, confirmed this common pattern of dsRBM-dsRNA recognition (Blaszczyk et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000).

A very interesting phenomenon was revealed by analysis of *Drosophila* Staufen dsRBM3-dsRNA interaction. Initial NMR analysis detected high frequency motions in loop 2 and loop 4 of the dsRBM, and later this flexibility was rationalized by a molecular dynamics study which demonstrated that the positively charged lysine side chains of loop2 and loop 4 do not make single, well defined interactions with RNA molecule, but rather switch between different polar interactions on a very fast timescale (Castrignano *et al.*, 2002). This special feature gives rise to the tolerance for non-identical positions of the negatively charged acceptor on RNA, and may explain the negligible effect of the small variations in the helix geometry resulted from different primary RNA sequences.

### Recognition of specific structured RNA by the dsRBM

Studies with a number of dsRBPs have shown clearly that a single dsRBM is sufficient to provide a dsRBP with the specificity to distinguish between different

dsRNAs (Doyle and Jantsch, 2002; Doyle and Jantsch, 2003; Liu et al., 2000; Nagel and Ares, 2000). Since it is unlikely that the primary sequences of the A-form RNA helix provides such specificity, the recognition of particular sequences or secondary structure elements flanking the helix could indeed be the key determination of dsRNA targeting.

Interactions between the dsRBM and non-helical structural determinants, were observed in the structural studies of the complex between *S. cerevisiae* RNase III 1 protein (Rnt1p) and its physiological target, an AGNN (N: A or C or G or U) RNA hairpin (Leulliot *et al.*, 2004; Wu *et al.*, 2004) (Figure 2B). The  $\alpha$ -helix 1 of the dsRBM recognizes the bases in the distorted minor groove of the RNA tetraloop. The recognition is considered structure-specific, rather than sequence-specific, because the  $\alpha$ 1 helix of dsRBM makes contacts with the non-conserved nucleotides (nt) in the tetraloop only. In contrast to the  $\alpha$ 1 helix, residues in loop 2 and loop 4 still make contact with the 2'-OH and phosphate groups of sequential minor and major grooves.

A similar binding theme was detected in the complex between Staufen dsRBM3 and a non-physiological UUCG RNA hairpin, where  $\alpha$ -helix-1 contributes to the binding specificity (Ramos *et al.*, 2000). The outstanding question raised by these studies is whether the specific recognition patterns described here are common for all dsRBM-RNA complexes.

### Interactions of dsRBMs with non-dsRNA binding partners

Although dsRNA-binding is the major defining feature of dsRBMs, other binding partners have been identified. For example, in addition to their

dsRNA-binding activity, the isolated dsRBMs of RNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR) can form a heterodimer with full-length protein mediated by dsRBM-dsRBM interactions (Patel and Sen, 1998). This interaction is thought to inactivate PKR when no dsRNA target is present. Similar dsRBM-dsRBM interactions are observed in protein activator (PACT) and TAR-RNA binding protein (TRBP) whose dsRBMs are capable to form dsRNA-independent heterodimers with the dsRBMs of PKR and affecting PKR kinase activity (Daher *et al.*, 2001; Peters *et al.*, 2001).

Double-stranded RNA binding motifs are not only able to interact with another dsRBM, but also able to bind other functional domains using either intra- or intermolecular interactions. The dsRBM2 of PKR binds to its kinase domain and blocks the enzymatic activity in the absence of dsRNA (Romano *et al.*, 1998). In a similar way, the dsRBM in RNase III has also been shown to interact with the catalytic domain (Blaszczyk *et al.*, 2004). The dsRBM5 of *Drosophila* Staufen does not bind to dsRNA, but it has been shown to interact with protein Miranda, which mediates protein and RNA localization in the developing nervous system (Schuldt *et al.*, 1998).

The amino-terminal 250 amino acids of RNA helicase A (RHA) contain two dsRBMs, yet the dsDNA binding activity of this protein has also been mapped to this region (Hung *et al.*, 2003). It is not clear that how the dsRBMs can accommodate both A-form dsRNA and B-form dsDNA, although some data have suggested that distinct but overlapping sets of amino acids are involved in each binding activity. Highly conserved in primary sequence and tertiary structure, dsRBMs work as a versatile macromolecular docking platform to mediate the

regulation of dsRNA functions.

### Double-stranded RNA binding proteins (dsRBPs)

Almost all dsRBPs contains dsRBMs, with only one copy in the RNase III family and five copies in *Drosophila* Staufen (Figure 3). Previously, the dsRBPs were divided into two groups based upon whether they possessed a catalytic domain (Fierro-Monti and Mathews, 2000); the first group included protein families containing a catalytic domain, such as PKR, RHA, RNase III and ADAR (<u>a</u>denosine <u>dea</u>minase that act on <u>R</u>NA), while the second group included protein families with Staufen, TRBP, NFAR (nuclear factors associated with dsRNA) and RDE-4 (RNAi-deficient 4). The functions of identified dsRBPs involve the regulations of dsRNA localization, RNA processing and modification, or to modulate the dsRNA-dependent signal pathways (Saunders and Barber, 2003) (Table 1).

### <u> PKR</u>

PKR contains two dsRBMs in the N-terminus and one serine/threonine kinase domain in the C-terminus (Green and Mathews, 1992; Meurs et al., 1990). The expression of PKR is induced by the antiviral cytokine interferon, consistent with its key role in the cellular antiviral response (Clemens and Elia, 1997).

The dsRBMs of PKR function as a molecular switch during PKR activation by dsRNA. In the absence of dsRNA, dsRBM2 interacts with the catalytic domain and negatively regulates the kinase activity of PKR (Vattem et al., 2001; Wu and Kaufman, 1997). Upon viral infection, dsRNA will induce a dsRBM-mediated



	Alternative		MW			
dsRBP	names	Species	(kD)	Cellular localization	Cellular role	Genetic knockout
PKR	p68/DAI	Human	68	Cytoplasm	Anti-viral defense	Impaired anti-viral response in
	1 ,	Rat		~20% nuclear	Cellular stress response	homozygous null mice
	TIK/p65	Mouse	65		New 20 December 200 (New 200) 🔮 General 201	78
TRBP		Human	40-50	Both	Translation activation	Homozygous null mice are small, die at
	PRBP	Mouse				weaning; oligospermic
PACT		Human	35	Cytoplasm	Activates PKR in response to stress	N/A
	RAX	Mouse				
	Xlrbpa	Xenopus	33			
	CG6866	Drosophila				
Stauten		Human	60,65	Cytoplasm nucleus?	Localization and translation activation	N/A
		Kat		(NLS)	of mknas	
		Demosthila				
NFAD1	DPRP76	Human	00	Nuclear	mPNA processing interacts with PKP.	N/A
NFAR9	DKBI 70	Tuman	110	Nuclear	transcription	N/A
14171142	ILF3	Rat	110		ualiscription	
	mILF3	Mouse				
	4F.1	Xenopus				
	4F.2					
	CBTF <sub>122</sub>					
SPNR	p74	Human	74	Nuclear?	mRNA transportation; interacts with	Homozygous null mice have a high rate
		Rat			PKR	of mortality, slow growth rate, defects
		Mouse	71	Cytoplasm		in spermatogenesis, reduced fertility,
			100		TT NOT STATE	and neurological defects
RHA		Human	130	Nuclear	Helicase activity, interacts with RNA	Early embryonic lethal phenotype for
	ME	Mouse			pol II-role in mKNA processing	nomozygous null mice; apoptosis of
ADAD1	MLE	Human	150/110	Nuclear	A to I mPNA editing of similand brain	Heterozygous embryonic lethal liver
ADAKI	DRADA1	Rat	130/110	150 kDa IFN inducible	mRNAs as well as unidentified targets	defects in erythropoiesis
	DICIDITI	Mouse	150	form also	in the liver	истесь ін ступпорокав
	dsRAD-1	Xenobus	120	cytoplasmic		
		C. elegans				
ADAR2		Human	90	Nuclear	A-to-I mRNA editing of Q/R site in	Homozygous null mice are seizure
	RED1	Rat			GluR	prone and die by day 20; rescue by
	and can see	Mouse	*******			edited GluR transgenes
	DRADA2	Drosophila	80			Drosophila ADAR2 null no editing in
						3 ion channel transcripts, extreme
40408		Human	91		Brain specific	Denavioral detects
ADAKS	RFD9	Rat	01		No adenosine deaminase activity	N/A
	KLD4	Mouse			detected	
TENR		Human			Testis-specific posttranscriptional	N/A
		Mouse	72	Nuclear	mRNA processing	
RNaseIII		Human	160	Nuclear	Endoribonuclease activity cleaves	Antisense to human RNase III
	Drosha	Drosophila	$\sim 153$		dsRNA	induces cell death, accumulation of
		C. elegans			Processing of pre-rRNA	pre-rRNA; Microdeletions in
	RNT/PAC	S. cerevisiae/pombe	50			Drosophila Drosha lethal
D'	RNC	E. coli	26	0	TT-0	7
Dicer	Helicase MOI	Human	220	Cytoplasmic multiple	Helicase and endoribonuclease activity	Key role in RNAi and development
		Descabbilg	215	INTS.	KOIE III KINAI	III A. inakana, C. elegans, and
		C denons	410			LIUSOPHUU
		A. thaliana				
		S. pombe				
RDE-4		C. elegans			Deliver dsRNAs to Dicer to activate	N/A
		_			RNAi	

### Table 1. Features and Functions of dsRBP family members.

**Abbreviation** : dsRBP, double-stranded RNA binding protein; ADAR, adenosine deaminase that act on RNA; NFAR, nuclear factors associated with dsRNA; PACT, protein activator; PKR, RNA-dependent protein kinase; RDE4, RNAi-deficient 4; RHA, RNA helicase A; TAR, transactivator RNA; TRBP, TAR RNA-binding protein; SPNR, spermatid perinuclear RNA binding protein; TENR, testis nuclear RNA binding protein, (adapted from Saunders and Barber, 2003).

homodimerization and unmask the kinase domain (Patel and Sen, 1998). As a consequence of dimerization, PKR will autophosphorylate, its dimer partner on multiple serine and threonine residues to become activated (Galabru and Hovanessian, 1987; Thomis and Samuel, 1995).

The most well characterized PKR substrate is eukaryotic initiation factor  $2\alpha$  (eIF2 $\alpha$ ); phosphorylated eIF2 $\alpha$  sequesters eIF2B, a rate-limiting component in protein translation, leading to a dramatic inhibition of protein synthesis in the cell and subsequent apoptosis (Choi et al., 1992; Levin and London, 1978). Several less well-established PKR substrates, including IkB (the inhibitory subunit of transcription factor NF-kB), Tat (the HIV-1 transcription factor), p53 (a tumor suppressor gene), NFARs and RHA, may also contribute to the cellular consequences of PKR activation.

Since PKR is a great threat to the replication of dsRNA viruses, some viruses have developed strategies to counteract PKR activation. For example, vaccinia virus encodes two proteins, E3L and K3L; E3L contains one dsRBM and competes dsRNA-binding with PKR in the nucleus (Chang *et al.*, 1992; Kibler *et al.*, 1997), and K3L shares homology to eIF2 $\alpha$ , and is thought to competitively inhibit eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation (Beattie *et al.*, 1991; Carroll *et al.*, 1993; Davies *et al.*, 1993). PKR appears to be the dsRNA sensor and regulates protein synthesis and cell apoptosis mostly through the phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$ .

### <u>Staufen</u>

Staufen was originally discovered as a protein necessary for normal oocyte development in *Drosophila* (St Johnston *et al.*, 1991). Now it is known that this

Staufen anchors *bicoid* mRNA at the anterior pole and *oskar* mRNA at the posterior pole of the oocyte, but at different stages of development (St Johnston et al., 1991; St Johnston et al., 1989). The recognition between Staufen and these maternal mRNAs is mediated by interactions between the dsRBMs of Staufen and the 3'-UTRs of the target RNAs (Ferrandon *et al.*, 1994). *Drosophila* Staufen contains five dsRBMs, but only three of them have demonstrated dsRNA-binding activity (Micklem et al., 2000; St Johnston et al., 1992); dsRBM2 and dsRBM5 cannot bind dsRNA but they are necessary for Staufen function, probably through protein-protein interactions. It was reported that dsRBM2 is necessary for the activation of *oskar* mRNA translation after localization. In addition, both motifs are required for correct *bicoid* mRNA anchoring and dsRBM5 is also involved in actin-dependent localization of *prospero* mRNA (Micklem *et al.*, 2000).

Homologues of *Drosophila* Staufen (dStau) have been cloned from humans (hStau), mice (mStau) and rats (rStau). The hStau possesses only four dsRBMs, corresponding to dsRBM2-5 in dStau, and a putative microtubule binding domain which has been reported to bind to tubulin (Wickham *et al.*, 1999). The hStau is ubiquitously expressed and detected on the rough endoplasmic reticulum, microtubules and polysomes, indicating that hStau may transport mRNA to the site of translation in the cell (Marion *et al.*, 1999; Wickham *et al.*, 1999). The mStau and rStau have also been found in RNA-protein complexes and have been suggested to be involved in assembly of large RNP particles and RNA transport (Kiebler *et al.*, 1999; Kohrmann *et al.*, 1999). Staufen, in both *Drosophila* and

mammals, appears to be involved in anchoring specific mRNAs to distinct subcellular locations to achieve their desired distribution.

### <u>NFAR</u>

Two protein isoforms of NFAR are generated from a single human gene by alternative splicing. NFAR-2 (110kD) is 20kD larger than NFAR-1, due to an extended C-terminus. Both proteins contain two dsRBMs, as well as UCSR (upstream conserved region) and RGG (arginine/glycine-rich areas) domains. Besides the physical association with PKR, NFARs appear to be substrates of PKR in vitro, indicating that NFAR may function in PKR-mediated antiviral responses in the cell (Saunders *et al.*, 2001). Both NFARs were found to regulate transcription in tissue culture studies, probably at the level of mRNA elongation or splicing. The extended C-terminus, unique to NFAR-2, has been shown to interact with proteins, such as p68, SMN and FUS, which are involved in mRNA splicing. In agreement with these observations, NFAR-2 has been identified as a component of the spliceosome, suggesting that NFARs are involved in mRNA splicing too (Hartmuth et al., 2002; Ogilvie et al., 2003; Saunders et al., 2001; Zhou et al., 2002).

### RNase III family

Members of the RNase III family have been found in multiple organisms and are all characterized as endoribonucleases that selectively cleave dsRNAs (Nicholson, 1996; Robertson et al., 1968). *E. coli* RNase III has an N-terminal endonuclease domain and single C-terminal dsRBM. It is reported that the dsRBM is dispensable for the catalytic activity, but required for cleavage

specificity (Conrad et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2001). E.coli RNase III has been shown to participate in the processing of pre-rRNA, tRNA and phage mRNA and has been suggested to have a global role in gene regulation (Gitelman and Apirion, 1980). The homologues of RNase III in E. coli have been identified in Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Rnt1) and Schizosaccharomyces pombe (Pac1) and have been shown to be required for the processing of pre-rRNA, small nuclear RNA (snRNA) and small nucleolar RNA (snoRNA) (lino et al., 1991; Rotondo and Frendewey, 1996; Xu et al., 1990). An RNase III family member, Drosha, in C. elegans and Drosophila has been shown to contain an additional RNase III signature sequence, comparing to *E.coli* homologue. This feature suggests that Drosha in C. elegans and Drosophila may be able to work as a monomer, whereas RNase III in E. coli forms a homodimer and requires a divalent metal ion (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) to catalyze the cleavage (Dunn, 1976; Filippov et al., 2000; Sun and Nicholson, 2001). The human homologue of Drosha has also been also been identified and characterized. It has an amino-terminal region that is proline-rich, followed by a serine/arginine-rich domain, and two RNase III signature motifs as well as a dsRBM at the C-terminus. It is expressed ubiquitously and has been shown to be required for pre-rRNA processing (Wu et al., 2000). Recently, Drosha has also been shown to be important for microRNA processing. It cleaves pri-miRNA and releases a 60-70 nt pre-miRNA hairpin; this specific cleavage is critical for determining the sequence of the mature microRNA and contributes to the specificity of microRNA (Lee et al., 2003).

Another RNase III-like endoribonuclease, Dicer, has been found in S. pombe,

*C. elegans*, *Drosophila*, mice and humans. Dicer contains an amino-terminal helicase domain, a PAZ (Pinwheel, Argonaut, Zwille) domain, two RNase III motifs and a single dsRBM. Dicer is also involved in the microRNA processing pathway, downstream of Drosha, by cleaving 22 nt from the ends on both strands of the pre-miRNA (Bernstein *et al.*, 2001; Knight and Bass, 2001; Nicholson and Nicholson, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2004a). Dicer is also required for the cleavage of long dsRNAs into 21-23 bps small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) that represent a critical component of RNA interference (Bernstein *et al.*, 2001). RNase III family is required for numerous RNA processing events and may serve as a regulatory step for gene expression.

### <u>ADAR</u>

ADARs are dsRNA-specific adenosine deaminases that involved in RNA editing of adenosine (A) to inosine (I) in cellular mRNAs and viral RNAs (Chen et al., 2000; O'Connell et al., 1995). ADAR family members have been found in numerous species including *C. elegans*, *Drosophila*, fish, *Xenopus*, rats, mice and humans (Bass, 2002). All ADARs contain one to three copies of the dsRBM and a conserved adenosine deaminase domain at the C-terminus. The functions and regulation of ADARs have been studied extensively and will be discussed later in this chapter.

### A-to-I RNA editing and ADARs

Although the central dogma of molecular biology states that genetic information flows from DNA through RNA to the encoded proteins, in most cases

one cannot accurately predict the nucleotide sequences of the mRNA or the amino acid sequence of protein only based on the sequence of genomic DNA (Crick, 1958). This is because eukaryotic mRNAs undergo numerous post-transcriptional modifications including capping, polyadenylation, alternative splicing and RNA editing before they can become mature mRNAs that serve as templates for translation (Emeson *et al.*, 1989; Kable *et al.*, 1996; Keller and Minvielle-Sebastia, 1997; Varani, 1997; Wang and Manley, 1997).

The term "RNA editing" is used to describe a number of mechanistically distinct RNA modifications, including post-transcriptional insertion/deletion (Kable *et al.*, 1996), co-transcriptional insertion (Visomirski-Robic and Gott, 1997), nucleotide exchange (Price and Gray, 1999) and base modification/substitution (Auxilien et al., 1996; Sommer et al., 1991). Notably, all RNA editing events discovered in mammals are base modification/substitution events and within this category, a great majority of the known RNA editing events result from nucleoside deamination [cytidine-to-uridine (C-to-U) or adenosine-to-inosine (A-to-I)] (Backus and Smith, 1991; Rueter *et al.*, 1995).

The first identified RNA editing in mammals was a C-to-U conversion in mRNA transcripts encoding apoplipoprotein B (ApoB), where a glutamate codon (CAA) is converted into a stop codon (UAA) by RNA editing (Chen *et al.*, 1987). In the liver, the non-edited mRNA transcript encodes a full-length protein, ApoB-100, which is secreted as a component of lipoproteins and binds to the LDL receptor, delivering cholesterol to the cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis. In the intestine, the RNA editing-dependent generation of a stop codon terminates translation

prematurely and gives rise to a truncated protein, ApoB-48, which lacks the LDL receptor binding domain and functions in the absorption and transport of dietary lipid (Wang et al., 2003; Yao and McLeod, 1994). Conversion of C-to-U in the intestine is catalyzed by a complex of proteins including a zinc-dependent cytidine deaminase (APOBEC-1) and an accessory protein (ACF), which specifically interacts with an 11 nt mooring sequence downstream of the editing site (Backus and Smith, 1991; Mehta *et al.*, 1996). Overexpression of APOBEC-1 in the livers of mice and rabbits results in liver dysplasia and hepatocellular carcinoma. In this case, aberrant C-to-U editing was found in the transcripts normally not modified, suggesting that uncontrolled RNA editing can aberrantly modify RNAs and lead to disease (Yamanaka *et al.*, 1995; Yamanaka *et al.*, 1997).

The most widespread base-modification type of RNA editing is the conversion of adenosine to inosine (A-to-I) (Auxilien *et al.*, 1996), where the amino group on the C-6 position of the adenine ring is replaced by a ketone, changing the corresponding adenosine to inosine. Since inosine has base-pairing properties similar to guanosine, it is read as guanosine during translation, splicing and reverse transcription. Inosine was first discovered at position 34 and 37 of yeast alanine tRNA (tRNA<sup>Ala</sup>), where inosine 34 in the wobble position of the anticodon loop is essential for base-paring with cytosine, adenosine or uridine to degenerate codons during translation (Holley *et al.*, 1965). A-to-I RNA editing events have also been found to be able to change the coding potentials of mRNAs and viral RNAs, including transcripts encoding glutamate-gated ion channel subunits (GluRs), the 2C-subtype of serotonin receptor (5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R), the voltage-gated

potassium channel subunit (K<sub>V</sub>1.1) and the hepatitis delta virus antigen (HDAg) (Brusa et al., 1995; Burns et al., 1997; Higuchi et al., 2000; Sommer et al., 1991) (Table 2). Despite the identification of these editing events that play a critical role in the function of the encoded protein products, the great majority of identified A-to-I RNA editing events are located in non-coding regions of RNAs and non-translated RNA species, and the functional consequences for most of these editing events have not been examined (Athanasiadis et al., 2004; Blow et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2004; Luciano et al., 2004; Morse et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2006). It is speculated that such RNA modifications may affect a variety of RNA functions, including splicing, localization, translation efficiency and stability.

Except for tRNAs, all A-to-I RNA editing events are catalyzed by a family of enzymes known as <u>a</u>denosine <u>dea</u>minases that act on <u>RNA</u> (ADARs) (Bass *et al.*, 1997). ADARs were initially identified as the activity to "unwind" dsRNA when injected into *Xenopus* oocytes (Bass and Weintraub, 1988), resulting from the conversion of stable A-U base-pairs to unstable I-U base-pairs (Wagner *et al.*, 1989). Based on this activity, the first ADAR was purified from *Xenopus* (Hough and Bass, 1994). Later, the mammalian homologue was identified and named ADAR1 (Kim *et al.*, 1994b). Meanwhile, A-to-I conversion was discovered in transcripts encoding the second subunit of the  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate (AMPA) subtype glutamate receptor (GluR-2) and this modification was shown to alter the ion permeability of heteromeric glutamate receptors (Rueter et al., 1995; Sommer et al., 1991). These studies lead to the

	RNA Substrate	protein function	Functional consequences
Verteb	orate		
	ADAR2 GluR-2,3,4	A-to-I RNA editing enzyme Glutamate-gated cation channel subunits (AMPA subtype)	Alteration in splicing pattern, proteine expression Alteration in calcium permeability and kinetics
	GluR-5,6	Glutamate-gated channel subunit (Kainate subtype)	Alteration in calcium permeability
	$5-HT_{zc}R$	G-protein coupled receptor	Reduction in G-protein coupling
	Kv1.1	votage-gated potassium channel	Faster recovery from inactivation
	ETB	endothelin receptor	unknown
	PTPN6	phosphatase	unknown
	FLNA	Filamin, alpha	unknown
	BLCAP	bladder cander associated protein	unknown
	CYFIP2	cytoplasmic FMR2 interacting protein	unknown
	IGFBP7	insulin-like growth factor binding protein 7	unknown
Inverte	ebrate Af-ron	umouyun	awordari
	Para	sodium channel	unknown
	Da5	nACh receptor subunit	unknown
	ARD	nACh receptor subunit	unknown
	SBD	nACh receptor subunit	unknown
	Rdl	GABA receptor	unknown
	DSCI	sodium channel	unknown
	Ca-alpha1T	Calcium channel	unknown
	DmCa1D	Calcium channel	unknown
	α2δ	Calcium channel accessory subunit	unknown
	Shaker	votage-gated potassium channel	unknown
	Eag	votage-gated potassium channel	unknown
	Slowpoke	votage-gated potassium channel	unknown
	synaptotagmin	synaptic vesicle calcium sensor	unknown
	Dunc-13	SNARE protein	unknown
	stnB	unknown	unknown
	complexin	SNARE protein	unknown
	lap	adapter protein in synaptic release	unknown
	Pop-1	C elegans HMG-box protein	unknown
	Laminin-y	unknown	unknown
	SSADH	aldehyde dehydrogenase	unknown
	sqKv1.1	votage-gated potassium channel	Alteration in channel gating and tetramerization
	sqKv2	votage-gated potassium channel	unknown
virus	Hepatitis delta virus HDAg	virus replication/release	Switch from HDAg-S (replication) to HDAg-L (release)
	measle virus hemagglutinin	hemadsorption	generate nonlytic persistant virons

# Table 2. A summary of characterized A-to-I RNA editing events.

identification of the second ADAR family member, ADAR2 (Melcher *et al.*, 1996b). Subsequent biochemical purification and molecular cloning has allowed the identification and characterization of ADARs from variety of organisms, including three ADAR genes in mammals (Melcher *et al.*, 1996a), two ADR genes in *C. elegans* (Tonkin *et al.*, 2002), one dADAR gene in *Drosophila* (Palladino *et al.*, 2000b; Slavov *et al.*, 2000) (Figure 4).

### **Functional domains of ADARs**

ADAR proteins from different organisms have a common modular domain organization, including a variable N-terminal region followed by one or several copies of dsRBMs and one highly conserved adenosine deaminase domain at the C-terminus.

### The N-terminal region

Full-length ADAR1 contains two Z-DNA binding motifs, which specifically binds to the left-handed Z-DNA/Z-RNA with high affinity (Herbert *et al.*, 1998). The exact role of these Z-DNA binding motifs in ADAR1 is not fully understood, although some data have suggested that ADAR1 editing activity can be modulated by Z-RNA in vitro (Koeris *et al.*, 2005). In ADAR3, an arginine-rich single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) binding domain is found in N-terminal region, making ADAR3 unique within the ADAR family by possessing the ability to bind to ssRNA (Chen et al., 2000; Melcher et al., 1996a).



# Vertebrate ADARs and ADAR-like Enzymes

**Figure 4. Functional domains of ADARs from different species.** Schematic diagram of domain structures for ADAR proteins from vertebrates and invertebrates are presented to depict the organization and phylogenetic conservation of functional domains in the enzymes that catalyze A-to-I conversion in RNA substrates. The positions for nuclear export signal (NES) and nuclear localization signal (NLS) for vertebrate ADARs are indicated.

### The dsRBMs

ADAR1 contains three copies of dsRBMs, while ADAR2 and ADAR3 each contain two copies. The dsRBMs provide ADARs with the ability to bind dsRNA over ssRNA, and consistent with this observation, ADAR-mediated editing can be found only within extended RNA duplexes (Bass, 2002; Higuchi et al., 1993; Rueter et al., 1999). The dsRBMs have also been demonstrated to be required to target nuclear ADAR1 or ADAR2 to the nucleolus in mammalian cell lines (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003).

Although dsRBMs of ADARs are highly conserved in sequence and structure, they seem to play differential roles in regulating ADAR functions. While the deletion/mutation of the first and the third dsRBM from ADAR1 inhibited editing, the second dsRBM seemed to be dispensable (Lai *et al.*, 1995; Liu and Samuel, 1996). In addition, the dsRBMs can target ADAR1 to the chromosome in *Xenopus laevis* but individual dsRBMs are capable of recognizing distinct chromosome sites in an apparently specific manner (Doyle and Jantsch, 2003).

### The deaminase domain

Phylogenetic studies have suggested that the catalytic mechanism of ADAR is similar to the ancestral mononucleotide cytidine deaminase (CDA) in *E. coli* (Carter, 1995). A recently structure study of the human ADAR2 deaminase domain confirmed this similarity (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005). The active site has an ordered zinc ion that coordinates a water molecule, presumably displacing ammonia during the deamination reaction. The positions of the zinc ion coordinated by His 394, Cys 451, and Cys 516, and hydrogen bonding of the

water molecule by the proton-shuttling residue, Glu 396, are essentially identical to the geometry seen at the catalytic centers of CDA (Figure 5A and B). The residues that are important to form the active site are also highly conserved throughout the ADAR family and ADAT, which catalyzes A-to-I editing of tRNAs, further supporting the existence of a conserved catalytic mechanism (Gott and Emeson, 2000) (Figure 5C). Presumably, the zinc-bound water molecule will perform nucleophilic attack on the C-6 position of the adenine ring to generate a tetrahedral intermediate, followed by the release of ammonia to produce the inosine (Bass, 2002) (Figure 5D).

Surprisingly, an inositol hexaphosphate (IP<sub>6</sub>) molecule is found buried within the enzyme core mostly surrounded by C-terminal residues. This feature is unique and is not presented in CDA. The ADAR2 expressed in an IP<sub>6</sub>-deficient yeast strain was not active, suggesting that IP<sub>6</sub> is required for ADAR2 activity, most likely by defining and stabilizing the folding of the deaminase domain (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005).

### Substrate specificity of ADARs

Numerous studies have been performed to understand the substrate specificity of ADARs and why they edit specific adenosines over others in RNA targets. Some of the specificity comes from the RNA substrates themselves as all editing sites are found in highly structured imperfect RNA duplexes (Figure 6). RNA duplex structures are required for editing since disruption of the secondary structure ablates the A-to-I conversion (Bhalla et al., 2004; Burns et al., 1997;



Figure 5. The conserved mechanism for deamination. (A) Ribbon model of human ADAR2 deaminase domain. The zinc atom is represented by a magenta sphere. The N-terminal domain is colored cyan, with the region that shares structural similarity with CDA and TadA colored dark blue. The C-terminal helical domain, which with contributions from the deamination motif makes the major contacts to IP<sub>6</sub>, is colored red. (B) Residue interactions at the active site. Shown are the zinc ion, coordinating residues, the nucleophilic water (blue sphere), and the proposed proton-shuttling residue, E396. The hydrogen-bond relay that connects the active site to the IP<sub>6</sub> is also indicated. (C) An amino acid sequence comparison within the catalytic domain of ADARs and ADAT proteins is presented with asterisks indicating the residues thought to be critical for active-site zinc coordination. (D) The stereochemistry of the proposed tetrahedral intermediate. The intermediate is drawn as if water attacks from the same side of the base as observed with the CDA enzymes, (adapted from Bass, 2002; Gott and Emeson, 2000 and Macbeth et al., 2005).



Figure 6. Predicted secondary structures for pre-mRNA substrates modified by A-to-I editing. Double stranded RNA structures are required for ADARmediated editing. The predicted secondary structure of pre-mRNA transcripts encoding non-NMDA receptor subunits (GluR-2), ADAR2 and the 2C-subtype of serotonin receptor (5-HT<sub>2c</sub>R), in the regions of major editing modifications, are presented using an RNA folding algorithm [*mfold*; Science **244**:48-52 (1989)]. The positions of edited adenosine residues are indicated with inverse lettering; exon and intron sequences are represented with uppercase and lowercase lettering, respectively, and the number of nucleotides omitted from the figure are indicated in the loops.
Feng et al., 2006; Higuchi et al., 1993; Rueter et al., 1999). The detailed structure of the ADAR target also influences editing specificity. Adenosines in a long, perfect A-form RNA duplex can be deaminated non-selectively (Nishikura et al., 1991; Polson and Bass, 1994); while naturally-occurring RNAs with mismatches, bulges, or loops within a duplex region undergo more selective deamination. It was suggested that small disruptions within the duplex contribute to ADAR selectivity by limiting the ability of these enzymes to bind short, perfect-matched A-form RNA duplex regions (Lehmann and Bass, 1999). In RNA duplexes, all the bases are surrounded by the sugar-phosphate backbone and are largely inaccessible to proteins. It is speculated that the one adenosine needs to flip out of the duplex to be edited by ADARs (Hough and Bass, 1997). Recent molecular dynamic analysis has suggested that the adenosine at the R/G editing site in GluR-2 transcripts needs less energy to flip out compared to neighboring, editing-incompetent adenosines and this may contribute to determining the specificity of A-to-I conversion too (Hart et al., 2005).

On the other hand, editing specificity also rises from the ADARs themselves as ADAR1 and ADAR2 have distinct but overlapping editing specificity. For example, on the pre-mRNA of GluR-2, the Q/R site is edited only by ADAR2 and the +60 site is edited primarily by ADAR1, although both ADARs can efficiently deaminate the R/G site (Melcher *et al.*, 1996b). Using a long perfect dsRNA as the substrate, ADARs have also been shown to have different preferred neighboring sequence for targeting. ADAR1 and ADAR2 both prefer a uridine as 5'-neighbor to the targeted adenosine. ADAR1 rarely edits adenosine moieties close to either

end of a synthetic dsRNA substrate, whereas ADAR2 can target adenosines as close as 3 nt from either terminus, and ADAR2 also has a unique 3' neighbor preference for uridine (Lehmann and Bass, 2000; Polson and Bass, 1994).

It is not fully understood whether the dsRBMs contribute to defining ADAR substrate specificity. Since a highly conserved deaminase domain is also found in ADAT, which can specifically edit adenosines in tRNA without the presence of any dsRBMs, it is believed that the deaminase domains themselves can confer both substrate specificity and activity. In agreement with this idea, ADAR1, lacking all three dsRBMs, showed editing activity and some specificity in tissue culture cells (Herbert and Rich, 2001). In another study, the dsRBMs of ADAR1 and ADAR2 were swapped, and the authors claimed that the deaminase domain is the major determinant of the specificity, since they observed that a chimeric protein containing the ADAR1 deaminase domain displayed similar specificity to ADAR1 while a chimeric enzyme containing the ADAR2 deaminase domain displayed similar specificity to ADAR2 (Wong et al., 2001). In addition, the dsRBMs of ADARs have also been shown to have good affinity for nonspecific binding to long perfect dsRNA, enabling ADAR1 and ADAR2 to edit over 50% of adenosines on those dsRNAs (Cho et al., 2003; Dawson et al., 2004; Lehmann and Bass, 2000; Liu et al., 1999). Therefore, dsRBMs were thought to contribute to ADAR-mediated editing only by increasing the affinity to the substrates by nonspecific binding to perfect dsRNA regions.

However, recent biochemical work has demonstrated that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 can bind specifically on natural RNA substrates and may contribute to

editing specificity (Stephens *et al.*, 2004). In this study, each amino acid (M84 or T96) in dsRBM1 of rat ADAR2 was replaced by cysteine to direct hydroxyl radical cleavage upon binding to the target RNA. The cleavage sites on RNA therefore indicate the position(s) of these mutated amino acid residues on the RNA duplex (Figure 7A and B). The pattern generated was used to develop a model for the ADAR2 dsRBM1-RNA interaction (Figure 7C). To functionally test this model, benzyl modification at guanosine 2-amino groups was introduced at three sites on RNA, where two of them specifically block the binding of dsRBM1 (A6G<sup>N2Bn</sup>, A12G<sup>N2Bn</sup>) and the other one does not (G9G<sup>N2Bn</sup>) (Figure 7D). The mutation of A6G<sup>N2Bn</sup>, A12G<sup>N2Bn</sup> dramatically decreased ADAR2 editing efficiency while G9G<sup>N2Bn</sup> had no effect, supporting their specific binding model and further suggesting the specific binding of dsRBMs may contribute to substrate specificity (Stephens *et al.*, 2004).

# Functional consequences of specific A-to-I editing events

After the targeted adenosines are converted to inosines by ADARs in the nucleus, the modified transcripts are transported into the cytoplasm where they serve as templates for translation. Several extensively studied A-to-I modifications result in non-synonymous codon changes in mRNA sequences and the production of proteins with altered functional properties. Examples in this category include the editing of transcripts encoding subunits of ionotropic glutamate receptors (GluR-2 to 6) and the 2C-subtype of serotonin receptor (5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R) (Burns et al., 1997; Niswender et al., 1999; Sommer et al., 1991) (Table 2).



Figure 7. Specific interaction of ADAR2 dsRBM1 and GluR-2 **RNA (Q/R site).** (A) Directed hydroxyl radical cleavage of the Q/R substrate using the EDTA•Fe modified M84C mutant. The mapping of the major cleavage sites on the Q/R substrate secondary structure is shown. Lines indicate sites of cleavage and line lengths indicate relative cleavage efficiencies. (B) Directed hydroxyl radical cleavage of the Q/R substrate using of T96C-EDTA•Fe. (C) Models generated in Insight II using the  $\alpha$  carbon skeleton from the XIrbpa dsRBM II structure to model potential binding sites identified by the cleavage experiments. Nucleotides cleaved by M84C-EDTA.Fe are highlighted in purple. Nucleotides cleaved by T96C-EDTA•Fe are highlighted in red. The Q/R editing site is depicted in green. (D) The relative location of the benzyl modifications to the two binding sites for ADAR2 dsRBMs are depicted in yellow. (E) A bar graph describing the relative rate constants for deamination assays on the GluR-B Q/R editing site substrate analogs. All rates are normalized to that of the native Q/R substrate, (adapted from Stephens *et al.*, 2004).

Recent studies also demonstrate that A-to-I RNA editing in non-coding regions can affect alternative splicing pattern or the nuclear retention of modified RNA transcripts (Kumar and Carmichael, 1997; Prasanth et al., 2005; Rueter et al., 1999).

### RNA editing on Q/R site of GluR transcripts

Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS of the vertebrates and is critical for fast excitatory neurotransmission, synaptic plasticity and has been shown play a role is both chronic and acute neural disorder including stroke, epilepsy, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Parkinson's Disease (Wisden and Seeburg, 1993). The impact of glutamate is mediated by either ionotropic (iGluR) or metabotropic receptors (mGluR) (Ozawa *et al.*, 1998). The ionotropic glutamate receptors can be divided to into three subtypes, AMPA, NMDA and kainate, based upon specific agonist for each receptor subtype. They are all tetrameric cation channels and four subunits contribute to the inner channel lining a pore loop structure (Seeburg and Hartner, 2003). A-to-I editing events have been identified in transcripts encoding 5 subunits (GluR2-6) of the GluRs which are involved in the assembly of AMPA or kainate receptors, but not the NMDA receptor.

Editing of the Q/R site in GluR-2 transcripts represents the earliest and the most well characterized example of A-to-I editing in mammals. The glutamine residue, located in the second hydrophobic domain of the GluR-2 subunit, is essential for forming the narrow constriction of the channel and in determining the ion permeation and electrophysiologic properties of heteromeric AMPA receptors.

RNA editing by ADAR2 converts the genomically encoded CAG (glutamine, Q codon) into CIG and translated as CGG (arginine, R codon), which makes the channel impermeable to calcium ions and also helps the channel assemble in the endoplasmic reticulum (Greger et al., 2003; Higuchi et al., 2000; Melcher et al., 1996b; Sommer et al., 1991) (Figure 8A). The Q/R site is edited essentially to completion in whole brain, except subsets of striatal and cortical neurons. Decreased Q/R site editing in these neurons is consistent with their high vulnerability to excitotoxicity due to calcium excess (Kim et al., 2001). Genetically modified mice expressing one copy of an editing-incompetent GluR-2 allele die of epileptic seizure three weeks after birth, further emphasizing the importance of Q/R site editing for normal brain function (Brusa et al., 1995). Interestingly, ADAR2-null mice demonstrated a very similar phenotype to mice lacking Q/R site editing. The adverse effects observed in ADAR2-null mice can be rescued by introducing mutant GluR-2 alleles which encode an arginine residue at the Q/R site, suggesting the seizure and lethal phenotype in ADAR2-deficient mice is primarily due to the lack of editing at the GluR-2 Q/R site (Higuchi et al., 2000). It is still puzzling as to why evolution has developed editing at the Q/R site rather than encoding an arginine-codon in the genomic DNA, since mice expressing GluR-2 with a genomically encoded arginine at this site demonstrated no discernable phenotype (Kask et al., 1998).

At the analogous position to the GluR-2 Q/R site, Q/R site editing has also been discovered in transcripts encoding GluR-5 and GluR-6, the subunits of heteromeric kainate receptors. Unlike GluR-2 Q/R site, which is edited almost



completely, both nonedited and edited isoforms of the GluR-5 and GluR-6 RNAs are expressed and the editing at these sites is developmentally regulated. Mutant mice in which the GluR-6 Q/R site cannot be edited display NMDA receptor-independent long-term potentiation (LTP) in the medial perforant path-dentate gyrus synapse. Both heterozygous and homozygous mutant animal were more vulnerable to kainate-induced seizures, indicating a role for GluR-6 Q/R site editing in synaptic plasticity and circuit excitability (Vissel *et al.*, 2001).

#### RNA editing of the R/G site in GluR transcripts

A-to-I RNA editing was also been found in another RNA duplex structure of the GluR-2 transcript, referred as R/G site, since the adenosine to inosine conversion replaced the genomically encoded AGA (arginine, R codon) with IGA (glycine, G codon). The AMPA receptor containing the edited GluR-2 subunit recovers more rapidly from receptor desensitization than receptors harboring the non-edited isoform, demonstrating that RNA editing at R/G site plays a role in regulating receptor kinetics (Lomeli et al., 1994) (Figure 8B). Recent in vitro studies also have suggested that R/G site editing affects the splicing of GluR-2 transcripts since the editing site is next to a splice junction (Bratt and Ohman, 2003). The R/G site of GluR-2 pre-mRNA is often used as a model system to study A-to-I editing as it forms a small and conserved 70 nt stem-loop with three mismatches (Aruscavage and Bass, 2000; Macbeth et al., 2004; Ohman et al., 2000; Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2000) A similar R/G site editing was identified on GluR-3 and GluR-4, yet the functional consequences of these modifications remain unknown.

### RNA editing of 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R transcripts

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) is a monoamine neurotransmitter that modulates numerous sensory and motor processes as well as a wide variety of behavior including locomotion, thermoregulation, pain perception, sleep, appetite and sexual behavior (Sanders-Bush *et al.*, 2003). 5-HT exerts its biological functions by activating at least 14 distinct receptor subtypes that differ in their tissue distribution, binding affinity and coupling to intracellular signaling pathways (Hoyer *et al.*, 1994). The 5-HT<sub>2</sub> family of receptors contains three members (5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R, 5-HT<sub>2B</sub>R, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R), all of which mediate Gq-coupled phospholipase C (PLC) activation, which leads to the increasing intracellular inositol phosphates (IPs) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (Figure 8C). In addition, it is reported that both 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R and 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R can activate phospholipase D (PLD) and phospholipase A2 (PLA2) through interactions with other G proteins (Sanders-Bush *et al.*, 2003).

5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R is the only known GPCR that undergoes A-to-I RNA editing. In its pre-mRNA five genomically encoded adenosines can be converted into inosines (termed sites A-E), generating up to 32 mRNA species, encoding as many as 24 different protein isoforms (Burns *et al.*, 1997; Niswender *et al.*, 1999). Sequence analysis of cDNAs from rat and human brains showed the region-specific expression of editing-generated 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R mRNA species, suggesting differentially edited 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R may serve distinct biological functions in those regions where they are expressed (Burns *et al.*, 1997; Niswender *et al.*, 1999). The five editing sites can affect the identify of three amino acids in the second intracellular loop of the receptor, a region interacting with heterotrimeric G-protein (Pin et al., 1994; Wong

et al., 1990). The functional consequences of RNA editing in the  $5-HT_{2C}R$  transcript were revealed by comparing the potency of 5-HT to induce PLC activation in a heterologous tissue culture system, where the nonedited  $5-HT_{2C}R$  couples to the G-protein 40-fold greater than the fully edited isoform. It has also been reported that the fully edited receptor isoform has reduced constitutive activity, compared to the non-edited receptor (Niswender *et al.*, 1999; Price *et al.*, 2001).

### RNA editing on -1 site of ADAR2 pre-mRNA transcript

ADAR2 is a dsRNA specific adenosine deaminase that catalyzes numerous A-to-I editing events in mammals (Higuchi et al., 2000; Melcher et al., 1996b). Interestingly, A-to-I RNA editing sites were also discovered within intron 4 of the ADAR2 pre-mRNA, one of which (-1 site) has been shown to regulate alternative splicing of the ADAR2 transcript itself (Dawson et al., 2004; Rueter et al., 1999).

In the absence of RNA editing, exon 3 will be spliced to exon 5 using the genomically-encoded 3'-splice acceptor (AG) immediately 5' to the exon, subsequently producing a mature mRNA that encodes a functional ADAR2 protein (Figure 8D, solid line). Forty-seven nucleotides upstream of the normal 3'-splice junction, an AA dinucleotide can be converted to an AI by RNA editing and serve as a new 3'-splice acceptor. Editing at the -1 site allows the use of this proximal 3'-splice site and results in the addition of 47 nt to the ADAR2 open reading frame (Figure 8D, dotted line). The 47nt inclusion results in early translation termination and generates a 9kD protein without any functional domains required for A-to-I conversion (Rueter *et al.*, 1999). Subsequent studies

revealed that editing of the -1 site is catalyzed by ADAR2 itself (Dawson *et al.*, 2004), suggesting an autoregulatory negative-feedback mechanism by which ADAR2 regulates its own level of expression (Feng et al., 2006).

# Physiological significance of ADARs

The conversion of A-to-I by RNA editing has been shown to modulate the functions of specific proteins by sequestering mRNA in the nucleus, altering codons, or changing alternative splicing patterns. However, the functions of ADARs may have been underestimated since most of the newly identified adenosine to inosine editing events have been located in intronic or untranslated regions of RNA transcripts and the relevance of such modifications has not been examined (Levanon et al., 2004; Morse et al., 2002). In addition, ADARs can potentially modulate the functions of other dsRBP functions by competing for interactions with other targeted dsRNAs (Chen *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, ADARs may also play a role in the processing and targeting of siRNAs and microRNAs (Luciano et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2005). Therefore, genetically modified animals, in which ADARs are deleted or overexpressed, can provide more insights into the physiological roles of these editing enzymes.

# Mammalian ADARs

In mammals three ADAR genes have been identified. ADAR1 and ADAR2 are ubiquitously expressed, while ADAR3 is exclusively detected in the brain (Chen *et al.*, 2000). The greatest level of ADAR2 expression is found in the brain, consistent with the observation that brain mRNA contains the highest inosine

content compared to other tissues (Paul and Bass, 1998). All three ADARs contain nuclear localization signals (NLS) and are localized to the nucleus, with the exception of the interferon(IFN)-inducible isoform of ADAR1, which also harbors a nuclear export signal (NES) in the N-terminus and shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm (George and Samuel, 1999; Kawakubo and Samuel, 2000; Strehblow *et al.*, 2002). All three ADARs contain a conserved adenosine deaminase domain, but only ADAR1 and ADAR2 demonstrate editing activity. ADAR3 is enzymatically inactive on both synthetic RNA duplexes or naturally-occurring A-to-I editing substrates, although it can efficiently bind to both ssRNA and dsRNA (Chen et al., 2000; Melcher et al., 1996a). ADAR3 can compete with ADAR1 or ADAR2 on natural substrates in vitro, suggesting that it may work as a modulator of A-to-I editing in the brain (Chen *et al.*, 2000).

Systematic screening for novel A-to-I editing events in the human transcripsome have revealed that the vast majority of editing sites occur in non-translated RNA species and UTRs of mRNA transcripts, especially in Alu repetitive elements, which comprising more than 10% of human genome (Athanasiadis *et al.*, 2004; Blow *et al.*, 2004; Levanon *et al.*, 2004). Since inverted Alu elements in the same transcript can form a stable, extended RNA duplex, the only known requirement for ADAR editing, it is not surprising to find extensive RNA editing events in these regions. It has been speculated that editing in the UTR of RNA transcripts may affect RNA stability, localization and translation efficiency (Kumar and Carmichael, 1997; Prasanth et al., 2005; Scadden, 2005).

ADAR1- and ADAR2-deficient mice have been generated by gene-targeted

homologous recombination, and both die during development. As early as embryonic day 11.5 (E11.5), mouse embryos lacking ADAR1 expression show a rapid disintegration of liver structure, severe defects in embryonic erythropoiesis and stress-induced apoptosis, suggesting ADAR1 is critically important for the development of non-nervous tissues, although the exact mechanism and RNA targets remain unknown (Hartner *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2004). In contrast, the knockout of ADAR2 in mice does not cause embryonic lethality, but rather, these mice develop progressive seizures after birth and die before postnatal day 21 (P21). ADAR2-null mice, demonstrated a significant decrease in the extent of editing at numerous sites including the R/G site of GluR-2, the Q/R site of GluR-5 and the D site of 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R transcripts, it has been shown the lethal phenotype primarily results from a lack of editing at the GluR-2 Q/R site (Higuchi *et al.*, 2000).

# Drosophila dADAR

dADAR, the only ADAR gene identified in *Drosophila*, contains two dsRBMs and one deaminase domain, sharing 42% amino acid homology with the human ADAR2 protein (Palladino *et al.*, 2000a).

Mutant flies lack dADAR expression have been generated by transposon-mediated P-element excision (Palladino *et al.*, 2000b). These flies show a slight decrease in viability under ideal growth condition, and the only morphological defect observed in young animals was a structural defect in the retina. However, adult mutant flies demonstrated uncoordination and paralysis with severe motion defects (Palladino *et al.*, 2000b). Furthermore, vacuolated lesions developed in the brain of the mutant flies by day 30, and the lesions, as

well as the behavioral defects, become more severe during aging (Chen *et al.*, 2004). The behavioral similarity between dADAR null flies and flies containing mutations in specific ion channels, together with the later discovery of A-to-I editing within RNAs encoding these ion channels, suggested that the primary role of dADAR is to modulate neurotransmission in the CNS (Hoopengardner et al., 2003; Littleton et al., 1999). Recent studies also found that dADAR null flies have a prolonged recovery from anoxia stupor and changes in gene expression for reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavengers, indicating that dADAR may have additional functions in *Drosophila* (Chen *et al.*, 2004). An A-to-I editing event catalyzed by dADAR has also been found on dADAR mRNA transcript itself, where editing results in the conversion of a highly conserved serine residue within the deaminase domain into a glycine, with decreased enzymatic activity (Keegan *et al.*, 2005).

### <u>C. elegans ADRs</u>

Two ADAR genes have been identified in the *C. elegans* genome, ADR-1 and ADR-2. The ADR-1 protein contains two dsRBMs and one atypical deaminase domain lacking the zinc-coordination and proton-shuttling residues. In contrast, the ADR-2 protein has one dsRBM and a highly conserved catalytic domain. ADR-1 deficient strains of *C. elegans* have severely reduced editing activity while the deletion of ADR-2 totally eliminates A-to-1 conversion, suggesting that ADR-2 can function alone, but that ADR-1 may need ADR-2 for activity and they may edit the targeted adenosines as a heterodimer (Tonkin *et al.*, 2002). *C. elegans*, which are deficient in either one or both ADR genes, displayed severe chemotaxis

defects (Tonkin *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, this defect can be rescued by loss of function mutations in genes involved in RNA interference pathway, suggesting the chemotaxis defect was caused by the aberrant RNAi activity normally inhibited by ADRs (Tonkin and Bass, 2003).

### **Regulation of ADAR function**

ADAR-mediated RNA editing is under spatiotemporal regulation through a variety of mechanisms to satisfy variations in demand from the cellular environment (Gurevich *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2004). The inaccuracy of tight control over this process could result in a number of physiological alterations including epilepsy and lethality.

# Transcriptional regulation

Two ADAR1 isoforms, different in their expression patterns, domain composition, subcellular localization and function, are the result of alternative promoter use. Initially, two alternative exon 1 structures were identified in the human ADAR1 gene using 5'-rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) analysis (George and Samuel, 1999). Using the start codon in exon 1A, the exon1A-exon2-containing mRNA encodes an interferon-inducible 150kD protein (p150), which contains two Z-DNA binding domains at the N-terminus, three dsRBMs and one C-terminal deaminase domain. The NLS overlapping with the third dsRBM and the NES at the N-terminus gives p150 the capability to shuttle between the cytoplasm and nucleus. The exon1B-exon2-containing mRNA, using

the start codon in exon2, is translated into a constitutively expressed 110kD protein (p110), which contains an N-terminal truncation compared to p150. The region missing in p110 contains the first Z-DNA binding domain and NES, which subsequently restricts p110 to the nucleus (Patterson and Samuel, 1995; Strehblow *et al.*, 2002). Recently, a very similar alternative transcription initiation mechanism has been reported for the mouse ADAR1 gene (George *et al.*, 2005).

Based on the genomic location of exon1A and exon1B, together with the transiently transfection analysis using reporter constructs, two functional human promoters were identified. Pc is the promoter for the constitutional expression of exon1B-exon2 mRNA, which generates ADAR1-p110; Pi is the promoter for the IFN-inducible expression of exon1A-exon2 mRNA, which generates ADAR1-p150 (George and Samuel, 1999). The Pi promoter possesses an IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) responsible for IFN-inducibility, as well as an upstream kinase conserved sequence-like (KCS-I) element, which has previously been found as an important IFN-responsive element in the promoter of PKR (Markle *et al.*, 2003).

## Alternative splicing

Alternative splicing is an important mechanism to produce functionally different protein isoforms from a single RNA transcript. Both ADAR1 and ADAR2 are subject to this regulation. Three naturally occurring spliced isoforms of human ADAR1 have been identified by comparisons of genomic sequence and cDNA sequences (Liu *et al.*, 1997). The full-length ADAR1 protein was designated as

ADAR1-a; the isoform containing a 26 amino acid deletion between the third dsRBM and the deaminase domain is designated as ADAR1-b, while ADAR1-c refers to the isoform possessing an additional 19 amino acid deletion between dsRBM2 and dsRBM3 compared to the ADAR1-b isoform. All three isoforms are expressed in human kidney, while only ADAR1-a and ADAR1-b were detected in a human placenta library. On a synthetic long RNA duplex, all three ADAR1 isoforms displayed similar enzymatic activity. However, site-directed mutagenesis of the dsRBMs revealed that the shortening of the spacers between functional domains altered the relative importance of the dsRBMs in ADAR1 (Liu *et al.*, 1997). Analyses of the editing activity for these splicing variants on natural substrates demonstrated that the ADAR1-b and c isoforms had a consistently higher activity than the ADAR1-a isoform on the 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R A site (Liu *et al.*, 1999), suggesting that the alternative splicing could contribute to the regulation of ADAR1 cellular activity.

Multiple alternative splicing events have also been found in transcripts encoding ADAR2. The first such splicing event affects the deaminase domain, where alternative splicing results in a 40 (human) or 10 (rat, mouse) amino acid insertion between the second and the third zinc-coordination motifs. This insertion in the catalytic domain has been shown to produce a 2-fold increase in ADAR2 editing activity (Gerber *et al.*, 1997; Rueter *et al.*, 1999). A second alternative splicing event changes the C-terminus of the human ADAR2 protein, where the last 29 amino acids of the functional protein are replaced by a 2 amino acid tail, making the resultant ADAR2 protein inactive. It is speculated this inactive splicing

variant may play a regulatory role in ADAR2 cellular function (Lai *et al.*, 1997), yet studies to address this issue have not been performed.

### ADAR autoediting

Exon 7 of the *Drosophila* dADAR mRNA can form an imperfect RNA duplex, and within this duplex one adenosine can be specifically converted into inosine by dADAR itself (Keegan et al., 2005; Palladino et al., 2000a). This A-to-I editing event modifies an AGU codon into an IGU codon, changing the encoded serine residue (S) into a glycine (G). The serine is highly conserved across species and near the second zinc-coordination motif of the deaminase domain. The substitution of the serine with glycine has been shown to dramatically decrease enzymatic activity in vitro and in vivo on multiple substrates (Keegan *et al.*, 2005). More importantly, this autoediting is developmentally regulated, where the editing is low in embryonic and pupal mRNAs and increases by more than 40-fold from embryo to adult (Palladino *et al.*, 2000a). Ubiquitous expression in embryos and larvae of a dADAR transcript that is resistant to autoediting was lethal, suggesting the autoediting is critical for the normal development of *Drosophila* (Keegan *et al.*, 2005).

While autoediting in *Drosophila* changes the amino acid identity, the autoediting in vertebrates affects alternative splicing. ADAR2 can edit one adenosine (-1 site) within intron 4 of its own pre-mRNA and convert an AA to an AI dinucleotide, a noncanonical 3'-splice acceptor. The alternative splicing product using the ADAR2-dependent splice acceptor adds 47 nt of intronic

sequence into the mature ADAR2 mRNA, resulting in the translation of a 9kD protein lacking all of the functional domains required for A-to-I conversion (Dawson et al., 2004; Rueter et al., 1999) (Figure 9). Similar alternative splicing strategies are evolutionarily conserved in all vertebrates examined incluiding humans, rats, mice, chickens, and fish, indicating the biological importance of this process (Slavov *et al.*, 2000). In genetically-modified mice whose autoediting was ablated by disrupting the required RNA duplex structure, ADAR2 protein level increased up to 4-fold in a tissue-specific manner. Moreover, all known ADAR2 substrates displayed an elevated editing level, suggesting autoediting is a key regulator of ADAR2 expression (Feng et al., 2006).

Observations that both hyperediting and hypoediting are both lethal to an organism demonstrate the necessity to maintain homeostatic control of ADAR expression. Although different in details, dADAR and ADAR2 independently developed autoediting strategies to modulate their own level of activity. When ADAR protein is overexpressed, it will edit on its own transcript, producing a less active protein (dADAR) or a nonfunctional protein (ADAR2), and return the total ADAR activity back to normal.

# Dimerization

The catalytic domain of ADAR is very similar to that of the *E. coli* CDA and APOBEC-1. Homodimerization is essential for the enzymatic activity of cytidine deaminases, prompting investigations into ADAR dimerization. Employing sequential affinity chromatography and size exclusion column chromatography,



**Figure 9. Model of ADAR2 autoregulation.** A schematic diagram of the biosynthetic processes involved in the production of ADAR2 is presented, showing a region of the ADAR2 pre-mRNA between exon 3 and 5, the predicted RNA duplex required for A-to-I editing, and the position of the -1 site (\*). The RNA processing pathway lacking -1 site editing, leading to the production of full-length (711aa) ADAR2 is indicated with dashed arrows; the functional domains in ADAR2 (NLS, nuclear localization signal; dsRBM, double-stranded RNA binding motifs and adenosine deaminase domain) are indicated. The biosynthetic pathway involving A-to-I conversion at the -1 site (\*), leading to the production of a predicted 9 kD (83aa) protein, is indicated with solid arrows; the hatched box represents the amino acid sequences encoded by an altered reading frame resulting from proximal 3'-splice acceptor use and inclusion of an additional 47nt in the mature ADAR2 transcript,(adapted from Feng *et al.*, 2006).

the formation of complexes between differentially epitope-tagged ADAR monomers expressed in insect cells was tested (Cho *et al.*, 2003). It was found that both ADAR1 and ADAR2 form stable enzymatically active homodimers, while ADAR3 remains in a monomeric, enzymatically inactive form. In addition, no heterodimerization among different ADAR family members was detected. Interestingly, endogenous ADAR3 in brain extracts was found to form a homodimer, indicating the existence of a brain-specific mechanism for ADAR3 dimerization (Cho et al., 2003).

The kinetics of ADAR2 editing for the GluR-2 R/G site has been shown to be consistent with a reaction scheme in which the formation of an ADAR2-RNA ternary complex is required for efficient RNA editing and gel-shift analyses have revealed two complexes are formed on the RNA as protein concentration is increased. In addition, ADAR2 molecules have been cross-linked to one another in an RNA-dependent fashion, suggesting that ADAR2 functions as homodimer on their RNA substrates (Jaikaran *et al.*, 2002).

Taking advantage of yeast two hybrid system, dADAR has also been shown to form homodimers (Gallo *et al.*, 2003). The minimum region required for dimerization is the N-terminal region and the first dsRBM. Although dsRBM1 is required for both dsRNA binding and dimerization, these two functions can be uncoupled by deleting the N-terminus. The mutant protein retains the ability to bind dsRNA, but is monomeric and enzymatically inactive, indicating the dimerization is essential for editing but not dsRNA binding.

Although several studies have suggested ADAR may form homodimers, the

conclusions are not always consistent. While one study demonstrated that ADAR2 homodimerization was RNA-independent (Cho et al., 2003), a second study suggested it was RNA-dependent (Jaikaran et al., 2002). The first study showed that the ADAR homodimer is very stable and almost never dissociates, while the second study indicated that the homodimer only forms on RNA substrate and formation is transient. Therefore, the nature of the ADAR dimerization in vivo needs further validation.

# Sumoylation

Sumoylation is a reversible and highly dynamic posttranslational modification in eukaryotes, where the targeted protein is conjugated with the small ubiquitin-like modifier, SUMO. It can affect targeted protein function by altering its subcellular localization, activity or stability. The modification process involves formation of an isopeptide bond between the C-terminus of SUMO and the amino group of a lysine side-chain of the targeted protein; while the removal of SUMO from proteins is carried out by specific cysteine proteases that have both hydrolase and isopeptidase activity. Three SUMO proteins have been identified as SUMO-1, -2 and -3 in vertebrates and sumoylation has been found in proteins such as RanGAP1, PCNA, IkBa, p53, c-jun, topoisomerases, promyelocytic leukemia protein, Sp100 and the MEKK1, most of which are nuclear proteins or proteins shuttling to the nucleus (Hay, 2005). In addition, since most enzymes involved in the SUMO pathway are also localized in the nucleus, it is believed that sumoylation is predominantly a nuclear process (Seeler and Dejean, 2003; Zhang

et al., 2002).

Subnuclear localization of SUMO-1 was found to overlap with that of the ADAR1, raising questions regarding whether ADAR1 is a target for SUMO-1 (Desterro *et al.*, 2005). Further analyses demonstrated that ADAR1 can be modified by SUMO-1 at lysine residue 418. Substitution of this lysine residue with an arginine abolished sumoylation without affecting the nucleolar localization of ADAR1. However, this substitution stimulated ADAR1 editing activity both in vitro and in vivo. Moreover, modification of ADAR1 by SUMO-1 in vitro reduced RNA editing activity, indicating that sumoylation is a novel posttranslational mechanism to regulate ADAR1 activity.

### Nucleolar sequestration

While ADAR1 p150 can shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Strehblow *et al.*, 2002), ADAR1 p110 and ADAR2 are restricted to the nucleus. The nucleus is highly compartmentalized and the compartmentalization may play an important role in regulating protein function. ADAR1 p110 and ADAR2 have been demonstrated to highly concentrate in the nucleolus of mammalian cells, which is different from the proposed nucleoplasmic site where A-to-I editing is though to occur. The ADAR proteins dynamically shuttle between the nucleolus and nucleoplasm, suggesting that the nucleolar localization may represent a regulatory process to control ADAR cellular activity (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003).

### The compartmentalization of the nucleus

The separation of the cytoplasm and nucleus is achieved by a nuclear envelope, but such membrane barriers do not exist in the nucleus. Based on their structure and function, the nucleus can be largely divided into nucleolus and nucleoplasm.

Ribosomal RNA (rRNA) synthesis and ribosomal subunit assembly occur in the nucleolus of eukaryotic cells. The 45S pre-rRNA, transcribed by RNA polymerase I from the ribosomal DNA (rDNA), contains the 18S, 5.8S and 28S rRNAs with external and internal spacer sequences. After transcription, the pre-rRNA undergoes a series of cleavage events to release the 18S, 5.8S and 28S rRNAs. The fully processed rRNAs are then assembled with 5S rRNA, which is transcribed by RNA polymerase III in the nucleoplasm, and at least 80 proteins to form complete ribosomal subunits that get exported to the cytoplasm. Besides their well-known role in the synthesis and assembly of ribosomes, the nucleolus has also been suggested to be a place for functional sequestration of proteins. The human telomerase protein is concentrated in the nucleolus, but functions on the DNA ends in the nucleoplasm. In normal cells, the release of telomerase to the nucleoplasm from the nucleolus is enhanced at the expected time of telomere replication in a cell-cycle dependent manner. However, in transformed cells, there is an almost complete dissociation of telomerase from nucleoli at all stages of the cell cycle, indicating that the telomerase activity is released from the nucleolus when needed and sequestrated by the nucleolus when not necessary (Wong et al., 2002).

The nucleoplasm is the compartment for mRNA transcription and processing and can be further divided into the chromatin and interchromatin space. Actively transcribed DNA has a consistent topology on chromatin, with mRNA transcription occurring at, or near, the surface of the compact chromatin domains (the perichromatin region), depositing newly synthesized RNA directly into the interchromatin space (Verschure et al., 1999). Before being exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm for translation, the pre-mRNAs undergo extensive RNA processing events, including capping, splicing and polyadenylation. Abundant cytological and biochemical evidence supports that pre-mRNA processing occurs co-transcriptionally in the perichromatin region, which is mediated by the interaction between various RNA processing machineries and the C-terminal domain (CTD) of the RNA polymerase II (Cramer et al., 2001; Fong and Bentley, 2001; Herbert et al., 1997; Hirose and Manley, 1998; Ho et al., 1999; McCracken et al., 1997). The co-transcriptional splicing of pre-mRNA has important implications for where ADAR-mediated RNA editing actually takes place. Since editing of many pre-mRNAs requires intronic sequence to form the RNA duplex necessary for A-to-I conversion (Burns et al., 1997; Higuchi et al., 1993; Rueter et al., 1999), editing must occur prior to intron removal by splicing. Since splicing occurs co-transcriptionally, it is believed that ADARs also edit their targets co-transcriptionally in the nucleoplasm, although direct evidence for this hypothesis is lacking.

### Functional sequestration of ADARs by the nucleolus

Since ADARs are thought to edit RNA transcripts in the nucleoplasm, it was surprising to find out that both ADAR1 (p110) and ADAR2 are highly concentrated in the nucleolus of human and mouse cells (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 10A).

Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) and fluorescence loss in photobleaching (FLIP) analyses suggested that ADARs shuttle rapidly between the nucleolus and nucleoplasm (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003). When one selected nucleolus was photobleached in a cell stably expressing eGFP-ADAR2, the recovery of fluorescence was essentially complete within 1min and the fluorescence intensity of other nucleoli in the same cell decreased and reached a steady-state level within a similar time-scale to the recovery, indicating that ADAR2 is constantly moving between nucleoli through the nucleoplasm at a speed approaching the rate of diffusion (Sansam *et al.*, 2003).

Although the nucleolus contains high concentration of ADAR proteins, it does not seem to be the subcellular location in which editing occurs. A transiently expressed editing-competent RNA in the nucleus is excluded from the nucleolus, and overexpression of this nucleoplasmic ADAR substrate causes endogenous ADAR proteins to be translocated to the nucleoplasm. This translocation depends on whether the RNA can be edited by ADAR since a control RNA did not cause any change in ADAR subnuclear localization (Desterro *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 10B). Furthermore, translocation of ADAR2 to the nucleoplasm, by inhibition of rRNA synthesis, resulted in elevated A-to-I RNA editing on multiple substrates (Sansam



endogenous ADAR2. The subcellular localization of endogenous mouse ADAR2 in NIH/3T3 cells was RNA probe labeled with digoxigenin. The hybridization sites were detected using a Cy3 anti-digoxigenin secondary antibody. The GluR-B and C-RNA transcripts were detected ~40 hours after transfection. A Figure 10. Dynamic association of ADAR2 with the nucleolus. (A) The nucleolar localization of determined by using affinity-purified ADAR2 antiserum with a Cy3-conjugated secondary antibody. Nucleoli (B) Endogenous hADAR2 is excluded from the nucleolus of cells expressing an editing substrate. HeLa cells GluR-B- and C-RNA-transcribing cells were visualized by fluorescent in situ hybridization with a GluR-B or Csuperimposition of the corresponding double-labeled images are shown on the right panels. Bar, 10 µm, gene portion or a control gene portion from the Friends virus genome (C-RNA). Endogenous localization of ADAR2 was monitored by indirect immunofluorescence microscopy with antibodies directed against ADAR2. were transiently transfected with a plasmid containing either the editing-competent murine GluR-B (GluR-2) were identified by using differential interference contrast or antinucleolin immunofluorescence microscopy adapted from Sansam et al., 2003 and Desterro et al., 2003) *et al.*, 2003). Taken together, these data indicated that A-to-I RNA editing takes place in the nucleoplasm and ADARs are functionally sequestered in the nucleolus.

#### Molecular mechanisms for ADARs nucleolar localization

Mutation of critical residues for dsRNA binding in the dsRBMs makes the resultant protein diffuse through the nucleus, indicating the double-stranded RNA binding activity is required for ADAR2 nucleolar localization (Sansam *et al.*, 2003). The pre-rRNA and rRNA in the nucleolus contain extensive RNA duplexes, and rRNA is also essential for ADAR2 nucleolar localization, suggesting ADAR2 may bind to the duplex regions contained within rRNA transcripts.

#### Summary and specific aims

ADAR2-mediated RNA editing is able to change the ion permeability and the kinetics of ion channels, the coupling efficiency between receptor and G protein and the alternative splicing pattern of its own pre-mRNA. With over 12,000 editing events in Alu elements recently identified, ADAR2 may also modulate a number of additional cellular processes by regulating the stability, translation efficiency and trafficking of targeted RNAs. Moreover, ADAR2 has also been shown to affect siRNA and microRNA pathways. Therefore, the function and regulation of ADAR2 is under extensive study. However, as more findings are made, even more questions have been raised. The molecular mechanisms underlying ADAR2 nucleolar localization are not fully understood since some data suggests that dsRBMs are not sufficient to localize protein to the nucleolus. The dsRBMs have

been shown to bind to GluR-2 (Q/R site) RNA specifically, yet whether such specific binding is common to all substrates is unknown. ADAR2 contains two dsRBMs and these motifs are required for editing activity and nucleolar localization. Their sequence and structural similarity however, has raised questions regarding the role(s) that each dsRBM plays in ADAR2 function. In an effort to address these questions, this dissertation has focused upon the following specific aims.

I. Identification of C-terminal localization signal in ADAR2

- II. Structure and specific RNA binding of ADAR2 dsRBMs
- III. Differential roles of dsRBMs in regulating ADAR2 function

# **CHAPTER II**

# **IDENTIFICATION OF C-TERMINAL LOCALIZATION SIGNAL IN ADAR2**

### Introduction

The conversion of A-to-I by RNA editing is a widespread posttranscriptional modification, resulting in the hydrolytic deamination of targeted adenosine residues to change the sequence of RNA from that encoded by the genome. Most of the well-characterized A-to-I editing events result in non-synonymous codon changes in the mRNA, to produce functionally distinct protein isoforms (Berg et al., 2001; Bhalla et al., 2004; Burns et al., 1997; Hoopengardner et al., 2003; Kohler et al., 1993; Lomeli et al., 1994; Niswender et al., 1999). A-to-I modifications have also been described in non-translated RNA species and non-coding regions of RNA transcripts, suggesting that editing may also affect other aspects of cellular RNA function including the splicing, trafficking, stability or translation efficiency (Athanasiadis et al., 2004; Blow et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2004; Morse et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2006).

A-to-I RNA editing in mammals is mediated by a family of enzymes known as ADARs, including ADAR1, ADAR2 and ADAR3 (Bass *et al.*, 1997). ADAR2 is an 80kD protein, containing one NLS and two dsRBMs at the N-terminus and one conserved catalytic domain at the C-terminal portion. ADAR2 catalyzes the majority of known codon-altering A-to-I modifications, and the ADAR2-deficient mice die by three weeks after birth primarily due to the lack of editing at the Q/R

site of GluR-2 transcripts (Higuchi et al., 2000).

While A-to-I RNA editing is thought to take place co-transcriptionally in the nucleoplasm, ADAR2 has been found to be highly concentrated to the nucleolus at steady-state and shuttles rapidly between nucleolus and nucleoplasm (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003). Increased translocation of ADAR2 to the nucleoplasm correlates with the increased editing activity, suggesting that ADAR2 is functionally sequestered by the nucleolus (Sansam *et al.*, 2003). Both functional dsRBMs and rRNA synthesis are required for ADAR2 nucleolar localization, indicating that ADAR2 may bind to the duplex regions within rRNAs. (Sansam *et al.*, 2003).

Although dsRBMs are required for nucleolar localization, whether other nucleolar localization signals are required for this subnuclear targeting is unknown. Preliminary data have indicated that deletion of the C-terminal region of ADAR2 will result in a loss of nucleolar localization. This effect may be due to the loss of a specific nucleolar localization signal or a change in the overall protein structure. In this study, subcellular localization and enzymatic activity of a series of ADAR2 mutants are assessed to examine whether a specific localization signal exists in the C-terminus.

# **Materials and Methods**

# Plasmids

Construction of all eGFP-ADAR2 mutants was performed using the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 plasmid as a template for run-around PCR (Coolidge and Patton, 1995), using specific primer sets as following : VU1144 and VU1152 for eGFP-ADAR2(1-528), VU1120 and VU1068 for eGFP-ADAR2(532-711), VU1069 and VU1068 for eGFP-ADAR2(529-711), VU1069 for eGFP-ADAR2(Δ529-590), VU1146 and VU1147 for eGFP-ADAR2(Δ591-649), VU1148 and VU1152 for eGFP-ADAR2(Δ648-711), VU1221 and VU1152 for eGFP-ADAR2(1-301).

### Cell culture and transfection

Human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cells and NIH/3T3 mouse fibroblasts (American Type Culture Collection) were maintained in AMEM and DMEM (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), respectively, and supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) bovine calf serum (HyClone, Logan, UT).

HEK293 cells (about 50% confluent in 100mm culture dish) were transiently transfected by calcium phosphate coprecipitation with 8 μg of plasmid encoding wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins as previously described (Rueter *et al.*, 1999).

For analysis of subcellular fluorescence, NIH/3T3 cells were plated on 35mm dishes and transiently transfected with 1µg of plasmids encoding wild-type or

mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins using Fugene 6, according to the manufacture's instruction (Boehringer Mannheim).

#### Fluorescence microscopy

Twenty-four hours after transfection, the subcellular localization of eGFP fusion proteins was determined by fluorescence microscopy (Axiovert S100, Carl Zeiss Inc). All images were acquired using a 20X/0.40 LD ACHROPLAN objective lens.

# In vitro editing assay

The two strands of D79N dsRNA were transcribed in the presence of  $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -ATP individually and hybridized, and the concentration was determined by scintillation spectrometry as described previously (Dawson *et al.*, 2004). For preliminary studies (Figure 25A), HEK293 nuclear extracts containing the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein were diluted 15-fold for a time-course study to determine the linear range of enzymatic activity for D79N RNA substrate. 100 fmoles of RNA substrate was incubated with nuclear extracts containing equivalent amounts of eGFP-ADAR2 protein at 30° C, in a total volume of 50 µl, for varying time periods and the reactions were terminated by freezing on dry ice. Subsequent analyses of editing activity for equivalent amounts of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins were performed in the same system using 60mins as reaction time. Quantification of editing activity for [ $\alpha^{-32}P$ ]-labeled D79N dsRNA was performed by thin-layer chromatography (Rueter *et al.*, 1995).

#### Results

# Altered localization by C-terminal region deletion

Based on its amino acid sequence and biological function, ADAR2 is predicted to contain two dsRBMs at the N-terminus and a catalytic adenosine deaminase domain at the C-terminus. However, the precise boundaries of each domain have not been well defined until recently (Macbeth et al., 2005; Stefl et al., 2006). At the time this project was initiated, it was well accepted that the deaminase domain extended from amino acid  $D^{392}$  to  $I^{530}$  in ADAR2, based upon sequence similarity to *E.coli* CDA, and the sequences from  $L^{301}$  to  $N^{391}$  and from  $A^{531}$  to  $P^{711}$  did not correspond to the structure of any characterized domain (Figure 11).

A fusion protein in which ADAR2 was subcloned in-frame with the coding region of eGFP displayed a similar subcellular localization and comparable enzymatic activity to endogenous ADAR2 (Sansam *et al.*, 2003), providing an ideal tool to monitor the localization and activity changes of ADAR2. A fusion protein (1-528) lacking the region immediately following the deaminase domain (C-terminal region) showed diffuse nuclear localization in transiently transfected NIH/3T3 cells (Figure 11). This effect may due to the loss of a specific nucleolar localization signal in the last 183 amino acids, but may also result from an overall change in the protein structure which impedes dsRBM function.





eGFP-ADAR2(1-528)

eGFP-ADAR2

### Insufficiency of C-terminal region for nucleolar localization

If a peptide contains a functional nucleolar localization signal, it should be able to target a heterologous protein such as eGFP to the nucleolus. To test whether the C-terminal region of ADAR2 contains such a localization signal, the fusion protein eGFP-ADAR2(532-711) was made (Figure 12), yet this protein was detected in both the nucleus and cytoplasm (Figure 13). In the nucleus, a diffuse fluorescence pattern was observed, suggesting that there is no specific nucleolar localization signal in the last 180 amino acids of ADAR2.

# Altered localization by deleting the deaminase domain

If the altered localization by deletion of the C-terminal region is due to the loss of specific nucleolar localization signal, we thought this effect should be rather specific. The deaminase domain is known to contain no nucleolar localization signal. Surprisingly an eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein solely lacking the deaminase domain ( $\Delta$ 392-531) was localized diffusely throughout the nucleus (Figure 12,13),suggesting that the altered localization is not specific to the C-terminal region. These data is more consistent with the hypothesis that the C-terminal deletion resulted in an overall change in the protein structures.

# Lack of dissectible localization signal in the C-terminal region

No domain structure was identified in the C-terminal region of ADAR2 based upon the primary amino acid sequence. To further examine the identify of specific nucleolar targeting sequences, the C-terminal region was equally divided into
protein construct	subcellular	enzymatic
eGFP-ADAR2 74 147 231 301 392 530 711   eGFP Image: Computer set of the	localization nucleolus	activity yes
eGFP-ADAR2(1-528)		
	nucleus	no
eGFP-ADAR2(532-711)	nucleus and	
	cytoplasm	
eGFP-ADAR2(Δ392-531)	nucleus	N.D.
eGFP-ADAR2(Δ529-590)		
	nucleus	ОU
eGFP-ADAR2(∆591-649)		
	nucleus	no
eGFP-ADAR2(∆648-711)		
	nucleus	ou
eGFP-ADAR2(1-301)		
	nucleolus	N.D.
Figure 12. A summary of the subcelluar localization and enzy mutants. A schematic diagram indicating the domain structure of	rmatic activity of each mutant is sho	<b>C-terminal</b> own; all the

3 • 2 . coordinates are relative to normal ADAR2 start codon. N.D., not determined.



**Figure 13. Subcellular localization of C-terminal mutants.** Representative micrographs of the subcellular localization of mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins are shown.

three portions and each was deleted from the eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein (Figure 12). All three mutant eGFP-ADAR2 proteins, eGFP-ADAR2( $\Delta$ 529-590), eGFP-ADAR2( $\Delta$ 591-649), eGFP-ADAR2( $\Delta$ 648-711), displayed a diffuse pattern in the nucleus (Figure 13), demonstrating the absence of a dissectible nucleolar localization signal (<60aa) in this region of ADAR2.

#### The sufficiency of the dsRBMs for nucleolar localization

While the dsRBMs of ADAR2 are required for nucleolar localization (Sansam *et al.*, 2003), whether these domains are sufficient for subnuclear targeting has not been tested. This fact, together with the altered localization observed for the C-terminal region deletion, leads us to examine a putative C-terminal nucleolar localization signal. However, the fact that no dissectible region was identified in the C-terminus, urged us to go back and examine the sufficiency of the dsRBMs for nucleolar localization. An eGFP-ADAR2(1-301) mutant was made by deletion of region immediately after dsRBM2. Surprisingly, this mutant protein was highly concentrated in the nucleolus, similar to wild-type eGFP-ADAR2, suggesting that the dsRBMs are sufficient for nucleolar localization in the absence of the C-terminal region.

### Loss of enzymatic activity by mutations in the C-terminal region

The subcellular localization of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants indicated that deletion of C-terminal region most likely caused an overall change in protein structure, thereby interfering with dsRBM function and altering subnuclear localization. To

further test this hypothesis, the enzymatic activity of C-terminal deletion mutants was examined using a synthetic RNA duplex in vitro. While the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 converted 30% of the adenosine residues into inosine, both the entire C-terminal region deletion (1-528) and the three smaller deletions in this region displayed no editing activity (Figure 14). The sequence between amino acid R<sup>648</sup> and P<sup>711</sup> is far from the active site, yet deletion of this region totally ablated editing activity and the nucleolar localization, strongly suggesting that the C-terminal region is highly structured and that disruption of this region can cause an widespread change in protein structure, which in turn, can impede the dsRNA-binding activity of the dsRBMs.

#### Discussion

Deletion of the C-terminal 183 amino acids of ADAR2 altered its subcellular localization, leading us to hypothesize the existence of a specific nucleolar localization signal in the C-terminal region. However, the C-terminal region is not sufficient to localize eGFP to the nucleolus and the deletion of deaminase domain causes a similar change in subnuclear targeting, suggesting this effect is not specific to the C-terminal region. Three smaller deletions in the C-terminal region all eliminated nucleolar accumulation, indicating that there is no dissectible nucleolar localization signal in this region. A fusion protein lacking both the deaminase domain and C-terminal region retained its nucleolar accumulation, suggesting that the C-terminal region is not required for localization. Furthermore, all deletions in the C-terminal region ablated editing activity, suggesting that





altered localization of eGFP-ADAR2(1-528) is mostly likely due to an overall change in protein structure which impedes dsRBM function rather than the loss of a specific nucleolar localization signal.

# The highly structured C-terminal region

Based on the sequence similarity to *E.coli* CDA, the deaminase domain of ADAR2 is previously defined as the sequence between  $D^{392}$  and  $I^{531}$ , and the C-terminal region is thought to be sequence without tertiary structure. However, our mutagenesis studies strongly suggested that the C-terminal region is highly structured, since small deletions (~60aa) within this region, which are far from the dsRBMs and catalytically active site, eliminate both ADAR2 enzymatic activity and nucleolar targeting. Recent X-ray crystallographic studies have confirmed this finding (Macbeth et al., 2005) (Figure 5A). The actual deaminase domain, extending from amino acid  $Q^{321}$  to  $T^{710}$ , is much larger than predicted. There is an IP<sub>6</sub> molecule buried in the enzyme core that has been shown to be required for editing activity, presumably by defining and stabilizing the folding of the deaminase domain. The sequence after L<sup>560</sup> forms a number of helices and provides most of the IP<sub>6</sub> binding sites (Macbeth et al., 2005). Therefore, the C-terminal region is highly structured and folds as an integrated part of the deaminase domain.

### The IP<sub>6</sub> and dsRBM-mediated nucleolar localization

The dsRBMs of ADAR2 can fold correctly and are sufficient for nucleolar localization in the absence of the deaminase domain (Stefl et al., 2006) (Figure 23) and the deaminase domain can fold correctly with IP<sub>6</sub> in the enzyme core in the absence of dsRBMs (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005). The deletions in C-terminal region cause a misfolding of the deaminase domain, so it is not surprising that all of these mutants were enzymatically inactive. However, if we assume that functional domains fold independently, how the misfolding of the deaminase domain interferes with dsRBM-mediated nucleolar localization remains unknown.

The IP<sub>6</sub> binding residues are highly conserved in all ADARs and yeast ADAT1, but not found in yeast ADAT2, ADAT3 and *E.coli* ADAT2 and CDA (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, IP<sub>6</sub> seems not to be essential for deaminase activity or the substrate preference of adenosine over cytidine. Then what is the evolutionary advantage of IP<sub>6</sub> and its folding into ADAR deaminase domain?

Sequence alignments indicate that ADAT1 is the evolutionary link between ADAT2/3 and ADARs (Gerber and Keller, 2001). ADAT2/3 deaminates specific adenosines in anticodon loop of tRNAs. Since the substrate is relatively small, without any RNA binding domain, the ADAT2/3 deaminase domain can accurately modify the targeted adenosines. To evolve to ADARs, which are designed to catalyze specific adenosines out of thousands of mRNAs, the presence of dsRBMs are required for defining the substrate specificity (Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004). We reason that the deaminase domain of ADAT2/3 has the intrinsic binding activity for the dsRBMs, similar to the dsRBM binding to the

catalytic domain observed in PKR and RNase III, hence interfering both dsRNA binding and catalytic activity, preventing the evolution from ADAT2/3 to ADARs directly. ADAT1 happened to obtain the ability to bind to  $IP_6$  with the extended C-terminal region through spontaneous mutations and this change may mask the binding activity of the original deaminase domain to the dsRBMs, making it possible to have the dsRBMs and the deaminase domain existing in the same molecule and finally evolve to ADARs. This is consistent with the fact that dsRBM only presents in a deaminase containing the  $IP_6$  binding residues.

This hypothesis well explains the evolutionary advantage of the  $IP_6$  and the sequence conservation of  $IP_6$  binding residues in all ADARs. It is also consistent with the experimental evidence. When the  $IP_6$  binding is abolished by mutations in the C-terminal region, the original deaminase domain with the dsRBM binding activity is exposed. The resulting intramolecular interaction blocks the dsRBM accessibility to the rRNA, thus, altered the subcellular localization. Although the hypothesis is consistent with the experimental data, the validity needs to be tested directly.

# **CHAPTER III**

### STRUCTURE AND SPECIFIC RNA BINDING OF ADAR2 DSRBMS

#### Introduction

ADARs convert adenosine to inosine by hydrolytic deamination in cellular and viral RNA transcripts containing either perfect or imperfect regions of double-stranded RNA (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001; Gerber and Keller, 2001; Keegan et al., 2001). A-to-I modification is non-specific within perfect dsRNA substrates, deaminating up to 50% of the adenosine residues (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001). The majority of non-selective editing occurs in UTRs and introns where large regular duplexes are formed (Levanon et al., 2004; Morse et al., 2002; Morse and Bass, 1999; Rueter et al., 1999).

A-to-I editing can also be highly specific within imperfect dsRNA regions containing bulges, loops, and mismatches, modifying a single or limited set of adenosine residues (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001). In the pre-mRNA encoding the GluR-2, several such specific editing sites have been found (Seeburg *et al.*, 1998). One of these locations is the R/G site, where an arginine codon is converted to a glycine codon. This change affects the biophysical properties of the ion channel in which the edited isoform recovers faster from desensitization (Lomeli *et al.*, 1994).

ADARs display a modular domain organization, containing from one to three tandem copies of dsRBMs in its N-terminal region, and an adenosine deaminase

domain in its C-terminal portion. The dsRBMs of ADARs may play an important role in modulating the editing selectivity of ADARs (Carlson et al., 2003; Doyle and Jantsch, 2002; Stephens et al., 2004). The structural studies of several dsRBMs revealed a highly conserved  $\alpha\beta\beta\beta\alpha$  protein topology in which the two  $\alpha$ -helices are packed along a face of a three-stranded anti-parallel  $\beta$ -sheet. (Bycroft *et al.*, 1995; Kharrat *et al.*, 1995; Nanduri *et al.*, 1998) Furthermore, structures of the dsRBMs in complex with non-natural or natural RNA substrates have been solved (Blaszczyk et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000; Ryter and Schultz, 1998; Wu et al., 2004). These structures revealed not only how dsRBMs can bind any dsRNA, regardless of base composition, but also how structure-specific recognition of RNA hairpins is achieved (Stefl *et al.*, 2005a).

While the enzymatic activity of ADARs and their biological role(s) have extensively been studied (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001), the determinants that control site-selective RNA modification are poorly understood. Here, we report the solution structure of the two dsRBMs of ADAR2 and their interactions with the conserved 71 nt RNA stem-loop containing the GluR-2 R/G site (R/G stem-loop). Our structural study demonstrates that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 have the ability to discriminate specific structural features of RNA, suggesting their importance for the editing site selectivity.

# **Materials and Methods**

# Plasmids

For the expression of His-dsRBM1 and His-dsRBM2, the DNA fragments corresponding to rat dsRBM1 (74-147) and dsRBM2 (231-301) were PCR amplified from pEGFP-ADAR2b plasmid by specific primers (VU990, VU991 for dsRBM1; VU1024, VU1092 for dsRBM2) to introduce NdeI and BamHI restriction sites for in-frame subcloning into pET16b expression vector (Novagen). The dsRBM1/2 cDNA was cloned into pET30-GBFusion1 vector yielding N-terminal GB1-tagged and C-terminal His-tagged construct of GB1-dsRBD1/2. A 116 bp fragment containing a portion of the mouse GluR-2 gene with the complete R/G duplex was amplified from mouse genomic DNA using sense (VU682) and antisense (VU683) primers and subcloned into pBSKII<sup>-</sup> (Stratagene). Alterations in the sequence for the R/G stem-loop (GCUCUA, GCAA, GCACA) were made by PCR-based mutagenesis from the wild-type R/G stem-loop construct using the same antisense primer (VU1239) and individual sense primers (VU1245, VU1244, VU1238).

## Recombinant protein expression and purification

His-dsRBM proteins were expressed in BL21 (DE3) *E.coli*, and cells were grown at 37°C in minimal medium (2L) containing [ $^{13}C_6$ ] glucose and  $^{15}NH_4CI$  to OD<sub>600</sub>=0.8. After induction with 0.1mM IPTG for 7.5 hours at 30 °C, the His-dsRBM proteins were purified under natural condition using TALON resin.

The protein elution was subjected to dialysis to remove imidazole, followed by centrifugal concentration using MILLIPORE UFV2BCC10 system. BL21 expressing GB1-dsRBM1/2 were grown at 37 °C in minimal medium (0.5L) to OD<sub>600</sub>=1. After 1mM IPTG induction, the protein was purified under denaturating conditions and refolded into native buffer on Ni-NTA affinity column. All proteins are concentrated to more than 0.8mM in 50mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH=8) containing 200mM NaCI.

# Cell culture and protein preparation for in vitro editing assay

Human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cells (American Type Culture Collection) were maintained in AMEM (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), and supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) bovine calf serum (HyClone, Logan, UT).

HEK293 cells (about 50% confluent in 100mm culture dish) were transiently transfected by calcium phosphate coprecipitation with 8 µg of plasmid encoding wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins as previously described (Rueter *et al.*, 1999).

### RNA preparation for in vitro RNA editing assay

The plasmids containing wild-type and mutant R/G stem-loop were all linearized with BamHI, transcribed in vitro using T3 RNA polymerase (Promega) and the resultant RNAs were subjected to digestion with RQ1 DNase (Promega) to remove the template DNA. For synthesis of the R/G stem (no loop) RNA, two strands were synthesized separately as follows: a 247 bp fragment was amplified

by PCR from the wild-type R/G stem-loop construct, using sense (VU1265) and antisense (VU1264) primers, to serve as a template for in vitro transcription of the first RNA strand, followed by digestion with RQ1 DNase. The second, synthetic RNA strand (VU1272) was obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The first and second strands were hybridized together at a 1:10 ratio in RNA annealing buffer incubating at 85°C for 10mins, followed by slow cooling to room temperature (Dawson *et al.*, 2004).

# In vitro editing assay and quantification of R/G site editing

Analyses of editing activity for equivalent amounts of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins (1:90 dilution for wilt-type protein) on each RNA substrate were performed for 30mins. For quantification of RNA editing, the in vitro reaction product was subject to RT-PCR amplification using sense (VU682) and antisense (VU1264) primers, followed by primer-extension analysis as described previously (Dawson *et al.*, 2004).

### More materials and methods

RNA preparation for NMR, NMR spectroscopy, structural calculations, model for RNA binding, uses of structure/sequence databases and sequence alignment, light scattering experiment, coordination and NMR restraints were performed by Dr. Richard Stefl in ETH, Switzerland, and have been described extensively in the paper (Stefl et al., 2006).

#### Results

## ADAR2 dsRBMs are independent domains

We investigated the N-terminal region of rat ADAR2 (74-301) that includes the dsRBM1 (74-147), the interdomain linker (148-230) and dsRBM2 (231-301) using NMR spectroscopy. This protein construct was amino-terminally fused with non-cleavable solubility-enhancement tag, GB1, to improve its expression and solubility (Stefl et al., 2005b; Zhou et al., 2001). GB1-dsRBM1/2 and two isolated His-tagged dsRBMs, His-dsRBM1 and His-dsRBM2, were expressed in *E.coli* and purified to homogenerity (Figure 15). 0.8~1 mM of purified protein samples were used to generate the NMR spectra. The comparison between the spectrum of GB1-dsRBM1/2 and the spectra of His-dsRBM1 and His-dsRBM2 shows that the dsRBMs are identical in both contexts, except for a few N- and C-terminal residues. This comparison also indicates that the interdomain linker is flexible. In addition, when the isolated dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 were mixed in trans, the spectrum showed no change compared to the two spectra of the isolated domains. These results indicate that the ADAR2 dsRBMs are independent domains separated by a flexible linker, similar to the two dsRBMs of PKR (Nanduri et al., 1998). Thus, we used separate dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 constructs to determine their structures by NMR.



**Figure 15. Purification of His-dsRBM1 and His-dsRBM2 protein to homogenerity.** Aliquots of flow through (FT) or elutions of the proteins from TALON beads by increasing concentration of imidazole were loaded on 4-20% gradient gel for SDS-PAGE, followed by silver staining analysis.

## ADAR2 dsRBMs structures are not identical

Both ADAR2 dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 structures adopt the same fold as all other members of the dsRBM family, with an  $\alpha\beta\beta\beta\alpha$  topology in which the two  $\alpha$ -helices are packed along a face of a three-stranded anti-parallel  $\beta$ -sheet (Figure 16). A central hydrophobic core stabilizes the fold of the domain. Although the two dsRBMs of ADAR2 have 50% amino acid identity, the two structures differ slightly in the orientation of  $\alpha$ -helix 1 relative to the other secondary structure elements. This altered orientation is a result of a protein sequence difference in two amino acids at the C-terminus of  $\alpha$ -helix 2 where Phe 142 and Val 143 in dsRBM1 are replaced by Val 296 and Phe 297 in dsRBM2. Phe 297, compared to Val 143, is more bulky leading to a different interaction between the two  $\alpha$ -helices (Figure 16, blue in dsRBM2). We found another difference between the two dsRBMs in the conformation of the  $\beta$ 1- $\beta$ 2 loop. The  $\beta$ 1- $\beta$ 2 loop of dsRBM1 is well defined, whereas the  $\beta 1 - \beta 2$  loop of dsRBM2 is conformationally heterogeneous, which is probably due to the presence of two prolines in dsRBM1, not found in dsRBM2. Flexible  $\beta 1 - \beta 2$  loops were also observed in other dsRBM structures (Leulliot et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000). Altogether, the longer  $\alpha$ -helix 1 and the conformationally preorganized  $\beta 1-\beta 2$  loop of dsRBM1 might be an important factor for ADAR2 RNA-recognition.

## Mapping of RNA-binding surface on the ADAR2 dsRBMs

To investigate how ADAR2 dsRBMs bind RNA, we performed an NMR chemical shift perturbation study (looking for changes in NMR spectrum upon





RNA binding) with a 71 nt R/G stem-loop RNA (Figure 17A). This RNA is a 33 bp helix containing three mismatches (two A·C and one G·G) that is capped by a structured pentaloop (Stefl and Allain, 2005). A8 of this RNA can be specifically edited (up to 74 %) by ADAR2 in vitro, but if the mismatches are replaced by Watson-Crick base-pairs the editing efficiency is reduced substantially (Kallman et al., 2003; Ohman et al., 2000).

First we studied the interaction between GB1-dsRBM1/2 and the 71 nt R/G stem-loop. Upon RNA titration up to an equimolar ratio, significant changes were observed. However, we could not map the RNA-binding residues using this 55 kD GB1-dsRBM1/2·R/G stem-loop complex due to low signal/noise ratio. As the dsRBMs are independent in the free form, we presumed that they could have different binding sites on the R/G stem-loop. Therefore, we used two truncations of the R/G stem-loop, a 52 nt "stem" and a 41 nt "loop". We prepared four complexes (the two truncated RNAs bound to each dsRBMs) and measured the spectrum. The spectra of dsRBM1-loop and dsRBM2-stem complexes were virtually identical to the one of full-length complex. These observations indicate that the dsRBMs are bound in the same manner in these two subcomplexes and in the full-length complex (GB1-dsRBM1/2 bound to the R/G stem-loop). The two dsRBMs of ADAR2 bind two distinct locations on the R/G stem-loop, dsRBM1 binding close to the pentaloop and dsRBM2 close to the editing site. The NMR data of the reciprocal complexes (dsRBM2-loop and dsRBM1-stem complexes) indicated that such subcomplexes are formed; however their spectra do not resemble the one observed in the full-length complex. These observations



**Figure 17. The structure and protein binding surface of R/G stem-loop.** (A) The predicted secondary structure of R/G stem-loop, a 71 nt stem-loop that includes the 67 nt of the rat GluR-2 mRNA stem-loop and is closed by two GC base pairs to improve the yield from in vitro transcription. (B) Chemical shift changes upon proteins binding mapped to NMR model of R/G stem-loop. The nucleotides in red and green are affected upon dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 binding, respectively.

confirmed the relative position of the dsRBMs on the full length R/G stem-loop, yet more surprisingly indicated that the binding of both dsRBMs is specific.

In both dsRBMs, the largest changes between the free and the bound forms were observed in  $\alpha$ -helix 1 and the  $\beta1-\beta2$  loop. In addition, changes were also observed for the  $\beta3-\alpha2$  loop and the N-terminus of  $\alpha$ -helix 2 of dsRBM1, whereas no large changes were observed for the dsRBM2 in these two regions. These results are surprising since these regions of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 are similar in sequence with the presence of three conserved lysines. Taken together, the patterns of chemical shift perturbations indicate that the protein-RNA interactions are different between dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 reflecting the structural differences already observed in the free dsRBMs structures. The RNA-binding surfaces of ADAR2 dsRBM1 and dsRBM2, although not identical, are similar to the ones observed in other dsRBMs·RNA complexes (Blaszczyk et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000; Ryter and Schultz, 1998; Wu et al., 2004).

# Mapping of protein-binding surface on the R/G stem-loop

To investigate the protein-binding surface, the NMR spectrum of the 71 nt R/G stem-loop were measured. The NMR data showed the presence of a G22·G50 mismatch and two "open" A·C mismatches (A8·C64 and A18·C54). Based on these data together with our NMR structure of the central pentaloop region of human R/G stem-loop (Stefl and Allain, 2005), we built a structural model of the rat 71 nt R/G stem-loop (Figure 17B). Upon protein binding to the 71 nt R/G stem-loop, no significant changes of the spectrum were observed, indicating that

no changes in the RNA secondary structure take place upon complex formation. In the two subcomplexes of dsRBM1-loop and dsRBM2-stem, a precise chemical shift perturbations study upon protein binding was done. In the course of the protein titrations, the spectra move from their initial positions, corresponding to the free form, in a stepwise directional manner until they reached their final positions that correspond to the fully bound state. These data indicates that in both subcomplexes, the RNAs are in fast exchange between their free and bound forms relative to the NMR time scale. The binding of dsRBM1 to the loop RNA induces a significant change of C37 and U40, and the binding of dsRBM2 to the stem RNA causes changes of C54, C55, C56, C63, C64, and U65, where C54 and C64 experience the largest changes (Figure 17B). These data strongly suggest that the above-mentioned RNA bases are interacting with the proteins upon protein binding.

### NMR model of ADAR2 dsRBM1/2 in complex with R/G stem-loop

To understand the basic principles of this recognition, we constructed a model of ADAR2 dsRBMs in complex with the 71 nt R/G stem-loop based on our precise NMR identification of both the protein and RNA interaction surfaces and on the knowledge of the basic structural elements controlling dsRBMs·RNA recognition (Stefl *et al.*, 2005a). The NMR model with the lowest energy of the ADAR2 dsRBM1/2·R/G stem-loop complex is shown (Figure 18). In a similar manner to what was observed for Rnt1p dsRBM·AGNN tetraloop-containing RNA complex (Wu *et al.*, 2004), the dsRBM1 contacts the minor groove of GCUCA pentaloop



Figure 18. Model for the interaction between ADAR2 dsRBMs and R/G RNA duplex. (A) Overall NMR model of ADAR2 dsRBM1/2 in complex with R/G stem-loop. (B) dsRBM1 (in red) interacts with the central part of the R/G stem-loop:  $\alpha$  -helix 1 contacts the pentaloop and adjacent G·U base-pair. (C) dsRBM2 interacts with bulged cytosines, opposite the editing site. K127 and K281, residues mutated to alanine in our later functional studies, are shown in magenta and pink, respectively. (D) Overall NMR model (top view).

and the adjacent G·U mismatch of the central region of R/G stem-loop with the  $\alpha$ -helix 1. The dsRBM2 interacts with the bulged C54 and C64 opposite to the editing site. Among the dsRBM·dsRNA complexes determined to date, the interaction of ADAR2 dsRBM2 is unique since dsRBM2 appears to recognize two bulged cytosines.

#### Both dsRBMs are important for efficient editing of the R/G site

To investigate whether both ADAR2 dsRBM-RNA interactions are important for ADAR2-mediated editing of the R/G site, either dsRBM1 or dsRBM2 were deleted from an eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein (Figure 19), which has been previously shown to have a comparable enzymatic activity to wild-type ADAR2 protein (Sansam et al., 2003). We took advantage of an in vitro editing system using the R/G editing substrate and wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 proteins in HEK293 nuclear extracts. Preliminary time course analyses with wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 protein were used to define the linear range of the in vitro editing reaction and equivalent amounts of wild-type and mutant proteins, as determined by quantitative Western blotting, were incubated with an in vitro transcribed R/G editing substrate (Dawson et al., 2004). Nuclear extracts from eGFP transfected cells defined background editing levels for the in vitro system, while the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 protein demonstrated robust editing of the R/G site (Figure 19). Deletion of either dsRBM1 or dsRBM2 dramatically decreased the editing on R/G site by 3-10 fold, while deletion of both dsRBMs (eGFP-ΔdsRBM1/2) completely eliminated A-to-I conversion at the R/G site. In addition, simultaneous mutations



**Figure 19. The importance of dsRBMs for R/G site editing.** Both dsRBMs are required for R/G site editing. The domain structures of wild-type and mutant proteins used for this analysis are shown on the top. Bottom, quantitative analysis of RNA editing for the R/G site from in vitro editing analyses with wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion constructs (mean $\pm$ SEM; n=5); \*\*\*, p<0.001 compared to wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 using Student's t-test.

of the two highly conserved K127 (dsRBM1) and K281 (dsRBM2) displayed significantly lower editing activity at the R/G site further confirming the importance of RNA binding of both domains for editing, as both side chains are predicted in our NMR-model to interact with the sugar-phosphate backbone (Figure 18).

## Functional importance of R/G stem-loop secondary structure

Our NMR study shows that both dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 bind specific region of the R/G stem-loop, dsRBM1 binding near the pentaloop and dsRBM2 binding the stem with two A•C mismatches in the neighborhood of the R/G editing site (Figure 18). The functional importance of the A•C mismatches was previously shown as their replacement by Watson-Crick base-pairs decreases the editing from 74% to 41% (Ohman et al., 2000) and its selectivity for the R/G site from 80% to 30% (Kallman et al., 2003). To assess the functional importance of the pentaloop, we created several mutants in the loop region of the R/G stem-loop (Figure 20) and assayed them for editing activity at the R/G site in vitro. These mutants include a variation in the GCUCA pentaloop sequence (GCACA; a single mutation that changes the fold of the loop) (Stefl and Allain, 2005) and variations in the loop size (GCAA tetraloop and GCUCUA hexaloop). All these mutants display lower editing efficiency at the R/G site compared to the wildtype (Figure 20), indicating that the pentaloop sequence GCUCA and its specific structure is a functional determinant of the editing at the R/G site. In addition, an R/G stem-loop mutant lacking the entire GCUCA pentaloop (R/G stem) has also lower editing activity at the R/G site. Altogether, changes in the sequence or in the size of pentaloop that





leads to a different pentaloop topology result in lower editing efficiency at the R/G site, indicating the functional importance of the pentaloop structure (Stefl and Allain, 2005)

#### Discussion

# Structure of ADAR2 dsRBMs

In comparison to other dsRBMs, ADAR2 dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 differ from the canonical dsRBM fold like the ones of XIrbpa2 (Ryter and Schultz, 1998) and *Aquifex aeolicus* RNase III (Blaszczyk *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, ADAR2 dsRBM1 resembles the dsRBM of Rnt1p (Leulliot *et al.*, 2004) albeit it lacks the  $\alpha$ -helix 3, an additional element that imposes the conformation of the "recognition"  $\alpha$ -helix 1 in the dsRBM of Rnt1p. ADAR2 dsRBM2 appears to be unique among other members of the dsRBM family. This structural difference in the relative orientation of the  $\alpha$ -helix 1 may be functionally important as it may be a key element that modulates the RNA-binding specificity of dsRBMs (see below) (Ramos et al., 2000; Stefl et al., 2005a; Wu et al., 2004).

## ADAR2 dsRBMs specifically recognize the R/G stem-loop

With dsRBM-containing proteins, questions regarding binding specificities have always been difficult to answer as this abundant RNA binding domain is considered to bind any dsRNA in a non-sequence specific manner. Structures of single dsRBM in complex with dsRNA indeed revealed that dsRBMs are not

sequence-specific RNA binders but raised the question of whether dsRBMs would rather recognize certain RNA-structures, like stem-loops or irregular duplexes (Ramos et al., 2000; Stefl et al., 2005a; Wu et al., 2004). Our extensive binding study of ADAR2 dsRBMs with the GluR-2 R/G stem-loop and our structural model extends further our understanding of how ADAR2 dsRBMs recognize their targets and more generally how dsRBMs recognize RNA.

Double-stranded RNA binding motifs (dsRBMs) are often present in multiple non identical copies in proteins. In studying the two dsRBMs of ADAR2, we provide one of the first structural studies on how two domains work together. Surprisingly, although both dsRBM are essential for efficient RNA editing, they apparently bind the RNA independently as the interdomain linker (147-231) that bridges the dsRBMs of ADAR2 is found unstructured in both the free and bound forms of the protein and does not appear to participate in the interaction with the R/G stem-loop. Another surprising result is that both dsRBMs are bound in a well-defined location on the R/G stem-loop (dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 close to the pentaloop and the editing site, respectively), indicating that ADAR2 dsRBMs recognize this RNA substrate by themselves without the deaminase domain. This specific binding apparently originates from dsRBM2 that prefer an RNA duplex containing mismatches over a regular A-form duplex or a stem-loop, and from dsRBM1 that prefers a stem-loop over a regular duplex. The binding preference of ADAR2 dsRBM1 for a stem-loop containing a stable GCU(A/C)A pentaloop is reminiscent of Rnt1p dsRBM structure-specific recognition of AGNN tetraloop (Wu et al., 2004) and to Staufen dsRBM3 bound to a stem-loop capped by a

UUCG tetraloop (Ramos *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, all three dsRBMs have similar structures especially regarding the position of  $\alpha$ -helix1. This suggests that dsRBMs binding preference for stem-loop over regular RNA duplexes might be more general than previously expected. In contrast, dsRBM2 favors RNA duplex substrates that contain mismatches and more particularly here two cytosines involved in A·C mismatches. Although we cannot tell if this recognition is base-specific or structure-specific (the backbone deformation around the A·C mismatch), this is the first structural indication that some dsRBMs specifically recognize RNA mismatches.

Deletion of dsRBM1 from ADAR2 decreased the editing of R/G site by 3-fold, and deletion of dsRBM2 decreased the editing of R/G site by 10-fold. This highlights the importance of dsRBM2 and its exclusive binding to an RNA helix containing two A·C mismatches separated by ten base-pairs adjacent to the R/G site. The essential role of dsRBM2 interaction with A·C mismatches are consistent with several biochemical experiments showing that ADAR2 forms multiple non-specific complexes when bound to the R/G stem-loop lacking mismatches, resulting in a dramatically reduced editing efficiency and selectivity at the R/G site (Kallman et al., 2003; Ohman et al., 2000). The binding of dsRBM1 to the stem-loop region that contains structured GCUCA pentaloop is also important as the variations in the loop sequence and size have effect on editing efficiency. This interaction is likely to contribute to the overall binding affinity (Macbeth *et al.*, 2004). In conclusion, this structural study suggests that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 appear to recognize preferentially certain structural elements (the stem-loop and

the mismatches) of the R/G stem-loop, explaining why the secondary structure of the R/G stem-loop is very well conserved (Aruscavage and Bass, 2000).

# Implication for ADAR editing

Our structural study of the ADAR2 dsRBMs demonstrates that dsRBMs can specifically recognize certain secondary structure elements of the R/G stem-loop, a natural ADAR2 substrate encoding the 2-subunit of the AMPA-subtype of glutamate receptor. These observations indicate that the R/G stem-loop recognition by the ADAR2 dsRBMs is an important determinant for directing the enzyme to the R/G editing site. How is this related to other editing sites? Recent bioinformatics analyses have predicted more than 12,000 new A-to-I editing sites, located predominantly in Alu repetitive elements in the human transcriptome (Athanasiadis et al., 2004; Blow et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2004). These analyses showed that A-to-I editing is clearly more frequent at adenosines involved in A·C mismatches than at any other mismatches or base-pairs. These findings correlate well with the binding preferences of ADAR2 dsRBM2 observed in our study and suggests that the dsRBM2 of ADAR2 may play a more general role in A-to-I editing site selection that previously expected. Of course, not all A C mismatches are edited by ADAR2 indicating that dsRBM2 is not the only determinant for the specificity of A-to-I conversion. Our data showed that the dsRBM1 prefers to bind irregular RNA elements like stem-loops or non-Watson-Crick base-pairs over regular RNA duplexes (in contrast to the dsRBM2 that binds mismatches but not loop regions). The dsRBM1 of ADAR2

may serve to anchor the protein on long irregular RNA, consistent with the observation that most A-to-I editing sites are embedded within irregular RNA duplexes.

# **CHAPTER IV**

# DIFFERENTIAL ROLES OF DSRBMS IN REGULATING ADAR2 FUNCTION

#### Introduction

A-to-I RNA editing is mediated by a family of deaminases known as ADARs (Bass *et al.*, 1997). ADAR1 and ADAR2 can catalyze the hydrolytic deamination of multiple sites in synthetic dsRNAs, or mediate the site-specific modification of naturally-occurring viral and cellular mRNA transcripts (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001).

ADAR2 is responsible for the majority of the codon-altering A-to-I editing events. It displays a modular organization with two tandem dsRBMs connected by a flexible linker in the amino-terminal region and a conserved adenosine deaminase domain at the carboxyl-terminus (Macbeth et al., 2005; Stefl et al., 2006). The two dsRBMs of ADAR2, with >80% amino acid sequence similarity, adopt the same fold as all other members of the dsRBM family, although the two domains differ slightly from one another in the orientation of  $\alpha$ 1 helix relative to the other secondary structural elements (Stefl et al., 2006). Like other dsRBM-containing proteins, ADAR2 demonstrates a high affinity for dsRNA, and can edit up to 50% of the adenosine moieties in perfect dsRNA (Cho et al., 2003; Dawson et al., 2004; Lehmann and Bass, 2000; Liu et al., 1999). However, ADAR2 can also demonstrate site-specific A-to-I conversion in mRNA transcripts (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001), providing a paradox by which such

specificity can be achieved in the absence of sequence-specific dsRBM-RNA contacts. Recent studies have indicated that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 bind selectively to imperfect RNA duplexes in a manner distinct from that of an PKR-derived dsRBM, suggesting that individual dsRBMs possess intrinsic binding selectivity that influence substrate specificity for the parent protein (Stephens *et al.*, 2004).

In addition to their role(s) in substrate recognition, the dsRBMs of ADAR2 also have been shown to be critical for the nucleolar localization, representing an important mechanism by which RNA editing can be modulated by the sequestration of enzymatic activity from RNA substrates in the nucleoplasm (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003).

The sequence similarity and conserved tertiary structures of two dsRBMs in ADAR2 have raised questions regarding the role(s) that each dsRBM plays in ADAR2 function. In this study, by deleting or introducing point mutations in each dsRBM, we demonstrated that each dsRBM plays a differential role in both the site-selective RNA editing, as well as in the localization of ADAR2 to the nucleolus. The observation of substrate-dependent contributions of dsRBM to ADAR2 editing activity is consistent with a molecular mechanism by which the dsRBMs interact with distinct structural determinants on different target mRNAs and thus contribute to the editing specificity.

### **Materials and Methods**

## Plasmids

To generate fusion constructs encoding eGFP-ADAR2, the rat ADAR2b cDNA (Genbank accession # NM\_012894) was subcloned into pEGFP-C1 (Clontech) as previously described (Sansam *et al.*, 2003). Mutation of lysine to alanine at positions 127 and 281 of the open reading frame was performed by PCR-mediated overlap extension (Warrens *et al.*, 1997), using primer sets as follows: VU1127, VU777, VU778 and VU1128 for K127A; VU1127 and VU776 for K281A; VU1127, VU777, VU778 and VU776 for K127A, K281A. Construction of eGFP-ΔdsRBM mutants was performed using the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 plasmid as a template for "run-around" PCR (Coolidge and Patton, 1995) to delete amino acids 76-148 (ΔdsRBM1 with VU1190 and VU1191), 230-301 (ΔdsRBM2 with VU1192 and VU1193) and 76-301 (ΔdsRBM1/2 with VU1191 and VU1192) from the ADAR2b open reading frame.

Plasmids expressing eYFP-dsRBM fusion proteins were constructed by PCR amplification of a region of the ADAR2b open reading frame encoding dsRBM1 or dsRBM2, corresponding to amino acids 74-147 (VU853 and VU991) or 231-301 (VU1024 and VU1092), respectively, and subcloned into pEYFP-C1 (Clontech).

Construction of plasmids encoding eGFP-ADAR2b isoforms with tandem copies of a single dsRBM was performed using PCR-mediated mutagenesis to delete the region encoding dsRBM2 (234-300, run-around PCR with VU1247 and VU1248) and replace it with amino acids 73-146 (VU1246 and VU1249)

(dsRBM1/1) or by deleting the region encoding dsRBM1 (76-148, run-around PCR with VU1190 and VU1191) and replacing it with amino acids 231-301 (VU1220 and VU1221) (dsRBM2/2). For the dsRBM1/1 plasmid, a single amino acid change was introduced (L301V relative to the wild-type ADAR2b sequence) from subcloning dsRBM1 into the position initially occupied by dsRBM2. The construction of dsRBM2/1 plasmid is the same with that of dsRBM1/1 except for using pEGFP-ADAR2-dsRBM2/2 as the template.

Nucleolin cDNA was amplified by PCR with sense (VU1072) and antisense (VU1073) primers using pSport6-nucleolin (Open Biosystems) as a template and introduced EcoRI and BgIII restriction sites, and were used for subsequent subcloning into the pEYFP-C1 vector (Clontech).

Construction of the GluR-2 (R/G site) mini-gene for transfection analysis was made by PCR amplification of mouse genomic DNA with sense (VU1209) and antisense (VU1210) primers to introduce HindIII and Xbal restriction sites for the subcloning into pRC/CMV2 (Invitrogen).

### Cell culture and transfection

Human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cells and NIH/3T3 mouse fibroblasts (American Type Culture Collection) were maintained in AMEM and DMEM (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), respectively, and supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) bovine calf serum (HyClone, Logan, UT).

HEK293 cells (about 50% confluent in 100mm culture dish) were transiently transfected by calcium phosphate coprecipitation with 8 µg of plasmid encoding

wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins and 2 µg of either a mouse GluR-2 (R/G site) or rat ADAR2 (-1 site) mini-gene reporter plasmid, as previously described (Rueter *et al.*, 1999). For preparing the nuclear extracts used in vitro editing assay, 8 µg of plasmid encoding wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins was transfected using similar method.

For analysis of subnuclear fluorescence of dsRBM point mutation or deletion constructs, NIH/3T3 cells were plated on 35 mm glass bottom MatTek dishes (MatTek Corp.) and transiently transfected (when 50% confluent) with 1µg of plasmids encoding wild-type or mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins and 1µg of the eYFP-nucleolin plasmid using Fugene 6, according to the manufacturer's instruction (Boehringer Mannheim). For eYFP-dsRBM and eGFP-ADAR2 mutants with tandem dsRBMs, only 1µg of each plasmid is transiently transfected.

## Quantitative fluorescence microscopy

Twenty-four hours after transfection, the subcelluar localization of eGFP and eYFP fusion proteins was determined by multi-spectral confocal microscopy (LSM510 Meta, Carl Zeiss Inc); eGFP and eYFP signals were simultaneously excited at 488 nm and the total fluorescence emission in the range of 510-628 nm was passed through a spectral grating and discriminated with 10.7 nm resolution using a multi-anode (multi-channel) array detector. Multi-channel signals for eGFP-only and eYFP-only samples were recorded and subsequently used as reference "signatures" to apply with a linear unmixing algorithm (Zimmermann *et al.*, 2003) for clear discrimination of both fluorophores when mixed in the same
specimen. All images were acquired using a 40x/1.3 Plan Neofluar objective lens. Average nucleolar eGFP fluorescence intensity (Fn) was defined as the eGFP signal overlapping with eYFP-nucleolin and was compared to the average eGFP fluorescence intensity from a comparable area of the nucleoplasm (Fo) using the Image J image analysis software (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/ ; National Institute of Mental Health, Bethesda, Maryland). For eYFP-dsRBM or eGFP-ADAR2 mutants with tandem dsRBMs, the eYFP or eGFP fluorescence images were acquired using the appropriate filters. The relative positions of nucleolus and nucleoplasm were determined based on the cell shape.

### Quantitative analysis of editing on transfected ADAR substrates

Total RNA was isolated from HEK293 cells, 60 hours after transient transfection, using TRI Reagent (Molecular Research Center, Inc.). First-strand cDNA was synthesized using AMV reverse transcriptase (Promega) with minigene-specific primers for ADAR2 -1 site (VU343) and GluR-2 R/G site (VU683) using 5 µg of total RNA.

To quantify the relative expression of ADAR2 mRNA splice variants resulting from editing at the -1 site, the ADAR2 cDNA was amplified by PCR with a 6-carboxyfluorescein (6-FAM) labeled sense primer (VU1201) and a non-labeled antisense primer (VU343). Amplicons corresponding to alternatively spliced ADAR2 variants were resolved by 2.5% agarose gel electrophesis, and quantified by phosphorimager analysis (Amersham Biosciences).

To quantify the editing on GluR-2 R/G site, the cDNA derived from the

mini-gene was PCR amplified by primer set: VU682 and VU683. The amplicons were used to was perform a modified primer-extension analysis, as described previously (Dawson *et al.*, 2004).

# Western blotting analysis

Crude nuclear extracts were prepared from HEK293 cells, 60 hours after transient transfection, as previously described (Schreiber *et al.*, 1989) and diluted with dialysis buffer to maintain enzymatic activity (30mM HEPES pH 7.6, 300mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 1mM EDTA, 0.5mM EGTA, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, 2mg/ml leupeptin, 0.1% aprotinin) (Rueter *et al.*, 1999). Equivalent volumes for each protein sample were resolved by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (7.5-12% SDS-PAGE) and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond-C Super; Amersham Biosciences). The membrane was probed with an affinity-purified ADAR2-specific antiserum raised against amino acids 6-66 of the rat ADAR2 open-reading frame (Sansam *et al.*, 2003), detected with an Alexa Fluor 680-labeled donkey anti-sheep IgG secondary antibody (0.4ng/ml) and quantified using an Odyssey infrared imaging system (LI-COR Biotechnology).

## In vitro editing assay

The plasmids containing the editing substrate minigenes (Burns et al., 1997; Dawson et al., 2004; Rueter et al., 1995; Rueter et al., 1999) were linearized with restriction eyzymes, followed by in vitro transcription using the Megascript T7 transcription kit (Ambion) or T3 RNA polymerase (Promega) (Table 3). The

5
ite cut by transcription A
Xhol T7 Notl T3
l∕R BamHI T3 1∶3
VG EcoRI T3 1:27
D Xhol T7 1:30
-1 Mscl T7 1:30

sis.
analy
sion
exten
d primer (
ıg anı
editir
RNA
vitro
r in
s fo
condition
ental
experime
y of
Summary
Table 3.

template DNA was removed by RQ1 DNase treatment (Promega) and the concentration of the resultant RNAs was determined by UV absorbance spectrometry at 260 nm. The two strands of D79N dsRNA were transcribed in the presence of [ $\alpha$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP individually and hybridized, and the concentration was determined by scintillation spectrometry as described previously (Dawson *et al.*, 2004).

For preliminary studies (Figure 25), HEK293 nuclear extracts containing the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein were variably diluted for a time-course study to determine the linear range of enzymatic activity for each RNA substrate. 100 fmoles of each RNA substrate was incubated with nuclear extracts containing equivalent amounts of eGFP-ADAR2 protein at 30° C, in a total volume of 50 μl, for varying time periods and the reactions were terminated by freezing on dry ice.

Subsequent analyses of editing activity for equivalent amounts of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins were performed in the same system using the empirically determined conditions based on the time course study (Table 3).

## Quantitative analysis of in vitro RNA editing activity

Quantification of editing activity for  $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ -labeled D79N dsRNA was performed by thin-layer chromatography (Rueter *et al.*, 1995). 20 fmoles of the in vitro reaction products for other substrates were RT-PCR amplified and subjected to a modified primer-extension analysis, as described previously (Table 3) (Burns et al., 1997; Dawson et al., 2004; Feng et al., 2006; Rueter et al., 1995; Rueter et

al., 1999).

Some RT-PCR products were also used for bulk DNA sequencing to inspect multiple editing sites on the same transcript, with the template specific primers (VU3 for Q/R site, VU183 for D site, VU331 for -1 site).

### Results

#### Differential roles of dsRBMs in nucleolar localization

Previous analyses of ADAR2 subcellular localization have taken advantage of enzymatically active eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins to demonstrate rapid shuttling between the nucleolus and nucleoplasm, yet deletion of both dsRBMs, or the mutation of highly conserved lysine moieties ( $K^{127}$  and  $K^{281}$ ) in each dsRBM, results in the translocation of ADAR2 from the nucleolar to the nucleoplasmic compartment (Desterro et al., 2003; Sansam et al., 2003). To further examine the role of individual dsRBM in maintaining the steady-state nucleolar localization of ADAR2 in living cells, we employed multicolor fluorescence microscopy using a series of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants in transfected NIH/3T3 mouse fibroblasts (Figure 21), along with an eYFP-nucleolin fusion protein that was included to define the nucleolar compartment. The relative nucleolar localization of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 proteins was quantified by measuring the average fluorescence intensity of eGFP-ADAR2 that overlapped with the eYFP-nucleolin signal in nucleoli (Fn) compared to the average fluorescence intensity of eGFP-ADAR2 from a corresponding area of the nucleoplasm (Fo). Because eGFP and eYFP



**Figure 21. eGFP-ADAR2 fusion constructs for analysis of subnuclear localization and site-specific RNA editing.** A schematic diagram indicating the domain structures of eGFP, wild-type (eGFP-ADAR2) and mutant fusion proteins is presented showing deletion or mutation of the double-stranded RNA-binding motifs (dsRBMs). The positions of lysine-to-alanine (KA) mutations at positions 127 and 281 are indicated with asterisks and the coordinates for each deletion are indicated relative to the normal ADAR2 start codon. NLS, nuclear localization signal.

have strongly overlapping emission spectra, we applied a computational spectral separation technique to resolve the signals from each fluorophore (Zimmermann *et al.*, 2003). Transfection of eGFP alone resulted in a diffuse pattern of fluorescence in the cytoplasm and nucleus, with no preferential concentration in nucleoli, whereas the pattern of eYFP-nucleolin fluorescence was highly restricted to the nucleolar compartment (Figure 22A). The fluorescence pattern for cells co-transfected with both eGFP and eYFP-nucleolin was identical to that observed when each fluorophore was transfected independently, with little observable bleed through between the emission channels for these simultaneously excited fluorescent proteins (Figure 22A).

Transient expression of wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 in NIH/3T3 cells demonstrated the previously observed pattern of nucleolar localization (Fn/Fo = 13.8±2.4), and deletion of both dsRBM domains and the intervening 81 aa linker [ $\Delta$ dsRBM1/2 ( $\Delta$ 76-301)] produced the expected pattern of diffuse nuclear fluorescence (Figure 22A), suggesting that dsRNA-binding was required to maintain the steady-state localization of ADAR2 in nucleoli (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003). Expression of a mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein (K127A, K281A) containing substitutions for highly conserved amino acids in the loop between the  $\beta$ 3 and  $\alpha$ 2 regions for all dsRBMs (Tian *et al.*, 2004), resulted in a diffuse pattern of nuclear fluorescence nearly identical to the pattern observed when the region containing both dsRBMs was deleted from the fusion protein (Figure 22A). These results further demonstrate that the localization of ADAR2 depends upon its ability to bind dsRNA, since analogous mutations in PKR and





**Figure 22. Differential** contributions of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 to ADAR2 nucleolar localization. (A) Subcellular localization of ADAR2 and nucleolin was determined by fluorescence microscopy for eGFP-ADAR2 (green) and eYFP-nucleolin (red) in NIH/3T3 cells transiently expressing the indicated fusion protein(s). (B) eGFP fluorescence overlapping with eYFP-nucleolin in the nucleolus and eGFP fluorescence in the nucleoplasm was quantified using ImageJ image analysis software. The ratio of average fluorescence intensity for all nucleoli in a cell (Fn) to the average nucleoplasmic fluorescence intensity (Fo) is shown (n≥8 cells; mean±SEM; \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 compared to wild-type).

Staufen have been shown to ablate dsRNA binding activity (McMillan *et al.*, 1995; Ramos *et al.*, 2000). The expression of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants containing independent deletions of dsRBM1 [ $\Delta$ dsRBM1 ( $\Delta$ 76-148)] or dsRBM2 [ $\Delta$ dsRBM2 ( $\Delta$ 230-301)] also resulted in reduced nucleolar fluorescence for both fusion proteins (Figures 21, 22), indicating that both dsRBMs are essential for the normal steady-state localization of ADAR2 in nucleoli. The relative nucleolar fluorescence for the  $\Delta$ dsRBM1 mutant was significantly less than for the fusion protein lacking dsRBM2 (p<0.02), suggesting a greater role for dsRBM1 in the subnuclear compartmentalization of ADAR2. Further observation that independent substitutions of K<sup>127</sup> and K<sup>281</sup> decreased relative nucleolar fluorescence to the same extent (K127A and K281A), yet the magnitude of this effect was less than that observed for the dsRBM deletions (Figure 22), suggested that additional contacts between the dsRBMs and nucleolar dsRNA target(s) are required for normal nucleolar localization.

Since deletion or even subtle point mutations of ADAR2 dsRBMs could result in structural alterations that cause ADAR2 mislocalization, we also examined the subcellular localization of eYFP when expressed as a fusion protein with either dsRBM1 (aa 74-147) or dsRBM2 (aa 231-301) alone (Figure 23); the precise borders for each motif were based upon amino acid sequence homology to other dsRBM-containing proteins and the recently resolved NMR structure for these domains in ADAR2 (Fierro-Monti and Mathews, 2000; Stefl et al., 2006). Both eYFP-dsRBM1 and eYFP-dsRBM2 were localized to the cytoplasm and nucleus, presumably due to the absence of a nuclear localization signal and the passive



 $Fn/Fo = 2.7 \pm 0.2$ 

 $Fn/Fo = 1.4 \pm 0.1^{***}$ 

Figure 23. Ability of ADAR2 dsRBMs to localize eYFP to the nucleolus. A schematic diagram indicating the domain structures of eYFP-dsRBM1 and eYFP-dsRBM2 fusion proteins is presented; the coordinates of the dsRBM domain are indicated relative to the normal ADAR2 start codon. A representative micrograph of the subcellular localization of each fusion protein in NIH/3T3 cells is shown with corresponding Fn/Fo values (n $\geq$ 10 cells; mean $\pm$ SEM; \*\*\*, p<0.001)

diffusion of in these small fusion proteins (~40 kD) through the nuclear pore (Suntharalingam and Wente, 2003); however, eYFP-dsRBM1 was localized to nucleoli significantly better than eYFP-dsRBM2 (p<0.001; Figure 23), further confirming a non-equivalent role for these highly conserved domains in the maintenance of ADAR2 nucleolar localization.

#### Differential roles for dsRBM in site-selective editing

Given the differential effects that mutation or deletion of dsRBMs have on the nucleolar localization of ADAR2, it is unclear to what extent these domains also control the site-selective editing of ADAR2 substrates. To further examine the roles of individual dsRBMs, we employed a transiently transfected tissue culture model system in which a series of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants were assessed for their ability to catalyze site-selective A-to-I conversion in two well characterized ADAR2 targets, the -1 and R/G sites of ADAR2 and GluR-2 transcripts, respectively (Dawson et al., 2004; Lomeli et al., 1994; Rueter et al., 1999). HEK293 cells were chosen for this analysis as previous studies demonstrated a low level of endogenous editing activity in this cell line (Burns et al., 1997; Maas et al., 1996; Rueter et al., 1999).

Editing of the -1 site within ADAR2 pre-mRNAs represents a negative autoregulatory mechanism by which ADAR2 can modulate its own level of expression by generating a proximal 3'-splice site within intron 4 to direct the inclusion of an additional 47 nucleotides in the ADAR2 open reading-frame (Dawson et al., 2004; Feng et al., 2006; Rueter et al., 1999). As an indirect index

of -1 site editing, we quantified the relative abundance of minigne-derived ADAR2 splice variants, containing (+47) or lacking (-47) this alternatively spliced cassette, using an RT-PCR-based strategy with a 6-carboxyfluorescein (6-FAM) labeled sense PCR primer (Feng et al., 2006). Cotransfection of eGFP and the minigene resulted in sole expression of the -47 RNA isoform, indicative of the absence of -1 site editing, whereas coexpression of wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 generated the +47 isoform almost exclusively (Figure 24A). Deletion of dsRBM1 (ΔdsRBM1) or substitution of the conserved lysine in this domain (K127A) had little effect on the extent of editing-dependent alternative splicing, yet deletion of dsRBM2 ( $\Delta$ dsRBM2) or deletion of both dsRBMs ( $\Delta$ dsRBM1/2) completely ablated use of the proximal 3'-splice site. These results indicate that dsRBM1 is not required, while dsRBM2 is critical, for site-specific editing at the -1 site of ADAR2 pre-mRNA transcripts. Further substitution of a conserved lysine in dsRBM2 (K281A) or conserved lysines in both dsRBMs (K127A,K281A), reduced the extent of alternative splicing by 44-61%, indicating  $K^{281}$  contributes only partially to dsRBM2-dependent editing at the -1 site (Figure 24A). Similar analyses, using a minigene derived from the GluR-2 transcript, demonstrated that while deletion of dsRBM1 ( $\Delta$ dsRBM1) caused a 19% decrease in R/G site editing (p<0.01), deletion of dsRBM2 resulted in a 57% reduction of ADAR2 activity (p<0.001) (Figure 24B). These results were quite distinct from those observed for the -1 site, where dsRBM1 was completely dispensable and dsRBM2 was essential for A-to-I conversion (Figure 24A), demonstrating the differential roles that these dsRBMs play in the editing of specific sites.



absence (-47) of A-to-I editing, are indicated. Relative editing activity was normalized to the extent of alternative compared to wild-type). (B) Modified primer-extension analysis of GluR-2 (R/G) editing from HEK293 cells RNAs are shown. A summary of GluR-2 (R/G) editing activites for eGFP-ADAR2 mutants is shown with all values Quantitative analysis of ADAR2 alternative splicing is presented from HEK293 cells transiently co-transfected with a genomic ADAR2 minigene and eGFP-ADAR2 fusion constructs. The migration positions of RT-PCR amplicons generated from alternatively spliced ADAR2 transcripts, resulting from the presence (+47) or splicing (+47) observed for the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 fusion construct (n≥3, mean±SEM;\*\*\*p<0.001 The migration Figure 24. Differential roles for dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 on editing of transfected ADAR substrates. (A) positions for the primer (P) and primer-extension products corresponding to edited (E) and non-edited (NE) normalized to wild-type (eGFP-ADAR2) activity (n=4, mean±SEM; \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 compared to wildtransiently co-transfected with a GluR-2 (R/G) minigene and eGFP-ADAR2 fusion constructs. type)

### Substrate-specific contributions from each dsRBM

While preliminary transfection studies provided insights into distinct roles for ADAR2 dsRBMs in defining substrate-specific A-to-I conversion, this model system has a number of disadvantages for comparing the relative activities of different eGFP-ADAR2 mutants. These disadvantages include differences in the levels of expression for transfected fusion proteins and minigene-derived RNA substrates and the fact that such cellular RNA processing events do not necessarily occur in the linear range for ADAR2 enzymatic activity. In addition, previous studies have demonstrated that A-to-I conversion takes place in the nucleoplasm (Desterro et al., 2003; Raitskin et al., 2001; Rueter et al., 1999; Sansam et al., 2003) and that translocation of ADAR2 to the nucleoplasm results in increased editing activity (Sansam *et al.*, 2003), making comparisons of editing activity for mutations that simultaneously affect subnuclear accumulation and site-specific editing difficult to interpret.

To circumvent these problems, we employed an in vitro editing system using crude nuclear extracts from HEK293 cells transiently transfected with different eGFP-ADAR2 mutants. The relative protein level for wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 proteins in HEK293 nuclear extracts was determined by quantitative Western blotting analysis using an affinity-purified antiserum directed against amino acids 6-66 of wild-type ADAR2 (Figure 25) (Dawson et al., 2004; Sansam et al., 2003), and all proteins were diluted to achieve the same final concentration in the in vitro editing reaction. A band corresponding to the expected molecular weight for each eGFP-ADAR2 protein was observed, along



analysis of eGFP-ADAR2 fusion protein levels; partially degraded protein fragments are indicated with an asterisk. A determination of relative protein expression in each Figure 25. Quantification of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 protein levels in HEK293 nuclear extracts. A representative Western blot is presented for quantitative nuclear extract was performed in triplicate and normalized to the expression level for wild-type eGFP-ADAR2.

with a minor band representing a stable degradation product (Figure 25), and no signal was seen for mock-transfected HEK293 cells. In addition to the RNA substrates previously used for transfection studies (Figure 24), the in vitro analyses also took advantage of a variety of ADAR2 substrates that are distinct at the level of both nucleotide sequence and predicted RNA secondary structure (Dawson et al., 2004), including RNA targets containing the D-site of 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R transcripts (Burns et al., 1997), the Q/R site of GluR-2 RNAs (Higuchi et al., 1993; Sommer et al., 1991) and a perfect, synthetic dsRNA (D79N) derived from a portion of the α2A adrenergic receptor (Burns et al., 1997; Lakhlani et al., 1997). For each RNA editing substrate (100 fmoles), the amount of the eGFP-ADAR2 protein and the duration of the reaction were empirically determined to assure that all of the editing reactions were performed in the linear range of the assay (Figure 26). The extent of total inosine production for the perfect dsRNA was determined by thin-layer chromatography (Rueter et al., 1995) and site-specific editing of the remaining ADAR2 substrates was quantified using a modified primer-extension analysis (Dawson et al., 2004; Feng et al., 2006; Sansam et al., 2003).

Using crude nuclear extracts from mock-transfected HEK293 cells, only background levels of editing were observed for any of the RNA substrates (Figure 27), consistent with previous observations regarding the low level of endogenous editing activity in this cell line (Burns et al., 1997; Maas et al., 1996; Rueter et al., 1999; Schaub and Keller, 2002). Deletion of the region containing both dsRBM domains and the intervening linker ( $\Delta$ dsRBM1/2) reduced editing in all RNA targets to near background levels, as did deletion of dsRBM2 alone ( $\Delta$ dsRBM2),



**Figure 26.** In vitro time course analysis of site-specific editing for the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 protein. A time course analysis for eGFP-ADAR2 from HEK293 nuclear extracts was incubated with 100 fmol of in vitro transcribed ADAR substrates. (A) The extent of editing for the perfect dsRNA duplex (D79N) was determined by thin layer chromatography; the migration positions of adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP) and inosine 5'-monophosphate (IMP) are indicated. (B) Modified primer-extension analyses of editing are shown using in vitro reactions with eGFP-ADAR2 and RNA transcripts. The migration positions for the primer (P) and extension products corresponding to edited (E) and non-edited (NE) RNAs are shown.





demonstrating that dsRBM2 is essential for the editing of perfect dsRNAs as well as naturally occurring ADAR2 substrates containing imperfect inverted repeats. Interestingly, deletion of dsRBM1 ( $\Delta$ dsRBM1) decreased editing in a substrate-dependent fashion, as the extent of editing for GluR-2 (Q/R site) and 5-HT<sub>2c</sub>R (D-site) transcripts was less than 10% of that observed for wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 (Figure 27, 28), whereas editing of the remaining ADAR2 substrates was variably reduced by 30 to 70% (Figure 27, 28). These results not only show that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 are required for editing activity, but also demonstrate that the dependence upon dsRBM1 varies in a substrate-specific manner.

## Substrate-specific contributions from K<sup>281</sup>

Independent (K127A and K281A) or simultaneous (K127A, K281A) lysine substitutions also demonstrated differential effects on the various ADAR2 targets with the K281A mutation causing a modest decrease (13-25%) in the extent of editing for the perfect dsRNA (D79N) and the GluR-2 (R/G) transcript, while editing efficiency for the GluR-2 (Q/R), 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R (D) and ADAR2 (-1) sites was reduced by greater than 85% (Figure 27, 29B). The observation that dsRBM2 was critical for efficient editing of all targets examined, yet only a subset of these substrates was affected by the K281A mutation, demonstrates the differential role that specific amino acid residues in dsRBM2 play in site-specific adenosine deamination. By contrast with the substrate-dependent effect seen in K281A, the K127A mutation produced a minimal decrease in editing for all RNAs examined



Figure 28. Quantitative analysis of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 contributions to site-specific editing activity. For each substrate the relative activity is shown by normalizing mutant editing activity to the wildtype eGFP-ADAR2 editing activity after background subtraction. (mean $\pm$ SEM; n $\geq$ 3)



Figure 29. Quantitative analysis of  $K^{127}$  and  $K^{281}$  contributions to site-specific editing activity. (A) The positions of  $K^{127}$  and  $K^{281}$  within the structures of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 are shown. (B) For each RNA substrate, the relative activity for ADAR2 mutants is shown by normalizing mutant editing activity to the wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 value after background subtraction (mean±SEM; n≥3).

(Figure 29). As K<sup>127</sup> and K<sup>281</sup> share the same relative position in each dsRBM (Figure 29A), these results further demonstrate the differential role of each dsRBM in site-specific A-to-I editing.

### Function-dependent interchangeability of ADAR2 dsRBMs

The contribution of dsRBM1 to the site-selective editing of ADAR2 appears to be substrate-dependent, while dsRBM2 is critical for enzymatic activity with all substrates examined (Figure 28), despite the high degree of conservation at both the levels of amino acid sequence and protein structure (Tian et al., 2004). This functional inequality between dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 could result from subtle sequence or structural differences affecting RNA-protein interactions or the relative position of each motif in the ADAR2 protein. To determine if the unique properties of each dsRBM regarding site-specific editing and nucleolar localization are a function of their relative position, three additional eGFP-ADAR2 mutants (Figure 30A, 31A) containing tandem copies of either dsRBM1 (dsRBM1/1) or dsRBM2 (dsRBM2/2), or a mutant in which the positions of the dsRBMs were interchanged (dsRBM2/1), were used for in vitro editing analysis of the same five ADAR2 substrates. To assess the level of mutant eGFP-ADAR2 expression in crude nuclear extracts from HEK293 cells, quantitative Western blotting analysis was performed (as in Figure 26) to adjust the enzyme input to equivalent levels for the in vitro reaction (Figure 30B). If the properties of each dsRBM are dependent simply upon its relative position, replacement of either dsRBM with the alternate motif should maintain wild-type editing activity, yet such



**Figure 30. Lack of interchangeability between ADAR2 dsRBMs for editing activity.** (A) A schematic diagram is presented indicating the domain structure of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants containing two copies of dsRBM1 (eGFP-dsRBM1/1) or dsRBM2 (eGFP-dsRBM2/2). (B) Quantitative Western blot analysis of eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins in nuclear extracts prepared from transiently transfected HEK293 cells; the relative protein expression levels of eGFP-ADAR2 mutants, compared to wild-type eGFP-ADAR2, are indicated. (C) Quantitative analysis of in vitro editing activity for ADAR substrates using eGFP-dsRBM1/1 and eGFP-dsRBM2/2 mutants with all values normalized to wild-type (eGFP-ADAR2) activity (n=3, mean±SEM).



Figure 31. Analysis of eGFP-dsRBM2/1 function. (A) A schematic diagram showing the domain structure of mutant eGFP-ADAR2 whose dsRBMs are interchanged (eGFP-dsRBM2/1). (B) Quantitative analysis of subnuclear localization of eGFP-ADAR2 mutant constructs. The Fn/Fo value are shown (mean $\pm$ SEM; n $\geq$ 15;\*\*p<0.01 compared to wild-type). (C) Bulk sequence analysis of in vitro reaction products. Editing sites are indicated by arrows. At the editing site, the A peak represents non-edited RNA, while the G peak represents the edited RNA.

replacement mutations significantly reduced site-specific A-to-I conversion (Figure 30). Replacement of dsRBM2 with dsRBM1 (dsRBM1/1) resulted in a near complete loss of editing for all substrates examined, providing a pattern of activity that was quite similar to the dsRBM2 deletion mutant ( $\Delta$ dsRBM2). Similarly, replacement of dsRBM1 with dsRBM2 (dsRBM2/2) resulted in a pattern of editing that was nearly identical to protein lacking dsRBM1 ( $\Delta$ dsRBM1), suggesting that replacement of either RNA-binding motif was no better than deleting the domain. Consistent with these findings, an eGFP-ADAR2 mutant in which the positions of the dsRBMs were interchanged (dsRBM 2/1) also had negligible editing activity with any of the RNA substrates tested (Figure 29C). These results demonstrate that the differential properties of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 to site-selective editing are related to their unique sequences/structures rather than their relative positions within ADAR2.

To assess whether alterations in the identities of the dsRBMs also affected nucleolar accumulation of ADAR2, we used confocal microscopy to compare fluorescence intensity in nucleoli and the nucleoplasm (as in Figure 22) of wild-type eGFP-ADAR2 and the corresponding dsRBM1/1, dsRBM2/2 and dsRBM2/1 mutants. Although transposition or replacement of the dsRBMs significantly reduced site-specific editing on naturally-occurring ADAR2 substrates (Figure 30C, 31C), such changes had little effect on the extent of nucleolar localization (Figure 31B), suggesting that the precise nature of the dsRBM-RNA interactions associated with editing and localization were distinct.

#### Discussion

The recognition of double-stranded RNA is a key event for a variety of biological processes including the production of small interfering RNAs and microRNAs from hairpin precursors (Sontheimer and Carthew, 2005), the interferon-mediated antiviral response (Williams, 2001), and the deamination of specific adenosine moieties as a consequence of RNA editing (Bass, 2002; Emeson and Singh, 2001). A majority of the proteins involved in the recognition of duplex RNA contain multiple copies of a highly conserved 65-75 aa double-stranded RNA-binding motif, providing a molecular mechanism to facilitate the interaction of these proteins with their dsRNA targets (Carlson et al., 2003; Doyle and Jantsch, 2002; Fierro-Monti and Mathews, 2000; Tian et al., 2004). ADAR2 is a double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase that also contains two tandem copies of this highly conserved motif (Tian et al., 2004). To determine whether these highly similar dsRBMs play equivalent roles in the nucleolar localization of ADAR2 and their ability to promote the deamination of selective adenosine residues, we have examined the subcellular localization of a series of wild-type and mutant eGFP-ADAR2 fusion proteins and their ability to catalyze site-specific editing events on multiple ADAR2 substrates. Results from these analyses have demonstrated a functional inequality between the two highly conserved dsRBMs, where dsRBM1 tends to play a greater role in localizing ADAR2 to the nucleolus and dsRBM2 is critical for the editing of ADAR2 targets. The relative nucleolar localization of ADAR2 seems to depend primarily upon the number of functional dsRBMs present, while site-specific A-to-I conversion is also

strongly affected by the nature and the organization of the dsRBMs, indicating that each dsRBM possesses an intrinsic ability to recognize specific determinants in duplex RNAs. In addition, the contributions of dsRBM1 and K<sup>281</sup> to editing activity are substrate-dependent, consistent with previous findings that dsRBMs can specifically recognize distinct structural determinants on naturally-occurring ADAR2 targets (Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004).

#### dsRBMs and ADAR2 substrate specificity

ADAR2 has been shown to bind to perfect dsRNA regions and catalyze non-specific editing duplexes (Cho et al., 2003; Dawson et al., 2004; Lehmann and Bass, 2000; Liu et al., 1999), bind to specific editing sites (Ohman et al., 2000; Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004), or bind to other duplex regions with no productive A-to-I conversion (Klaue et al., 2003). All of these binding events contribute to macroscopic measurements of ADAR2 affinity for an RNA substrate but they do not necessarily contribute to specific editing (Klaue et al., 2003), thereby uncoupling binding affinity from site-selective editing. Consistent with these observations, previous studies have demonstrated that a mutation in dsRBM1 (K127A) decreased binding affinity to a GluR-2 (R/G site) substrate (Macbeth et al., 2004), yet this mutation had no effect on editing of the R/G site (Figure 29). Given the disparity between site-specific editing and dsRBM binding, we focused on dsRBM-RNA interactions related to site-selective editing, rather than ADAR2-substrate affinity, using both deletion and substitution analyses to compare the role(s) that each dsRBM plays in the editing of multiple ADAR2

substrates. While deletion analysis represents a common strategy for defining the functional relevance of specific domains within a protein, a caveat to this approach is the potential for mutant protein misfolding which can complicate interpretation of experimental results. To minimize this possibility, we defined each dsRBM deletion based upon the recently solved NMR structure of these domains in ADAR2 (Stefl et al., 2006). Previous analyses of the deaminase domain and individual dsRBMs have demonstrated that these regions can fold independently from one another (Macbeth et al., 2005; Stefl et al., 2006), arguing against the potential for broad alterations in ADAR2 protein topology resulting from the deletion of individual domains. Further evidence in support of this idea is the fact that nucleolar localization (Figure 22) and editing of the GluR-2 transcripts (R/G site) are only reduced by ~50% for the dsRBM2 mutant in transfected cells (Figure 24B). Similarly, the extent of editing for the dsRBM1 mutant protein is reduced in a substrate-dependent fashion (Figure 28), demonstrating that deletion of this domain does not simply alter structure to generate a non-functional protein.

Previous observations that dsRBMs bind to perfect dsRNA, in a sequence-independent manner (Blaszczyk et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000; Ryter and Schultz, 1998), have suggested that the dsRBMs of ADAR2 may recognize their RNA targets in a similar fashion. Consistent with this idea, ADAR2 has been shown to non-specifically deaminate adenosine moieties in a wide range of synthetic RNA duplexes (Cho et al., 2003; Dawson et al., 2004; Lehmann and Bass, 2000; Liu et al., 1999). However, the substrate-specific contribution of dsRBM1 to editing activity (Figure 28) not only indicates that this motif makes

specific contacts with imperfect dsRNA targets, but also suggests that each dsRBM can interact with different structural determinants on each naturally-occurring substrate. Further support for this model of ADAR2-RNA interaction has been provided by recent biochemical and NMR analyses demonstrating that both dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 can bind to unique structural determinants in different RNA targets encoding either the R/G or Q/R sites of GluR-2 transcripts (Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004).

How can the same dsRBMs in ADAR2 specifically recognize distinct sequence/structural determinants in multiple RNAs? Deletion analyses have demonstrated that dsRBM2 is critical for the editing of all RNA substrates examined, yet substitution (K281A) of a highly conserved lysine residue that resides on the RNA-binding surface of dsRBM2 only affects editing activity on a subset of these transcripts (Figure 28, 29). Using a substrate containing the Q/R site, the K281A mutation reduced editing to background levels, suggesting that  $K^{281}$  is a key residue mediating dsRBM2-RNA interactions. By contrast, the same mutation had little effect on editing of the R/G site (Figure 29), indicating that dsRBM2 may utilize distinct amino acid residues to contact different RNA targets. The lack of universal importance for K<sup>281</sup> has been further confirmed by NMR analysis where no chemical shift change in this residue was observed upon binding of a GluR-2 transcript containing the R/G site. If the ability of dsRBMs to utilize unique complements of amino acids to make specific RNA contacts is ubiquitous, this represents a powerful mechanism by which to achieve site-selective recognition for a broad range of potential targets. Although we

cannot eliminate other possible interpretations, such as K281A-mediated structural alterations that affect binding in a substrate-specific manner, this possibility is unlikely since the corresponding lysines in other dsRBMs have been shown to make direct contact with dsRNA (Ramos et al., 2000; Ryter and Schultz, 1998) and that analogous mutations in PKR and Staufen ablated dsRNA binding (McMillan *et al.*, 1995; Ramos *et al.*, 2000).

The distinct effects observed for the deletion of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 on editing activity (Figure 28) could result from the precise sequence/structure of each domain or their relative location within the ADAR2 protein. Replacement of dsRBM2 with dsRBM1 (dsRBM1/1) resulted in a near complete loss of editing for all substrates examined (Figure 6C), providing a pattern of activity that was quite similar to the dsRBM2 deletion mutant (ΔdsRBM2). Similarly, replacement of dsRBM1 with dsRBM2 (dsRBM2/2) resulted in a pattern of editing that was nearly identical to protein lacking dsRBM1 (ΔdsRBM1), indicating that functional differences in editing activity come from subtle sequence/structure difference between these motifs. The lack of interchangeability between these domains further suggests that the unique binding preferences of each dsRBM contribute to site-selective editing activity.

### dsRBMs and nucleolar localization

The steady-state accumulation of ADAR2 in nucleoli has been suggested to represent a regulatory mechanism by which to modulate editing activity at its site of action in the nucleoplasm (Desterro *et al.*, 2003; Sansam *et al.*, 2003). The

nucleolar localization of ADAR2 is dependent upon its dsRBMs and the presence of rRNA, suggesting that ADAR2 is targeted to the nucleolus by directly binding extended duplex regions in mature or pre-rRNA transcripts (Sansam et al., 2003). Several other dsRBM-containing proteins including ADAR1, PKR, Staufen, RNA helicase A, RNA helicase II/Gu and NF-kappaB repressing factor (NRF) have also been shown to accumulate in nucleoli (Desterro et al., 2003; Macchi et al., 2004; Niedick et al., 2004; Tian and Mathews, 2001; Valdez et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2004b), suggesting that dsRBM-mediated binding may serve as a general mechanism for nucleolar localization. Observations that deletion or mutation of either dsRBM can significantly affect the extent of nucleolar targeting (Figure 22) suggest that either both motifs are required for binding to specific dsRNA target(s) or that each motif binds to duplex RNAs that represent only a subset of the total nucleolar ADAR2 binding sites. Unlike the significant reductions in editing activity observed by replacement or interchange of the dsRBMs, such modifications had little effect on ADAR2 subnuclear localization (Figure 31B), suggesting that the nucleolar localization of ADAR2 results from a general dsRNA-binding activity for one or multiple nucleolar targets rather than the specific interactions required for site-selective adenosine deamination.

### The inequality of dsRBMs

The lack of obvious sequence requirements for the binding of dsRBM-containing proteins led to the initial conclusion that these motifs only confer general dsRNA-binding affinity with little sequence preference, yet most of

the data regarding this hypothesis focused upon model RNA substrates that contained a perfect RNA duplex (Blaszczyk et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2000; Ryter and Schultz, 1998). By contrast, more recent studies using naturally-occurring dsRNAs, formed by intramolecular base-pairing between imperfect, inverted repeats, have indicated that dsRBMs have unique functional properties based upon intrinsic binding preferences and affinities (Spanggord et al., 2002; Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004). While the common features of the dsRBMs provide them with a general ability to interact with extended RNA duplexes, the subtle differences in amino acid sequence and structure between these domains also allow individual motifs to play diverse, substrate-specific roles that ultimately define the function(s) of their parent proteins.

#### **CHAPTER V**

### **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Adenosine to inosine RNA editing is the most widespread RNA modification identified in animals. A-to-I editing has been shown to alter coding potential of the targeted RNA transcripts, generating protein isoforms with different functional properties, including GluR subunits, 5-HT<sub>2C</sub>R,  $K_v$ 1.1 and Drosophila dADAR (Burns et al., 1997; Hoopengardner et al., 2003; Keegan et al., 2005; Lomeli et al., 1994; Sommer et al., 1991). In addition, A-to-I conversion has also been demonstrated to change the splicing pattern of pre-mRNAs encoding ADAR2 and a non-receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase (Beghini et al., 2000; Rueter et al., 1999). Moreover, the studies from C. elegans and mammals have indicated that A-to-I editing may also intersect with the RNAi pathway and modulate microRNA biogenesis (Tonkin and Bass, 2003; Yang et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2005). Recent systematic screening for novel A-to-I editing events revealed that a majority of editing events occur within non-coding regions of RNA transcripts in humans, mice and chickens (Blow et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2005). Previous studies have demonstrated that hyper-edited RNA may be selectively retained in the nucleus in mammalian cells and subsequently degraded by an inosine-specific ribonuclease (Kumar and Carmichael, 1997; Scadden and O'Connell, 2005; Scadden and Smith, 2001), suggesting that the extensive A-to-I RNA editing found in UTRs may be involved in controlling the stability and

localization of the edited transcripts.

A-to-I RNA editing is catalyzed by a family of ADARs (Bass *et al.*, 1997). All ADARs contains one to three copies of dsRBMs in the N-terminal region and one conserved deaminase domain at the C-terminus. The structures of dsRBMs and deaminase domain of ADAR2 have been recently solved (Macbeth et al., 2005; Stefl et al., 2006), providing more insight into the catalytic mechanism and substrate specificity of ADARs. Unexpectedly, an IP<sub>6</sub> molecule is found buried in the core of the deaminase domain and is necessary for the enzymatic activity (Macbeth *et al.*, 2005). However, why the IP<sub>6</sub> binding residues are only conserved in ADARs, but not ADATs, and whether IP<sub>6</sub> plays a regulatory role in modulating ADAR cellular activity remains unknown.

Although the functional consequences of A-to-I RNA editing have been extensively studied, the molecular mechanisms of ADAR substrate specificity are poorly understood. Because dsRBMs exhibit sequence-independent interactions with A-form dsRNA, it is postulated that dsRBMs in ADARs are only used to increase the affinity to the substrate RNA duplexes and do not contribute to the substrate specificity. However, recent biochemical study suggested that dsRBMs of ADAR2 bind specifically to GluR-2 Q/R site RNA (Stephens *et al.*, 2004). Later, ADAR2 dsRBMs were demonstrated to bind also specifically to GluR-2 R/G site RNA by a structural study (Stefl et al., 2006). Although both studies emphases that dsRBMs can specifically bind to ADAR2 substrates and contribute to the specificity, there is a discrepancy of which determinant dsRBM recognize on the substrates. For example, on the Q/R site RNA, the dsRBM1 binds near the

adenosine of an A-C mismatch (Figure 7), but on R/G site RNA, the same motif recognizes the structurally conserved pentaloop (Figure 18). This recognition discrepancy is supported by the observation that dsRBM1 displayed substrate-dependent contribution to the editing activity (Figure 28), where the deletion of dsRBM1 decreased the Q/R editing by 50-fold and decreased R/G editing by only 3-fold. We reason that interactions with different determinants by dsRBM1 provide ADAR2 differential affinity to the substrates and hence facilitate the editing to different extents. Then how can the same motif recognized totally different determinants on RNA? The dsRBM2 is required for the editing activity on all substrates, however, mutation of K<sup>281</sup> to alanine causes 10-fold decrease in Q/R site editing but has almost no effect on R/G site editing (Figure 30). It seems possible that dsRBM2 uses one set of amino acids, including K<sup>281</sup>, to contact the determinant on Q/R site and uses another set of residues that do not include K<sup>281</sup> to contact the determinant on R/G site. The differential usage of amino acids should provide dsRBM the capability to specifically recognize multiple determinants. An emerging view on ADAR substrate specificity is that dsRBMs specifically recognize all natural substrates, and through the alternative usage of different residues the dsRBM binds to different determinants on each substrate.

### Potential rRNA editing by ADARs

The nucleolus is the site of rRNA transcription and processing. The initial transcript, 45S pre-rRNA, contains 5.8S, 18S and 28S rRNAs, which represent important components of the ribosome that are critical for protein translation. In

addition, pre-rRNA contains two external transcribed spacers (5'-ETS and 3'-ETS) and two internal transcribed spacers (ITS-1 and ITS-2), that are known to play an important role in pre-rRNA processing. The relative nucleolar concentration of ADAR2 in NIH/3T3 cells is 14 times higher than in the nucleoplasm. Given the high levels of ADAR2 in the nucleolus, it is conceivable that ADAR2 can bind to pre-rRNA and catalyze the deamination of specific adenosines in pre-rRNA transcripts.

ADAR2 is thought to maintain its nucleolar localization by the interaction between dsRBMs and rRNA precursors (Sansam et al., 2003). Using two complementary methods, we demonstrated that dsRBM1 is more important in maintaining the nucleolar localization of ADAR2 at steady-state. One possibility is that there are multiple binding sites, some for dsRBM1 and some for dsRBM2, but the average binding affinity of dsRBM1 is greater. Another possibility, which is more intriguing, is that there are one or several specific binding sites on pre-rRNA and that specific dsRBM1 binding provides more affinity than dsRBM2-specific binding. When the positions of dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 were interchanged, however, the Fn/Fo value had only a small decrease (Figure 31B), suggesting that overall affinity, rather than site-specific binding was responsible for nucleolar localization. In this case, it is unlikely that pre-rRNAs will be selectively modified by A-to-I conversion, unless the presence of a change in the Fn/Fo ratio upon dsRBM transposition represents a small percentage of ADAR2 protein involved in site-selective binding.
## Proposed model for ADAR substrate recognition

While the effect of the dsRBM1 deletion on ADAR2 editing activity is highly substrate-dependent, the deletion of dsRBM2 ablated editing activity on all five substrates tested (Figure 28). Similar analyses of ADAR1 suggested that dsRBM3 is critical for editing activity on multiple substrates, whereas the other two dsRBMs plays less important roles (Lai et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1999; Liu and Samuel, 1996; Liu and Samuel, 1999). The critical importance of the dsRBM immediately adjacent to the deaminase domain indicates that there may be a common mechanism for ADAR substrate recognition.

ADARs can convert up to 50% of the adenosines to inosine in synthetic, long dsRNAs until the duplex structure is sufficiently disrupted by the formation of unstable I-U base pairs (Bass and Weintraub, 1988; Lehmann and Bass, 2000), indicating that the deaminase domain lacks specificity. The 5'- and 3'- nearest neighbor preference for the ADARs (Lehmann and Bass, 2000), is likely to be derived from the deaminase domain *per se* because the nucleotides next to the editing site can strongly affect the ability of the targeted adenosine moiety to flip out of the RNA duplex and fit into the active site. Although the deaminase domain is very active, it lacks the ability to efficiently bind to the double-stranded RNA substrates (Figure 28). Therefore, the motif targeting the deaminase domain to the substrates plays a critical role in defining substrate specificity.

dsRBMs of ADARs can bind to perfect dsRNA with high affinity (Kim *et al.*, 1994a; Ohman *et al.*, 2000). However, work from several laboratories has shown that the ADAR2 dsRBMs bind specifically on naturally-occurring imperfect dsRNA

substrates (Stefl et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 2004). So the dsRBM has the ability to target other domains to the certain region on a natural RNA substrate or any position of a perfect dsRNA.

In ADAR2, dsRBM2 and deaminase domain are connected by a relatively short (20aa), protease-inaccessible linker (Macbeth et al., 2004), indicating these two domains are physically restricted and dsRBM2 is likely to serve as the targeting motif for the deaminase domain. The binding of dsRBM2 to the RNA will presumably bring the enzymatically active deaminase domain to the RNA substrate, allowing the catalytic site to perform the deamination reaction on any feasible adenosine. In contrast, dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 are connected by a long and flexible linker (>83aa), which is protease sensitive and not visible in NMR structure (Macbeth et al., 2004; Stefl et al., 2006). Therefore, the dsRBM1-RNA interaction will not strictly restrain the location of dsRBM2 and the deaminase domain and will therefore contribute less to enzyme specificity. Taken together, we dsRBM1-specific hypothesize that binding increases the chances of dsRBM2-specific binding through the 83aa linker. As soon as dsRBM2 binds to the RNA, the deaminase domain will be targeted near the dsRBM2 binding site, and a local movement defined by the 20aa linker will allow the editing of all feasible adenosines (Figure 32A).

In this model, the dsRBM closest to the deaminase domain (core dsRBM: dsRBM3 for ADAR1 and dsRBM2 for ADAR2) defines the substrate specificity by physical restraining the deaminase domain. In agreement with this hypothesis, the loss of dsRBM2 ablated ADAR2 editing on all substrates tested due to the fact



The and Figure 32. Proposed model for ADAR2 site-selective targeting. The dsRBMs of ADAR2 are labeled in red and deaminase domain is labeled in blue. The RNA backbones are in gray and the green, respectively. (A) Model for wild-type ADAR2. The binding of dsRBM1 increases the chance of dsRBM2 binding; dsRBM2 binding anchors the deaminase domain to the RNA and the 20aa difference in relative affinity for dsRBMs result in a differential dsRBM1 contribution for each RNA substrate. (C) In the absence of dsRBM2, the 103aa long linker does not immobilize the deaminase (B) In the absence of structural determinants recognized by the dsRBMs and the editing site are labeled in red catalyze A-to-I conversion. movement of deaminase domain on the substrates. allows deaminase domain to dsRBM1, dsRBM2 binds and linker allows a local domain on the RNA that the 100aa linker between dsRBM1 and the deaminase domain was not structurally adequate to position the deaminase domain on the RNA (Figure 32C). The requirement for dsRBM3 for ADAR1 activity can be explained by the same rationale (Lai *et al.*, 1995; Liu and Samuel, 1996), and is further supported by the fact that ADAR1, containing only dsRBM3 and deaminase domain, still retains the editing selectivity (Maas *et al.*, 1996).

In this model, the length of the linker between the core dsRBM and deaminase domain is critical. If the linker is too short, then it prevents accessibility of the active site to any adenosines on RNA. If the linker is too long, then it will not sufficiently restrain the deaminase domain on the RNA, which can lead to a loss of editing activity and specificity. ADAR3 shares 50% amino acid identity with ADAR2, and the sequences of the dsRBMs and deaminase domain are highly conserved. However, ADAR3 failed to show activity on any known substrates or a perfect RNA duplex. One possibility is that, ADAR3 has only a 14aa linker which prevents the active site to contact any adenosines. A chimera protein, ADAR3-2, which has a 20aa linker, recovers some of the editing activity, while ADAR2-3, which has 14aa linker is still inactive (Melcher et al., 1996a). Naturally occurring ADAR1 splice variants, which differ in the length of the linker between dsRBM3 and the deaminase domain, displayed different editing specificity (Liu et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2000), further supporting the importance of the linker length.

When the core dsRBM binds to a specific site on a naturally occurring RNA, the deaminase domain can move locally to make contact with all the adenosines

within the range defined by the linker. This is further supported by the fact that the editing sites are always found in cluster and most of them are not functionally important (Burns et al., 1997; Dawson et al., 2004; Levanon et al., 2004; Maas et al., 1996; Rueter et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2006). More interestingly, there are two editing sites on the opposite side of the duplex in ADAR2 pre-mRNA and mutations affecting the editing on one site always have the same effect on editing of the other site (Dawson *et al.*, 2004), suggesting these two editing events result from the same dsRBM2-RNA interaction. There is a possibility that some adenosines within the range, defined by dsRBM2 and the linker, cannot be edited because the local RNA structure/sequence does not allow the adenosine to flip out and fit into the active site of the deaminase domain (Hart *et al.*, 2005).

In this model, the function of other dsRBMs is to target ADARs to the transcripts which are going to be edited and increase the chance of specific binding of the core dsRBM. In ADAR2, dsRBM1 will bind to different determinants on each RNA substrate, and the strength of these interactions is likely to be substrate-dependent. For Q/R site, this interaction maybe is very strong, which can increase dsRBM2 binding by 50 times, for R/G site, this interaction is relatively weak, which only increase dsRBM2 binding by 3-fold. These scenarios would explain the substrate-dependent contribution of dsRBM1. Because dsRBM2 mainly defines the specificity, for some substrates, even without dsRBM1, ADAR2 still can direct significant editing (Figure 32B).

The proposed model is consistent with most of the published data, but its validity needs to be specifically addressed. To test the importance of the linker

length between dsRBM2 and deaminase domain in ADAR2 editing specificity, further studies might involve a series of ADAR2 mutant proteins in which the length of the linker between dsRBM2 and deaminase domain varied. Each construct can be transfected into HEK293 cells and the nuclear extracts prepared from transfected cells can be used as the protein resource for in vitro editing analysis. An in vitro transcribed RNA substrate can then be incubated with wild-type or mutant ADAR2 proteins, and the resultant RNA can be sequenced to detect A-to-I RNA editing on multiple sites. If the working model is correct, when the linker is shortened, the deaminase domain will be anchored closer to the dsRBM2 binding site and may catalyze adenosine deamination closer to the binding site; when the linker length is increased, however, the deaminase domain may be allowed to reach more adenosines and may edit adenosines that are relatively far from the dsRBM2 binding site. If an increase or decrease in linker length generates new editing sites in close proximity to the original editing site, the result would suggest that dsRBM2 anchors the deaminase domain and the linker between dsRBM2 and deaminase domain contributes to site-selective A-to-I conversion.

To illustrate the role of linker length between dsRBM1 and dsRBM2, a series of mutant ADAR2 protein with a varied linker length between the dsRBMs can be made. If our working model is correct, dsRBM1 and dsRBM2 will recognize different structural determinants on each RNA substrate, hence the linker length required to achieve both dsRBM-RNA interactions is likely to be substrate-dependent. For example, on a substrate where dsRBM1 and dsRBM2

binding sites are far from one another, a shortened linker may not allow the simultaneous binding of both dsRBMs, hence the editing activity will be similar to the  $\Delta$ dsRBM1 protein; yet on another substrate where two dsRBM binding sites are relatively close, a shortened linker may still be enough to achieve both dsRBM-RNA interactions at the same time, hence the editing activity will be similar to the wild-type protein. When the linker between the dsRBMs is shortened further, the editing activity will be increasingly similar to the  $\Delta$ dsRBM1 mutant. These results would further support that each dsRBM recognizes distinct structural determinants on different naturally-occurring RNA substrates. With efforts from many laboratories, I hope that the mysteries of ADAR substrate specificity will be clarified in the near future.

.

## APPENDIX

## SEQUENCE OF PRIMERS USED IN THE STUDY

VU3:	5'- CTATCATGATCAAGAAGCCTCAGAAG -3'
VU35:	5'- CGAAATATCGCATCCTT -3'
VU38:	5'- AATCCGGATTGCCCGGAACGT -3'
VU97:	5'- CCTTGGGTGCCTTTA -3'
VU168:	5'- GACAACCGATCAAACGC -3'
VU183:	5'- TATTTGTGCCCCGTCTGG -3'
VU331:	5'- GCGTTGAGGAAGGAAATATGC -3'
VU343:	5'- GGATCCCCCGGGCTGCAG -3'
VU356:	5'- CGCCTTCGTTGCAGGAT -3'
VU477:	5'- AATCCGGATTGCCCGGAACGTGGAATACCCTCGCCAGGAC -3'
VU682:	5'- CCGGGAGCTCATCGCCACACCTAAAGGATCC -3'
VU683:	5'- GGCCGAATTCTACAAACCGTTAAGAGTCTTA -3'
VU776:	5'- CATGAAGCTTGGCGTTTCTCCCTGAGCCCTC -3'
VU777:	5'- AAGGCTCCGGCCCTACAGCCAAGAAGGCAAAGCTGCATG -3'
VU778:	5'- TGGCTGTAGGGCCGGAGCCTTCAAAGA -3'
VU788:	5'- GTTATACTATTCCACCC -3'
VU853:	5'- GGAGGATCCCCAGGGCCCGTTCTACCC -3'
VU990:	5'- GGAATTCCATATGCCAGGGCCCGTTCTAC -3'
VU991:	5'- CGGGATCCTTAGTTGGGAAACTGGACAAAA -3'
VU1024:	5'- GGAATTCCATATGCCAAGTGGGAAGAACCCCG -3'
VU1068:	5'- CGCTGGAACGTGGTGGGC -3'
VU1069:	5'- ATTGAGAGCCAGGCCACGGT -3'
VU1072:	5'- CGGAATTCCTATTCAAACTTCGTCTTCTTTCCTT -3'
VU1073:	5'- GAAGATCTGCATCCGCCACCATGGTGAAG -3'
VU1092:	5'- CGGGATCCTTACAAGTGCAAATTGAAGACAG -3'
VU1120:	5'- GGTAAAGCGGCCGCCAG -3'
VU1127:	5'- GCTCAAGCTTCCAATTCTGCAGATATCCATCACAC -3'
VU1128:	5'- TGGCAAGCTTCTTGTTTCTC -3'
VU1144:	5'- GTCACTGCAGGACATGGTGAGC -3'
VU1145:	5'- CTCAGCGGTATCAGCAATGCA -3'
VU1146:	5'- CAGGGGCTTGTTGAGGGTGTA -3'
VU1147:	5'- CACGGAAAGGTGCCCCC -3'
VU1148:	5'- CATCCAGCGACAGTACAGCG -3'
VU1152:	5'- TGAGCCAGGCGGAGTCGA -3'
VU1183:	5'- CGAATTGAACCGGCTATGCTC -3'
VU1190:	5'- TCTGAGGCCCACCTGG -3'
VU1191:	5'- CCCTGGCGTTTTCCTTCG -3'
VU1192:	5'- GACCAAACGCCATCTCGCC -3'

VU1193:	5'- TGGGAATGGTGGTGGGATG -3'
VU1201:	5'- FAM-CCGCCAGTCAAGAAGCCC -3'
VU1209:	5'- CCGGAAGCTTATCGCCACACCTAAAGGATCC -3'
VU1210:	5'- GGCCTCTAGATACAAACCGTTAAGAGTCTTA -3'
VU1220:	5'- CCAAGTGGGAAGAACCCCG -3'
VU1221:	5'- CAAGTGCAAATTGAAGACAGTAGC -3'
VU1238:	5'- CGGGATCCTCATTAAGGTGGGTGG
	AATAGTATAACAATATGCACAATGTTGT -3'
VU1239:	5'- GATAAGCTTCATATCGAATTCTACAAACCGTTAAGAG -3'
VU1244:	5'- CGGGATCCTCATTAAGGTGGGTGG
	AATAGTATAACAATATGCAAATGTTGT -3'
VU1245:	5'- CGGGATCCTCATTAAGGTGGGTGG
	AATAGTATAACAATATGCTCTAATGTTGT -3'
VU1246:	5'- AGCTGGTACCCCAGGCCCCGTTCTACCCAAGAATGC -3'
VU1247:	5'- AGCTGGTACCGCTTGGGGGTGGG -3'
VU1248:	5'- AGCTGTCGACCAAACGCCATCTCGC -3'
VU1249:	5'- AGCTGTCGACGGGAAACTGGACAAAAGACC -3'
VU1264:	5'- ATATTGTTATACTATTCCACCCA -3'
VU1265:	5'- CGGGCAGTGAGCGCAAC -3'
VU1272:	5'- AUGUUGUUAUAGUAUCCCACCUACCCUGAUG -3' (RNA)

## REFERENCES

- Aruscavage, P. J., and Bass, B. L. (2000). A phylogenetic analysis reveals an unusual sequence conservation within introns involved in RNA editing. Rna 6, 257-269.
- Athanasiadis, A., Rich, A., and Maas, S. (2004). Widespread A-to-I RNA editing of Alu-containing mRNAs in the human transcriptome. PLoS Biol 2, e391.
- Auxilien, S., Crain, P. F., Trewyn, R. W., and Grosjean, H. (1996). Mechanism, specificity and general properties of the yeast enzyme catalysing the formation of inosine 34 in the anticodon of transfer RNA. J Mol Biol 262, 437-458.
- Backus, J. W., and Smith, H. C. (1991). Apolipoprotein B mRNA sequences 3' of the editing site are necessary and sufficient for editing and editosome assembly. Nucleic Acids Res 19, 6781-6786.
- Bass, B. L. (2002). RNA editing by adenosine deaminases that act on RNA. Annu Rev Biochem 71, 817-846.
- Bass, B. L., Nishikura, K., Keller, W., Seeburg, P. H., Emeson, R. B., O'Connell, M. A., Samuel, C. E., and Herbert, A. (1997). A standardized nomenclature for adenosine deaminases that act on RNA. Rna 3, 947-949.
- Bass, B. L., and Weintraub, H. (1988). An unwinding activity that covalently modifies its double-stranded RNA substrate. Cell 55, 1089-1098.
- Beattie, E., Tartaglia, J., and Paoletti, E. (1991). Vaccinia virus-encoded eIF-2 alpha homolog abrogates the antiviral effect of interferon. Virology 183, 419-422.
- Beghini, A., Ripamonti, C. B., Peterlongo, P., Roversi, G., Cairoli, R., Morra, E., and Larizza, L. (2000). RNA hyperediting and alternative splicing of hematopoietic cell phosphatase (PTPN6) gene in acute myeloid leukemia. Hum Mol Genet 9, 2297-2304.
- Berg, K. A., Cropper, J. D., Niswender, C. M., Sanders-Bush, E., Emeson, R. B., and Clarke, W. P. (2001). RNA-editing of the 5-HT(2C) receptor alters agonist-receptor-effector coupling specificity. Br J Pharmacol 134, 386-392.
- Bernstein, E., Caudy, A. A., Hammond, S. M., and Hannon, G. J. (2001). Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature

409, 363-366.

- Bhalla, T., Rosenthal, J. J., Holmgren, M., and Reenan, R. (2004). Control of human potassium channel inactivation by editing of a small mRNA hairpin. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11, 950-956.
- Blaszczyk, J., Gan, J., Tropea, J. E., Court, D. L., Waugh, D. S., and Ji, X. (2004). Noncatalytic assembly of ribonuclease III with double-stranded RNA. Structure (Camb) 12, 457-466.
- Blow, M., Futreal, P. A., Wooster, R., and Stratton, M. R. (2004). A survey of RNA editing in human brain. Genome Res 14, 2379-2387.
- Bratt, E., and Ohman, M. (2003). Coordination of editing and splicing of glutamate receptor pre-mRNA. Rna 9, 309-318.
- Brusa, R., Zimmermann, F., Koh, D. S., Feldmeyer, D., Gass, P., Seeburg, P. H., and Sprengel, R. (1995). Early-onset epilepsy and postnatal lethality associated with an editing-deficient GluR-B allele in mice. Science 270, 1677-1680.
- Burns, C. M., Chu, H., Rueter, S. M., Hutchinson, L. K., Canton, H., Sanders-Bush, E., and Emeson, R. B. (1997). Regulation of serotonin-2C receptor G-protein coupling by RNA editing. Nature 387, 303-308.
- Bycroft, M., Grunert, S., Murzin, A. G., Proctor, M., and St Johnston, D. (1995). NMR solution structure of a dsRNA binding domain from Drosophila staufen protein reveals homology to the N-terminal domain of ribosomal protein S5. Embo J 14, 3563-3571.
- Carlson, C. B., Stephens, O. M., and Beal, P. A. (2003). Recognition of double-stranded RNA by proteins and small molecules. Biopolymers 70, 86-102.
- Carroll, K., Elroy-Stein, O., Moss, B., and Jagus, R. (1993). Recombinant vaccinia virus K3L gene product prevents activation of double-stranded RNA-dependent, initiation factor 2 alpha-specific protein kinase. J Biol Chem 268, 12837-12842.
- Carter, C. W., Jr. (1995). The nucleoside deaminases for cytidine and adenosine: structure, transition state stabilization, mechanism, and evolution. Biochimie 77, 92-98.
- Castrignano, T., Chillemi, G., Varani, G., and Desideri, A. (2002). Molecular dynamics simulation of the RNA complex of a double-stranded RNA-binding domain reveals dynamic features of the intermolecular

interface and its hydration. Biophys J 83, 3542-3552.

- Chang, H. W., Watson, J. C., and Jacobs, B. L. (1992). The E3L gene of vaccinia virus encodes an inhibitor of the interferon-induced, double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 4825-4829.
- Chang, K. Y., and Ramos, A. (2005). The double-stranded RNA-binding motif, a versatile macromolecular docking platform. Febs J 272, 2109-2117.
- Chen, C. X., Cho, D. S., Wang, Q., Lai, F., Carter, K. C., and Nishikura, K. (2000). A third member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase gene family, ADAR3, contains both single- and double-stranded RNA binding domains. Rna 6, 755-767.
- Chen, L., Rio, D. C., Haddad, G. G., and Ma, E. (2004). Regulatory role of dADAR in ROS metabolism in Drosophila CNS. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 131, 93-100.
- Chen, S. H., Habib, G., Yang, C. Y., Gu, Z. W., Lee, B. R., Weng, S. A., Silberman, S. R., Cai, S. J., Deslypere, J. P., Rosseneu, M., and et al. (1987).
  Apolipoprotein B-48 is the product of a messenger RNA with an organ-specific in-frame stop codon. Science 238, 363-366.
- Cho, D. S., Yang, W., Lee, J. T., Shiekhattar, R., Murray, J. M., and Nishikura, K. (2003). Requirement of dimerization for RNA editing activity of adenosine deaminases acting on RNA. J Biol Chem 278, 17093-17102.
- Choi, S. Y., Scherer, B. J., Schnier, J., Davies, M. V., Kaufman, R. J., and Hershey, J. W. (1992). Stimulation of protein synthesis in COS cells transfected with variants of the alpha-subunit of initiation factor eIF-2. J Biol Chem 267, 286-293.
- Clemens, M. J., and Elia, A. (1997). The double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR: structure and function. J Interferon Cytokine Res 17, 503-524.
- Conrad, C., Evguenieva-Hackenberg, E., and Klug, G. (2001). Both N-terminal catalytic and C-terminal RNA binding domain contribute to substrate specificity and cleavage site selection of RNase III. FEBS Lett 509, 53-58.
- Coolidge, C. J., and Patton, J. G. (1995). Run-around PCR: a novel way to create duplications using polymerase chain reaction. Biotechniques 18, 762-764.
- Cramer, P., Bushnell, D. A., and Kornberg, R. D. (2001). Structural basis of transcription: RNA polymerase II at 2.8 angstrom resolution. Science 292, 1863-1876.

Crick, F. H. (1958). On protein synthesis. Symp Soc Exp Biol 12, 138-163.

- Daher, A., Longuet, M., Dorin, D., Bois, F., Segeral, E., Bannwarth, S., Battisti, P.
  L., Purcell, D. F., Benarous, R., Vaquero, C., et al. (2001). Two dimerization domains in the trans-activation response RNA-binding protein (TRBP) individually reverse the protein kinase R inhibition of HIV-1 long terminal repeat expression. J Biol Chem 276, 33899-33905.
- Davies, M. V., Chang, H. W., Jacobs, B. L., and Kaufman, R. J. (1993). The E3L and K3L vaccinia virus gene products stimulate translation through inhibition of the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase by different mechanisms. J Virol 67, 1688-1692.
- Dawson, T. R., Sansam, C. L., and Emeson, R. B. (2004). Structure and sequence determinants required for the RNA editing of ADAR2 substrates. J Biol Chem 279, 4941-4951.
- Desterro, J. M., Keegan, L. P., Jaffray, E., Hay, R. T., O'Connell, M. A., and Carmo-Fonseca, M. (2005). SUMO-1 modification alters ADAR1 editing activity. Mol Biol Cell 16, 5115-5126.
- Desterro, J. M., Keegan, L. P., Lafarga, M., Berciano, M. T., O'Connell, M., and Carmo-Fonseca, M. (2003). Dynamic association of RNA-editing enzymes with the nucleolus. J Cell Sci 116, 1805-1818.
- Doyle, M., and Jantsch, M. F. (2002). New and old roles of the double-stranded RNA-binding domain. J Struct Biol 140, 147-153.
- Doyle, M., and Jantsch, M. F. (2003). Distinct in vivo roles for double-stranded RNA-binding domains of the Xenopus RNA-editing enzyme ADAR1 in chromosomal targeting. J Cell Biol 161, 309-319.
- Dunn, J. J. (1976). RNase III cleavage of single-stranded RNA. Effect of ionic strength on the fideltiy of cleavage. J Biol Chem 251, 3807-3814.
- Emeson, R., and Singh, M. (2001). Adenosine-to-inosine RNA editing: substrates and consequences. In RNA Editing, B. Bass, ed. (Oxford, Oxford University Press), pp. 109-138.
- Emeson, R. B., Hedjran, F., Yeakley, J. M., Guise, J. W., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1989). Alternative production of calcitonin and CGRP mRNA is regulated at the calcitonin-specific splice acceptor. Nature 341, 76-80.
- Feng, Y., Sansam, C. L., Singh, M., and Emeson, R. B. (2006). Altered RNA Editing in Mice Lacking ADAR2 Autoregulation. Mol Cell Biol 26, 480-488.

- Ferrandon, D., Elphick, L., Nusslein-Volhard, C., and St Johnston, D. (1994). Staufen protein associates with the 3'UTR of bicoid mRNA to form particles that move in a microtubule-dependent manner. Cell 79, 1221-1232.
- Fierro-Monti, I., and Mathews, M. B. (2000). Proteins binding to duplexed RNA: one motif, multiple functions. Trends Biochem Sci 25, 241-246.
- Filippov, V., Solovyev, V., Filippova, M., and Gill, S. S. (2000). A novel type of RNase III family proteins in eukaryotes. Gene 245, 213-221.
- Fong, N., and Bentley, D. L. (2001). Capping, splicing, and 3' processing are independently stimulated by RNA polymerase II: different functions for different segments of the CTD. Genes Dev 15, 1783-1795.
- Galabru, J., and Hovanessian, A. (1987). Autophosphorylation of the protein kinase dependent on double-stranded RNA. J Biol Chem 262, 15538-15544.
- Gallo, A., Keegan, L. P., Ring, G. M., and O'Connell, M. A. (2003). An ADAR that edits transcripts encoding ion channel subunits functions as a dimer. Embo J 22, 3421-3430.
- George, C. X., and Samuel, C. E. (1999). Human RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1 transcripts possess alternative exon 1 structures that initiate from different promoters, one constitutively active and the other interferon inducible. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 4621-4626.
- George, C. X., Wagner, M. V., and Samuel, C. E. (2005). Expression of interferon-inducible RNA adenosine deaminase ADAR1 during pathogen infection and mouse embryo development involves tissue-selective promoter utilization and alternative splicing. J Biol Chem 280, 15020-15028.
- Gerber, A., O'Connell, M. A., and Keller, W. (1997). Two forms of human double-stranded RNA-specific editase 1 (hRED1) generated by the insertion of an Alu cassette. Rna 3, 453-463.
- Gerber, A. P., and Keller, W. (2001). RNA editing by base deamination: more enzymes, more targets, new mysteries. Trends Biochem Sci 26, 376-384.
- Gitelman, D. R., and Apirion, D. (1980). The synthesis of some proteins is affected in RNA processing mutants of Escherichia coli. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 96, 1063-1070.
- Gott, J. M., and Emeson, R. B. (2000). Functions and mechanisms of RNA editing. Annu Rev Genet 34, 499-531.

- Green, S. R., and Mathews, M. B. (1992). Two RNA-binding motifs in the double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase, DAI. Genes Dev 6, 2478-2490.
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L., Kong, X., and Ziff, E. B. (2003). AMPA receptor tetramerization is mediated by Q/R editing. Neuron 40, 763-774.
- Gurevich, I., Englander, M. T., Adlersberg, M., Siegal, N. B., and Schmauss, C. (2002). Modulation of serotonin 2C receptor editing by sustained changes in serotonergic neurotransmission. J Neurosci 22, 10529-10532.
- Hart, K., Nystrom, B., Ohman, M., and Nilsson, L. (2005). Molecular dynamics simulations and free energy calculations of base flipping in dsRNA. Rna.
- Hartmuth, K., Urlaub, H., Vornlocher, H. P., Will, C. L., Gentzel, M., Wilm, M., and Luhrmann, R. (2002). Protein composition of human prespliceosomes isolated by a tobramycin affinity-selection method. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 16719-16724.
- Hartner, J. C., Schmittwolf, C., Kispert, A., Muller, A. M., Higuchi, M., and Seeburg, P. H. (2004). Liver disintegration in the mouse embryo caused by deficiency in the RNA-editing enzyme ADAR1. J Biol Chem 279, 4894-4902.
- Hay, R. T. (2005). SUMO: a history of modification. Mol Cell 18, 1-12.
- Herbert, A., Alfken, J., Kim, Y. G., Mian, I. S., Nishikura, K., and Rich, A. (1997). A Z-DNA binding domain present in the human editing enzyme, double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 8421-8426.
- Herbert, A., and Rich, A. (2001). The role of binding domains for dsRNA and Z-DNA in the in vivo editing of minimal substrates by ADAR1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 12132-12137.
- Herbert, A., Schade, M., Lowenhaupt, K., Alfken, J., Schwartz, T., Shlyakhtenko, L. S., Lyubchenko, Y. L., and Rich, A. (1998). The Zalpha domain from human ADAR1 binds to the Z-DNA conformer of many different sequences. Nucleic Acids Res 26, 3486-3493.
- Higuchi, M., Maas, S., Single, F. N., Hartner, J., Rozov, A., Burnashev, N., Feldmeyer, D., Sprengel, R., and Seeburg, P. H. (2000). Point mutation in an AMPA receptor gene rescues lethality in mice deficient in the RNA-editing enzyme ADAR2. Nature 406, 78-81.

- Higuchi, M., Single, F. N., Kohler, M., Sommer, B., Sprengel, R., and Seeburg, P. H. (1993). RNA editing of AMPA receptor subunit GluR-B: a base-paired intron-exon structure determines position and efficiency. Cell 75, 1361-1370.
- Hirose, Y., and Manley, J. L. (1998). RNA polymerase II is an essential mRNA polyadenylation factor. Nature 395, 93-96.
- Ho, C. K., Lehman, K., and Shuman, S. (1999). An essential surface motif (WAQKW) of yeast RNA triphosphatase mediates formation of the mRNA capping enzyme complex with RNA guanylyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res 27, 4671-4678.
- Holley, R. W., Everett, G. A., Madison, J. T., and Zamir, A. (1965). Nucleotide Sequences in the Yeast Alanine Transfer Ribonucleic Acid. J Biol Chem 240, 2122-2128.
- Hoopengardner, B., Bhalla, T., Staber, C., and Reenan, R. (2003). Nervous system targets of RNA editing identified by comparative genomics. Science 301, 832-836.
- Hough, R. F., and Bass, B. L. (1994). Purification of the Xenopus laevis double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. J Biol Chem 269, 9933-9939.
- Hough, R. F., and Bass, B. L. (1997). Analysis of Xenopus dsRNA adenosine deaminase cDNAs reveals similarities to DNA methyltransferases. Rna 3, 356-370.
- Hoyer, D., Lubbert, H., and Bruns, C. (1994). Molecular pharmacology of somatostatin receptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 350, 441-453.
- Hung, M. L., Chao, P., and Chang, K. Y. (2003). dsRBM1 and a proline-rich domain of RNA helicase A can form a composite binder to recognize a specific dsDNA. Nucleic Acids Res 31, 5741-5753.
- lino, Y., Sugimoto, A., and Yamamoto, M. (1991). S. pombe pac1+, whose overexpression inhibits sexual development, encodes a ribonuclease III-like RNase. Embo J 10, 221-226.
- Jacobs, B. L., and Langland, J. O. (1996). When two strands are better than one: the mediators and modulators of the cellular responses to double-stranded RNA. Virology 219, 339-349.
- Jaikaran, D. C., Collins, C. H., and MacMillan, A. M. (2002). Adenosine to inosine editing by ADAR2 requires formation of a ternary complex on the GluR-B

R/G site. J Biol Chem 277, 37624-37629.

- Kable, M. L., Seiwert, S. D., Heidmann, S., and Stuart, K. (1996). RNA editing: a mechanism for gRNA-specified uridylate insertion into precursor mRNA. Science 273, 1189-1195.
- Kallman, A. M., Sahlin, M., and Ohman, M. (2003). ADAR2 A-->I editing: site selectivity and editing efficiency are separate events. Nucleic Acids Res 31, 4874-4881.
- Kask, K., Zamanillo, D., Rozov, A., Burnashev, N., Sprengel, R., and Seeburg, P. H. (1998). The AMPA receptor subunit GluR-B in its Q/R site-unedited form is not essential for brain development and function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 13777-13782.
- Kawakubo, K., and Samuel, C. E. (2000). Human RNA-specific adenosine deaminase (ADAR1) gene specifies transcripts that initiate from a constitutively active alternative promoter. Gene 258, 165-172.
- Keegan, L. P., Brindle, J., Gallo, A., Leroy, A., Reenan, R. A., and O'Connell, M. A. (2005). Tuning of RNA editing by ADAR is required in Drosophila. Embo J 24, 2183-2193.
- Keegan, L. P., Gallo, A., and O'Connell, M. A. (2001). The many roles of an RNA editor. Nat Rev Genet 2, 869-878.
- Keller, W., and Minvielle-Sebastia, L. (1997). A comparison of mammalian and yeast pre-mRNA 3'-end processing. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9, 329-336.
- Kharrat, A., Macias, M. J., Gibson, T. J., Nilges, M., and Pastore, A. (1995). Structure of the dsRNA binding domain of E. coli RNase III. Embo J 14, 3572-3584.
- Kibler, K. V., Shors, T., Perkins, K. B., Zeman, C. C., Banaszak, M. P., Biesterfeldt, J., Langland, J. O., and Jacobs, B. L. (1997). Double-stranded RNA is a trigger for apoptosis in vaccinia virus-infected cells. J Virol 71, 1992-2003.
- Kiebler, M. A., Hemraj, I., Verkade, P., Kohrmann, M., Fortes, P., Marion, R. M., Ortin, J., and Dotti, C. G. (1999). The mammalian staufen protein localizes to the somatodendritic domain of cultured hippocampal neurons: implications for its involvement in mRNA transport. J Neurosci 19, 288-297.
- Kim, D. D., Kim, T. T., Walsh, T., Kobayashi, Y., Matise, T. C., Buyske, S., and Gabriel, A. (2004). Widespread RNA editing of embedded alu elements in the human transcriptome. Genome Res 14, 1719-1725.

- Kim, D. Y., Kim, S. H., Choi, H. B., Min, C., and Gwag, B. J. (2001). High abundance of GluR1 mRNA and reduced Q/R editing of GluR2 mRNA in individual NADPH-diaphorase neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 17, 1025-1033.
- Kim, U., Garner, T. L., Sanford, T., Speicher, D., Murray, J. M., and Nishikura, K. (1994a). Purification and characterization of double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase from bovine nuclear extracts. J Biol Chem 269, 13480-13489.
- Kim, U., Wang, Y., Sanford, T., Zeng, Y., and Nishikura, K. (1994b). Molecular cloning of cDNA for double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for nuclear RNA editing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 11457-11461.
- Klaue, Y., Kallman, A. M., Bonin, M., Nellen, W., and Ohman, M. (2003). Biochemical analysis and scanning force microscopy reveal productive and nonproductive ADAR2 binding to RNA substrates. Rna 9, 839-846.
- Knight, S. W., and Bass, B. L. (2001). A role for the RNase III enzyme DCR-1 in RNA interference and germ line development in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 293, 2269-2271.
- Koeris, M., Funke, L., Shrestha, J., Rich, A., and Maas, S. (2005). Modulation of ADAR1 editing activity by Z-RNA in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res 33, 5362-5370.
- Kohler, M., Burnashev, N., Sakmann, B., and Seeburg, P. H. (1993). Determinants of Ca2+ permeability in both TM1 and TM2 of high affinity kainate receptor channels: diversity by RNA editing. Neuron 10, 491-500.
- Kohrmann, M., Luo, M., Kaether, C., DesGroseillers, L., Dotti, C. G., and Kiebler, M. A. (1999). Microtubule-dependent recruitment of Staufen-green fluorescent protein into large RNA-containing granules and subsequent dendritic transport in living hippocampal neurons. Mol Biol Cell 10, 2945-2953.
- Kumar, M., and Carmichael, G. G. (1997). Nuclear antisense RNA induces extensive adenosine modifications and nuclear retention of target transcripts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 3542-3547.
- Lai, F., Chen, C. X., Carter, K. C., and Nishikura, K. (1997). Editing of glutamate receptor B subunit ion channel RNAs by four alternatively spliced DRADA2 double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminases. Mol Cell Biol 17, 2413-2424.
- Lai, F., Drakas, R., and Nishikura, K. (1995). Mutagenic analysis of

double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for RNA editing of glutamate-gated ion channel transcripts. J Biol Chem 270, 17098-17105.

- Lakhlani, P. P., MacMillan, L. B., Guo, T. Z., McCool, B. A., Lovinger, D. M., Maze, M., and Limbird, L. E. (1997). Substitution of a mutant alpha2a-adrenergic receptor via "hit and run" gene targeting reveals the role of this subtype in sedative, analgesic, and anesthetic-sparing responses in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 9950-9955.
- Lawton, J. A., Estes, M. K., and Prasad, B. V. (2000). Mechanism of genome transcription in segmented dsRNA viruses. Adv Virus Res 55, 185-229.
- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell 75, 843-854.
- Lee, Y., Ahn, C., Han, J., Choi, H., Kim, J., Yim, J., Lee, J., Provost, P., Radmark, O., Kim, S., and Kim, V. N. (2003). The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. Nature 425, 415-419.
- Lehmann, K. A., and Bass, B. L. (1999). The importance of internal loops within RNA substrates of ADAR1. J Mol Biol 291, 1-13.
- Lehmann, K. A., and Bass, B. L. (2000). Double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminases ADAR1 and ADAR2 have overlapping specificities. Biochemistry 39, 12875-12884.
- Leulliot, N., Quevillon-Cheruel, S., Graille, M., van Tilbeurgh, H., Leeper, T. C., Godin, K. S., Edwards, T. E., Sigurdsson, S. T., Rozenkrants, N., Nagel, R. J., et al. (2004). A new alpha-helical extension promotes RNA binding by the dsRBD of Rnt1p RNAse III. Embo J 23, 2468-2477.
- Levanon, E. Y., Eisenberg, E., Yelin, R., Nemzer, S., Hallegger, M., Shemesh, R., Fligelman, Z. Y., Shoshan, A., Pollock, S. R., Sztybel, D., et al. (2004). Systematic identification of abundant A-to-I editing sites in the human transcriptome. Nat Biotechnol 22, 1001-1005.
- Levanon, E. Y., Hallegger, M., Kinar, Y., Shemesh, R., Djinovic-Carugo, K., Rechavi, G., Jantsch, M. F., and Eisenberg, E. (2005). Evolutionarily conserved human targets of adenosine to inosine RNA editing. Nucleic Acids Res 33, 1162-1168.
- Levin, D., and London, I. M. (1978). Regulation of protein synthesis: activation by double-stranded RNA of a protein kinase that phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75, 1121-1125.

- Littleton, J. T., Pallanck, L., and Ganetzky, B. (1999). Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release. Int Rev Neurobiol 43, 139-161.
- Liu, Y., Emeson, R. B., and Samuel, C. E. (1999). Serotonin-2C receptor pre-mRNA editing in rat brain and in vitro by splice site variants of the interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1. J Biol Chem 274, 18351-18358.
- Liu, Y., George, C. X., Patterson, J. B., and Samuel, C. E. (1997). Functionally distinct double-stranded RNA-binding domains associated with alternative splice site variants of the interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase. J Biol Chem 272, 4419-4428.
- Liu, Y., Lei, M., and Samuel, C. E. (2000). Chimeric double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1 proteins reveal functional selectivity of double-stranded RNA-binding domains from ADAR1 and protein kinase PKR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 12541-12546.
- Liu, Y., and Samuel, C. E. (1996). Mechanism of interferon action: functionally distinct RNA-binding and catalytic domains in the interferon-inducible, double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase. J Virol 70, 1961-1968.
- Liu, Y., and Samuel, C. E. (1999). Editing of glutamate receptor subunit B pre-mRNA by splice-site variants of interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1. J Biol Chem 274, 5070-5077.
- Lomeli, H., Mosbacher, J., Melcher, T., Hoger, T., Geiger, J. R., Kuner, T., Monyer, H., Higuchi, M., Bach, A., and Seeburg, P. H. (1994). Control of kinetic properties of AMPA receptor channels by nuclear RNA editing. Science 266, 1709-1713.
- Luciano, D. J., Mirsky, H., Vendetti, N. J., and Maas, S. (2004). RNA editing of a miRNA precursor. Rna 10, 1174-1177.
- Maas, S., Melcher, T., Herb, A., Seeburg, P. H., Keller, W., Krause, S., Higuchi, M., and O'Connell, M. A. (1996). Structural requirements for RNA editing in glutamate receptor pre-mRNAs by recombinant double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. J Biol Chem 271, 12221-12226.
- Macbeth, M. R., Lingam, A. T., and Bass, B. L. (2004). Evidence for auto-inhibition by the N terminus of hADAR2 and activation by dsRNA binding. Rna 10, 1563-1571.

Macbeth, M. R., Schubert, H. L., Vandemark, A. P., Lingam, A. T., Hill, C. P., and

Bass, B. L. (2005). Inositol hexakisphosphate is bound in the ADAR2 core and required for RNA editing. Science 309, 1534-1539.

- Macchi, P., Brownawell, A. M., Grunewald, B., DesGroseillers, L., Macara, I. G., and Kiebler, M. A. (2004). The brain-specific double-stranded RNA-binding protein Staufen2: nucleolar accumulation and isoform-specific exportin-5-dependent export. J Biol Chem 279, 31440-31444.
- Marion, R. M., Fortes, P., Beloso, A., Dotti, C., and Ortin, J. (1999). A human sequence homologue of Staufen is an RNA-binding protein that is associated with polysomes and localizes to the rough endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell Biol 19, 2212-2219.
- Markle, D., Das, S., Ward, S. V., and Samuel, C. E. (2003). Functional analysis of the KCS-like element of the interferon-inducible RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1 promoter. Gene 304, 143-149.
- McCracken, S., Fong, N., Yankulov, K., Ballantyne, S., Pan, G., Greenblatt, J., Patterson, S. D., Wickens, M., and Bentley, D. L. (1997). The C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II couples mRNA processing to transcription. Nature 385, 357-361.
- McMillan, N. A., Carpick, B. W., Hollis, B., Toone, W. M., Zamanian-Daryoush, M., and Williams, B. R. (1995). Mutational analysis of the double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) binding domain of the dsRNA-activated protein kinase, PKR. J Biol Chem 270, 2601-2606.
- Mehta, A., Banerjee, S., and Driscoll, D. M. (1996). Apobec-1 interacts with a 65-kDa complementing protein to edit apolipoprotein-B mRNA in vitro. J Biol Chem 271, 28294-28299.
- Melcher, T., Maas, S., Herb, A., Sprengel, R., Higuchi, M., and Seeburg, P. H. (1996a). RED2, a brain-specific member of the RNA-specific adenosine deaminase family. J Biol Chem 271, 31795-31798.
- Melcher, T., Maas, S., Herb, A., Sprengel, R., Seeburg, P. H., and Higuchi, M. (1996b). A mammalian RNA editing enzyme. Nature 379, 460-464.
- Meurs, E., Chong, K., Galabru, J., Thomas, N. S., Kerr, I. M., Williams, B. R., and Hovanessian, A. G. (1990). Molecular cloning and characterization of the human double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase induced by interferon. Cell 62, 379-390.
- Micklem, D. R., Adams, J., Grunert, S., and St Johnston, D. (2000). Distinct roles of two conserved Staufen domains in oskar mRNA localization and translation. Embo J 19, 1366-1377.

- Morse, D. P., Aruscavage, P. J., and Bass, B. L. (2002). RNA hairpins in noncoding regions of human brain and Caenorhabditis elegans mRNA are edited by adenosine deaminases that act on RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 7906-7911.
- Morse, D. P., and Bass, B. L. (1999). Long RNA hairpins that contain inosine are present in Caenorhabditis elegans poly(A)+ RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 6048-6053.
- Nagel, R., and Ares, M., Jr. (2000). Substrate recognition by a eukaryotic RNase III: the double-stranded RNA-binding domain of Rnt1p selectively binds RNA containing a 5'-AGNN-3' tetraloop. Rna 6, 1142-1156.
- Nanduri, S., Carpick, B. W., Yang, Y., Williams, B. R., and Qin, J. (1998). Structure of the double-stranded RNA-binding domain of the protein kinase PKR reveals the molecular basis of its dsRNA-mediated activation. Embo J 17, 5458-5465.
- Napoli, C., Lemieux, C., and Jorgensen, R. (1990). Introduction of a Chimeric Chalcone Synthase Gene into Petunia Results in Reversible Co-Suppression of Homologous Genes in trans. Plant Cell 2, 279-289.
- Nicholson, A. W. (1996). Structure, reactivity, and biology of double-stranded RNA. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 52, 1-65.
- Nicholson, R. H., and Nicholson, A. W. (2002). Molecular characterization of a mouse cDNA encoding Dicer, a ribonuclease III ortholog involved in RNA interference. Mamm Genome 13, 67-73.
- Nie, Y., Zhao, Q., Su, Y., and Yang, J. H. (2004). Subcellular distribution of ADAR1 isoforms is synergistically determined by three nuclear discrimination signals and a regulatory motif. J Biol Chem 279, 13249-13255.
- Niedick, I., Froese, N., Oumard, A., Mueller, P. P., Nourbakhsh, M., Hauser, H., and Koster, M. (2004). Nucleolar localization and mobility analysis of the NF-kappaB repressing factor NRF. J Cell Sci 117, 3447-3458.
- Nishikura, K., Yoo, C., Kim, U., Murray, J. M., Estes, P. A., Cash, F. E., and Liebhaber, S. A. (1991). Substrate specificity of the dsRNA unwinding/modifying activity. Embo J 10, 3523-3532.
- Niswender, C. M., Copeland, S. C., Herrick-Davis, K., Emeson, R. B., and Sanders-Bush, E. (1999). RNA editing of the human serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine 2C receptor silences constitutive activity. J Biol Chem 274, 9472-9478.

- O'Connell, M. A., Krause, S., Higuchi, M., Hsuan, J. J., Totty, N. F., Jenny, A., and Keller, W. (1995). Cloning of cDNAs encoding mammalian double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase. Mol Cell Biol 15, 1389-1397.
- Ogilvie, V. C., Wilson, B. J., Nicol, S. M., Morrice, N. A., Saunders, L. R., Barber, G. N., and Fuller-Pace, F. V. (2003). The highly related DEAD box RNA helicases p68 and p72 exist as heterodimers in cells. Nucleic Acids Res 31, 1470-1480.
- Ohman, M., Kallman, A. M., and Bass, B. L. (2000). In vitro analysis of the binding of ADAR2 to the pre-mRNA encoding the GluR-B R/G site. Rna 6, 687-697.
- Ozawa, S., Kamiya, H., and Tsuzuki, K. (1998). Glutamate receptors in the mammalian central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 54, 581-618.
- Palladino, M. J., Keegan, L. P., O'Connell, M. A., and Reenan, R. A. (2000a). dADAR, a Drosophila double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase is highly developmentally regulated and is itself a target for RNA editing. Rna 6, 1004-1018.
- Palladino, M. J., Keegan, L. P., O'Connell, M. A., and Reenan, R. A. (2000b). A-to-I pre-mRNA editing in Drosophila is primarily involved in adult nervous system function and integrity. Cell 102, 437-449.
- Patel, R. C., and Sen, G. C. (1998). Requirement of PKR dimerization mediated by specific hydrophobic residues for its activation by double-stranded RNA and its antigrowth effects in yeast. Mol Cell Biol 18, 7009-7019.
- Patterson, J. B., and Samuel, C. E. (1995). Expression and regulation by interferon of a double-stranded-RNA-specific adenosine deaminase from human cells: evidence for two forms of the deaminase. Mol Cell Biol 15, 5376-5388.
- Patton, J. T., and Spencer, E. (2000). Genome replication and packaging of segmented double-stranded RNA viruses. Virology 277, 217-225.
- Paul, M. S., and Bass, B. L. (1998). Inosine exists in mRNA at tissue-specific levels and is most abundant in brain mRNA. Embo J 17, 1120-1127.
- Peters, G. A., Hartmann, R., Qin, J., and Sen, G. C. (2001). Modular structure of PACT: distinct domains for binding and activating PKR. Mol Cell Biol 21, 1908-1920.
- Pin, J. P., Joly, C., Heinemann, S. F., and Bockaert, J. (1994). Domains involved in the specificity of G protein activation in phospholipase C-coupled

metabotropic glutamate receptors. Embo J 13, 342-348.

- Polson, A. G., and Bass, B. L. (1994). Preferential selection of adenosines for modification by double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase. Embo J 13, 5701-5711.
- Prasanth, K. V., Prasanth, S. G., Xuan, Z., Hearn, S., Freier, S. M., Bennett, C. F., Zhang, M. Q., and Spector, D. L. (2005). Regulating gene expression through RNA nuclear retention. Cell 123, 249-263.
- Price, D. H., and Gray, M. W. (1999). A novel nucleotide incorporation activity implicated in the editing of mitochondrial transfer RNAs in Acanthamoeba castellanii. Rna 5, 302-317.
- Price, R. D., Weiner, D. M., Chang, M. S., and Sanders-Bush, E. (2001). RNA editing of the human serotonin 5-HT2C receptor alters receptor-mediated activation of G13 protein. J Biol Chem 276, 44663-44668.
- Raitskin, O., Cho, D. S., Sperling, J., Nishikura, K., and Sperling, R. (2001). RNA editing activity is associated with splicing factors in InRNP particles: The nuclear pre-mRNA processing machinery. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 6571-6576.
- Ramos, A., Grunert, S., Adams, J., Micklem, D. R., Proctor, M. R., Freund, S., Bycroft, M., St Johnston, D., and Varani, G. (2000). RNA recognition by a Staufen double-stranded RNA-binding domain. Embo J 19, 997-1009.
- Robertson, H. D., Webster, R. E., and Zinder, N. D. (1968). Purification and properties of ribonuclease III from Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem 243, 82-91.
- Romano, P. R., Zhang, F., Tan, S. L., Garcia-Barrio, M. T., Katze, M. G., Dever, T. E., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (1998). Inhibition of double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR by vaccinia virus E3: role of complex formation and the E3 N-terminal domain. Mol Cell Biol 18, 7304-7316.
- Rotondo, G., and Frendewey, D. (1996). Purification and characterization of the Pac1 ribonuclease of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Nucleic Acids Res 24, 2377-2386.
- Rueter, S. M., Burns, C. M., Coode, S. A., Mookherjee, P., and Emeson, R. B. (1995). Glutamate receptor RNA editing in vitro by enzymatic conversion of adenosine to inosine. Science 267, 1491-1494.
- Rueter, S. M., Dawson, T. R., and Emeson, R. B. (1999). Regulation of alternative splicing by RNA editing. Nature 399, 75-80.

- Ryter, J. M., and Schultz, S. C. (1998). Molecular basis of double-stranded RNA-protein interactions: structure of a dsRNA-binding domain complexed with dsRNA. Embo J 17, 7505-7513.
- Sanders-Bush, E., Fentress, H., and Hazelwood, L. (2003). Serotonin 5-ht2 receptors: molecular and genomic diversity. Mol Interv 3, 319-330.
- Sansam, C. L., Wells, K. S., and Emeson, R. B. (2003). Modulation of RNA editing by functional nucleolar sequestration of ADAR2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 14018-14023.
- Saunders, L. R., and Barber, G. N. (2003). The dsRNA binding protein family: critical roles, diverse cellular functions. Faseb J 17, 961-983.
- Saunders, L. R., Perkins, D. J., Balachandran, S., Michaels, R., Ford, R., Mayeda, A., and Barber, G. N. (2001). Characterization of two evolutionarily conserved, alternatively spliced nuclear phosphoproteins, NFAR-1 and -2, that function in mRNA processing and interact with the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase, PKR. J Biol Chem 276, 32300-32312.
- Scadden, A. D. (2005). The RISC subunit Tudor-SN binds to hyper-edited double-stranded RNA and promotes its cleavage. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12, 489-496.
- Scadden, A. D., and O'Connell, M. A. (2005). Cleavage of dsRNAs hyper-edited by ADARs occurs at preferred editing sites. Nucleic Acids Res 33, 5954-5964.
- Scadden, A. D., and Smith, C. W. (2001). Specific cleavage of hyper-edited dsRNAs. Embo J 20, 4243-4252.
- Schaub, M., and Keller, W. (2002). RNA editing by adenosine deaminases generates RNA and protein diversity. Biochimie 84, 791-803.
- Schreiber, E., Matthias, P., Muller, M. M., and Schaffner, W. (1989). Rapid detection of octamer binding proteins with 'mini-extracts', prepared from a small number of cells. Nucleic Acids Res 17, 6419.
- Schuldt, A. J., Adams, J. H., Davidson, C. M., Micklem, D. R., Haseloff, J., St Johnston, D., and Brand, A. H. (1998). Miranda mediates asymmetric protein and RNA localization in the developing nervous system. Genes Dev 12, 1847-1857.
- Seeburg, P. H., and Hartner, J. (2003). Regulation of ion channel/neurotransmitter receptor function by RNA editing. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13, 279-283.

- Seeburg, P. H., Higuchi, M., and Sprengel, R. (1998). RNA editing of brain glutamate receptor channels: mechanism and physiology. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 26, 217-229.
- Seeler, J. S., and Dejean, A. (2003). Nuclear and unclear functions of SUMO. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4, 690-699.
- Slavov, D., Crnogorac-Jurcevic, T., Clark, M., and Gardiner, K. (2000). Comparative analysis of the DRADA A-to-I RNA editing gene from mammals, pufferfish and zebrafish. Gene 250, 53-60.
- Sommer, B., Kohler, M., Sprengel, R., and Seeburg, P. H. (1991). RNA editing in brain controls a determinant of ion flow in glutamate-gated channels. Cell 67, 11-19.
- Sontheimer, E. J., and Carthew, R. W. (2005). Silence from within: endogenous siRNAs and miRNAs. Cell 122, 9-12.
- Spanggord, R. J., Vuyisich, M., and Beal, P. A. (2002). Identification of binding sites for both dsRBMs of PKR on kinase-activating and kinase-inhibiting RNA ligands. Biochemistry 41, 4511-4520.
- St Johnston, D., Beuchle, D., and Nusslein-Volhard, C. (1991). Staufen, a gene required to localize maternal RNAs in the Drosophila egg. Cell 66, 51-63.
- St Johnston, D., Brown, N. H., Gall, J. G., and Jantsch, M. (1992). A conserved double-stranded RNA-binding domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 10979-10983.
- St Johnston, D., Driever, W., Berleth, T., Richstein, S., and Nusslein-Volhard, C. (1989). Multiple steps in the localization of bicoid RNA to the anterior pole of the Drosophila oocyte. Development 107 Suppl, 13-19.
- Stefl, R., and Allain, F. H. (2005). A novel RNA pentaloop fold involved in targeting ADAR2. Rna 11, 592-597.
- Stefl, R., Skrisovska, L., and Allain, F. H. (2005a). RNA sequence- and shape-dependent recognition by proteins in the ribonucleoprotein particle. EMBO Rep 6, 33-38.
- Stefl, R., Skrisovska, L., Xu, M., Emeson, R. B., and Allain, F. H. (2005b). Resonance assignments of the double-stranded RNA-binding domains of adenosine deaminase acting on RNA 2 (ADAR2). J Biomol NMR 31, 71-72.

Stefl, R., Xu, M., Skrisovska, L., Emeson, R. B., and Allain, F. H. (2006). Structure

and Specific RNA Binding of ADAR2 Double-Stranded RNA Binding Motifs. Structure 14, 345-355.

- Stephens, O. M., Haudenschild, B. L., and Beal, P. A. (2004). The binding selectivity of ADAR2's dsRBMs contributes to RNA-editing selectivity. Chem Biol 11, 1239-1250.
- Stephens, O. M., Yi-Brunozzi, H. Y., and Beal, P. A. (2000). Analysis of the RNA-editing reaction of ADAR2 with structural and fluorescent analogues of the GluR-B R/G editing site. Biochemistry 39, 12243-12251.
- Strehblow, A., Hallegger, M., and Jantsch, M. F. (2002). Nucleocytoplasmic distribution of human RNA-editing enzyme ADAR1 is modulated by double-stranded RNA-binding domains, a leucine-rich export signal, and a putative dimerization domain. Mol Biol Cell 13, 3822-3835.
- Sun, W., Jun, E., and Nicholson, A. W. (2001). Intrinsic double-stranded-RNA processing activity of Escherichia coli ribonuclease III lacking the dsRNA-binding domain. Biochemistry 40, 14976-14984.
- Sun, W., and Nicholson, A. W. (2001). Mechanism of action of Escherichia coli ribonuclease III. Stringent chemical requirement for the glutamic acid 117 side chain and Mn2+ rescue of the Glu117Asp mutant. Biochemistry 40, 5102-5110.
- Suntharalingam, M., and Wente, S. R. (2003). Peering through the pore: nuclear pore complex structure, assembly, and function. Dev Cell 4, 775-789.
- Thomis, D. C., and Samuel, C. E. (1995). Mechanism of interferon action: characterization of the intermolecular autophosphorylation of PKR, the interferon-inducible, RNA-dependent protein kinase. J Virol 69, 5195-5198.
- Tian, B., Bevilacqua, P. C., Diegelman-Parente, A., and Mathews, M. B. (2004). The double-stranded-RNA-binding motif: interference and much more. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5, 1013-1023.
- Tian, B., and Mathews, M. B. (2001). Functional characterization of and cooperation between the double-stranded RNA-binding motifs of the protein kinase PKR. J Biol Chem 276, 9936-9944.
- Tonkin, L. A., and Bass, B. L. (2003). Mutations in RNAi rescue aberrant chemotaxis of ADAR mutants. Science 302, 1725.
- Tonkin, L. A., Saccomanno, L., Morse, D. P., Brodigan, T., Krause, M., and Bass, B. L. (2002). RNA editing by ADARs is important for normal behavior in Caenorhabditis elegans. Embo J 21, 6025-6035.

- Valdez, B. C., Perlaky, L., and Henning, D. (2002). Expression, cellular localization, and enzymatic activities of RNA helicase II/Gu(beta). Exp Cell Res 276, 249-263.
- van der Krol, A. R., Mur, L. A., Beld, M., Mol, J. N., and Stuitje, A. R. (1990). Flavonoid genes in petunia: addition of a limited number of gene copies may lead to a suppression of gene expression. Plant Cell 2, 291-299.
- Varani, G. (1997). A cap for all occasions. Structure 5, 855-858.
- Vattem, K. M., Staschke, K. A., Zhu, S., and Wek, R. C. (2001). Inhibitory sequences in the N-terminus of the double-stranded-RNA-dependent protein kinase, PKR, are important for regulating phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha (eIF2alpha). Eur J Biochem 268, 1143-1153.
- Verschure, P. J., van Der Kraan, I., Manders, E. M., and van Driel, R. (1999). Spatial relationship between transcription sites and chromosome territories. J Cell Biol 147, 13-24.
- Visomirski-Robic, L. M., and Gott, J. M. (1997). Insertional editing in isolated Physarum mitochondria is linked to RNA synthesis. Rna 3, 821-837.
- Vissel, B., Royle, G. A., Christie, B. R., Schiffer, H. H., Ghetti, A., Tritto, T., Perez-Otano, I., Radcliffe, R. A., Seamans, J., Sejnowski, T., et al. (2001). The role of RNA editing of kainate receptors in synaptic plasticity and seizures. Neuron 29, 217-227.
- Wagner, R. W., Smith, J. E., Cooperman, B. S., and Nishikura, K. (1989). A double-stranded RNA unwinding activity introduces structural alterations by means of adenosine to inosine conversions in mammalian cells and Xenopus eggs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86, 2647-2651.
- Wang, A. B., Liu, D. P., and Liang, C. C. (2003). Regulation of human apolipoprotein B gene expression at multiple levels. Exp Cell Res 290, 1-12.
- Wang, J., and Manley, J. L. (1997). Regulation of pre-mRNA splicing in metazoa. Curr Opin Genet Dev 7, 205-211.
- Wang, Q., Miyakoda, M., Yang, W., Khillan, J., Stachura, D. L., Weiss, M. J., and Nishikura, K. (2004). Stress-induced apoptosis associated with null mutation of ADAR1 RNA editing deaminase gene. J Biol Chem 279, 4952-4961.

- Warrens, A. N., Jones, M. D., and Lechler, R. I. (1997). Splicing by overlap extension by PCR using asymmetric amplification: an improved technique for the generation of hybrid proteins of immunological interest. Gene 186, 29-35.
- Wickham, L., Duchaine, T., Luo, M., Nabi, I. R., and DesGroseillers, L. (1999). Mammalian staufen is a double-stranded-RNA- and tubulin-binding protein which localizes to the rough endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell Biol 19, 2220-2230.
- Williams, B. R. (2001). Signal integration via PKR. Sci STKE 2001, RE2.
- Wisden, W., and Seeburg, P. H. (1993). Mammalian ionotropic glutamate receptors. Curr Opin Neurobiol 3, 291-298.
- Wong, J. M., Kusdra, L., and Collins, K. (2002). Subnuclear shuttling of human telomerase induced by transformation and DNA damage. Nat Cell Biol 4, 731-736.
- Wong, S. K., Parker, E. M., and Ross, E. M. (1990). Chimeric muscarinic cholinergic: beta-adrenergic receptors that activate Gs in response to muscarinic agonists. J Biol Chem 265, 6219-6224.
- Wong, S. K., Sato, S., and Lazinski, D. W. (2001). Substrate recognition by ADAR1 and ADAR2. Rna 7, 846-858.
- Wu, H., Henras, A., Chanfreau, G., and Feigon, J. (2004). Structural basis for recognition of the AGNN tetraloop RNA fold by the double-stranded RNA-binding domain of Rnt1p RNase III. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 8307-8312.
- Wu, H., Xu, H., Miraglia, L. J., and Crooke, S. T. (2000). Human RNase III is a 160-kDa protein involved in preribosomal RNA processing. J Biol Chem 275, 36957-36965.
- Wu, S., and Kaufman, R. J. (1997). A model for the double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)-dependent dimerization and activation of the dsRNA-activated protein kinase PKR. J Biol Chem 272, 1291-1296.
- Xu, H. P., Riggs, M., Rodgers, L., and Wigler, M. (1990). A gene from S. pombe with homology to E. coli RNAse III blocks conjugation and sporulation when overexpressed in wild type cells. Nucleic Acids Res 18, 5304.
- Yamanaka, S., Balestra, M. E., Ferrell, L. D., Fan, J., Arnold, K. S., Taylor, S., Taylor, J. M., and Innerarity, T. L. (1995). Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing protein induces hepatocellular carcinoma and dysplasia in transgenic

animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 8483-8487.

- Yamanaka, S., Poksay, K. S., Arnold, K. S., and Innerarity, T. L. (1997). A novel translational repressor mRNA is edited extensively in livers containing tumors caused by the transgene expression of the apoB mRNA-editing enzyme. Genes Dev 11, 321-333.
- Yang, W., Chendrimada, T. P., Wang, Q., Higuchi, M., Seeburg, P. H., Shiekhattar, R., and Nishikura, K. (2006). Modulation of microRNA processing and expression through RNA editing by ADAR deaminases. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13, 13-21.
- Yang, W., Wang, Q., Howell, K. L., Lee, J. T., Cho, D. S., Murray, J. M., and Nishikura, K. (2005). ADAR1 RNA deaminase limits short interfering RNA efficacy in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 280, 3946-3953.
- Yang, W., Wang, Q., Kanes, S. J., Murray, J. M., and Nishikura, K. (2004). Altered RNA editing of serotonin 5-HT2C receptor induced by interferon: implications for depression associated with cytokine therapy. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 124, 70-78.
- Yao, Z., and McLeod, R. S. (1994). Synthesis and secretion of hepatic apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1212, 152-166.
- Zhang, H., Kolb, F. A., Jaskiewicz, L., Westhof, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2004a). Single processing center models for human Dicer and bacterial RNase III. Cell 118, 57-68.
- Zhang, H., Saitoh, H., and Matunis, M. J. (2002). Enzymes of the SUMO modification pathway localize to filaments of the nuclear pore complex. Mol Cell Biol 22, 6498-6508.
- Zhang, S., Kohler, C., Hemmerich, P., and Grosse, F. (2004b). Nuclear DNA helicase II (RNA helicase A) binds to an F-actin containing shell that surrounds the nucleolus. Exp Cell Res 293, 248-258.
- Zhou, P., Lugovskoy, A. A., and Wagner, G. (2001). A solubility-enhancement tag (SET) for NMR studies of poorly behaving proteins. J Biomol NMR 20, 11-14.
- Zhou, Z., Licklider, L. J., Gygi, S. P., and Reed, R. (2002). Comprehensive proteomic analysis of the human spliceosome. Nature 419, 182-185.
- Zimmermann, T., Rietdorf, J., and Pepperkok, R. (2003). Spectral imaging and its applications in live cell microscopy. FEBS Lett 546, 87-92.